## INVESTIGATION OF A NOVEL PERSONAL SAMPLER MATERIAL FOR THE IDENTIFICATION OF HUMAN EXPOSURE TO SEMI-VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate School of Engineering and Science of İzmir Institute of Technology in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

**MASTER OF SCIENCE** 

in Environmental Engineering

by Zülfikar AKMERMER

> March 2024 İZMİR

We approve the thesis of Zülfikar AKMERMER

**Examining Committee Members:** 

**Dr. Altan ÖZKAN** Environmental Engineering, İzmir Institute of Technology

**Dr. Yetkin DUMANOĞLU** Environmental Engineering, Dokuz Eylül University

**Dr. Hale DEMİRTEPE** Environmental Engineering, İzmir Institute of Technology

4 March 2024

**Dr. Hale DEMİRTEPE** Supervisor, Environmental Engineering

İzmir Institute of Technology

**Prof. Dr. Sait C. SOFUOĞLU** Co-Supervisor, Environmental Engineering İzmir Institute of Technology

Prof. Dr. Sait C. SOFUOĞLU

Head of the Department of Environmental Engineering

#### **Prof. Dr. Mehtap EANES**

Dean of the Graduate School of Engineering and Sciences

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am profoundly grateful to my advisor, Dr. Hale DEMİRTEPE, whose unwavering guidance and support have been invaluable throughout this study. Her leadership has inspired me, guiding me through every challenge with wisdom and encouragement.

I sincerely thank my co-supervisors, Prof. Dr. Sait C. SOFUOĞLU, whose expertise and guidance have profoundly influenced my academic trajectory. Additionally, Prof. Dr. Aysun SOFUOĞLU's steadfast encouragement and confidence in my capabilities have supported my motivation. I would also like to thank the valuable contributions of my jury members, Dr. Yetkin Dumanoğlu and Dr. Altan Özkan, whose insightful feedback and expertise have enriched this work.

I am deeply appreciative of the contributions of Research Assistant Çağrı ŞAHİN and Mesut GENİŞOĞLU, whose dedication to their work and expertise in laboratory techniques have been invaluable to the success of this study. Their tireless efforts and commitment to excellence have greatly enriched my research experience.

Special gratitude goes to Nilüfer İlter and Zeynep Olten, undergraduate students, and Miray Kurtoğlu, graduate student from the Micropollutants Research Group, whose enthusiasm and dedication have been a constant source of inspiration. Their contributions have played a significant role in the progress of this project.

I am profoundly grateful to my family—my mother, father, sister, and beloved cats—for their unwavering love, support, and encouragement throughout my life. Their unwavering belief in me has been my guiding light, empowering me to overcome every obstacle and achieve my goals.

I extend my deepest thanks to my girlfriend, colleagues and friends who have generously offered their expertise and assistance, enriching my research journey with their insights and camaraderie.

This work was funded by the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Türkiye (TÜBİTAK, Grant No: 121Y337), and Izmir Institute of Technology Coordination of Scientific Research Projects (Grant No: 2022IYTE-1-0078).

## ABSTRACT

## INVESTIGATION OF A NOVEL PERSONAL SAMPLER MATERIAL FOR THE IDENTIFICATION OF HUMAN EXPOSURE TO SEMI-VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS

SVOCs are widespread indoors, where they occur at high levels. Humans spend most of their time indoors and are regularly exposed to these compounds. Various methods exist to assess human exposure to SVOCs. However, a novel personal sampler material, i.e. silicone wristband, has been used for the last decade. Due to its commencing use, the uptake capacity of silicone wristbands for SVOCs still needs to be discovered. This study aims to investigate the SVOC uptake rate and equilibrium partitioning coefficients of silicone wristbands. To achieve this aim, an analysis method for determining SVOCs in silicone wristbands was developed and validated with wristbands worn by academic personnel of IZTECH. The results showed that among polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) acenaphthylene, among organophosphate esters (OPEs), tris (2-butoxyethyl) phosphate and among phthalate esters, di(2ethylhexl) phthalate were found as the dominant SVOCs in silicone wristbands. Then, the uptake capacity of silicone wristbands for PAHs was investigated by deploying them in a school environment for 36 days, together with polyurethane foam passive air samplers. The uptake rates varied three orders of magnitude for compounds reaching equilibrium, i.e. acenaphthene, acenaphthylene, fluorene, phenanthrene, and anthracene  $(0.010 - 25.93 \text{ m}^3/\text{day})$ , while for fluoranthene, chrysene, and pyrene uptake rates were close to each other (0.17 - 0.50 m3/day). Furthermore, silicone wristband-air partitioning coefficients were in the range of 5.93 to 7.43 for acenaphthene, acenaphthylene, fluorene, phenanthrene, and anthracene. Lastly, daily and chronic toxic exposures and lifetime cancer risk for school children were assessed using PUF-PAS concentrations, and no significant risk was identified.

## ÖZET

# YARI-UÇUCU ORGANİK BİLEŞİKLERE MARUZİYETİN BELİRLENMESİNDE YENİ BİR KİŞİSEL ÖRNEKLEYİCİ MALZEMENİN ARAŞTIRILMASI

Yarı uçucu organik bileşikler (YUOB) çevrede geniş bir şekilde dağılmış olup, yüksek konsantrasyonlara rastlanmaktadır. özellikle iç mekanlarda İnsanlar zamanlarının çoğunu iç mekanlarda geçirdikleri için bir dizi YUOB'ye maruz kalırlar. İnsan maruziyetini değerlendirmek için çeşitli yöntemler kullanılabilir. Ancak, son on yıldır kullanılan yeni bir kişisel örnekleyici malzeme olan silikon bilekliklerin YUOB 'ler için alım kapasitesi henüz keşfedilmemiştir. Bu çalışmanın amacı, silikon bilekliklerin YUOB alım hızını ve denge dağılım katsayılarını araştırmaktır. Bu amaca ulaşmak için, silikon bilekliklerdeki YUOB'lerin belirlenmesine yönelik bir analiz yöntemi geliştirilmiş ve İYTE akademik personeli tarafından kullanılan bilekliklerle doğrulanmıştır. Sonuçlar, polisiklik aromatik hidrokarbonlar (PAH'lar) arasında asenaftilenin, organofosfat esterler (OPE'ler) arasında tris (2-butoksi etil) fosfatın ve ftalat esterler arasında di(2-etilhekzil) ftalatın silikon bilekliklerde baskın YUOB 'ler olarak bulunduğunu göstermiştir. Daha sonra, PAH'lar için silikon bilekliklerin alım kapasitesi, poliüretan köpük pasif hava örnekleyicileri ile birlikte 36 gün boyunca bir okul ortamında kullanılarak araştırılmıştır. Dengede olan bileşikler için alım hızları üç basamak olarak değişmiştir, yani asenafilen, asenaftilen, florin, fenanten ve antren (0.010 - 25.93 m<sup>3</sup>/gün), floranten, krisen ve piyren için alım hızları birbirine yakındı (0.17 - 0.50 m<sup>3</sup>/gün). Ayrıca, silikon bileklik-hava bölünme katsayıları asenafilen, asenaftilen, florin, fenanten ve antren için 5.93 ile 7.43 arasında değişmiştir. Son olarak, okul çocukları için günlük ve kronik toksik maruziyetler ile ömür boyu kanser riski, PUF-PAS konsantrasyonları kullanılarak değerlendirilmiş ve anlamlı bir risk tespit edilmemiştir.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF TABLES	xi
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1. Indoor Air Quality	4
2.2. Semi-Volatile Organic Compounds	5
2.2.1. Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons	6
2.2.2. Organophosphate Esters	
2.2.3. Phthalate Esters	
2.3. Non-Residential Buildings (School and Office Buildings)	16
2.4. Indoor Air Quality Sampling Methods	
2.4.1. Active Sampling Methods	
2.4.2. Passive Sampling Methods	
2.5. Personal Exposure Assessment Tools	
2.6. Silicone Wristbands	
2.7. Uptake Characteristics of Silicone Wristbands	45
2.8. Motivation and Objectives	
CHAPTER 3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.1. Reagents and Standards	
3.2. Sampling Sites	

	3.2.1. Office Environment and Personal Exposure Study	49
	3.2.2. School Environment and Uptake Rate Study	49
	3.3 Sample Preparation, Extraction and Clean-up	54
	3.3.1. Silicone Wristband Preparation	54
	3.3.2. Silicone Wristband Extraction and Clean-up	58
	3.3.3. PUF Extraction	61
	3.3.4. Glass fiber filter Extraction	62
	3.3.5. Amberlite adsorbent material (XAD) Extraction	63
	3.4. Instrumental Analysis	63
	3.5. Quality Assurance Quality Control	66
	3.6. Uptake Rate Calculation	69
	3.7. Exposure and Health Risk Assessment	72
	3.8. Statistical Analysis	75
CHAPTER	4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	76
	4.1. Method Development	76
	4.1.1. Precleaning Method	76
	4.1.2. Extraction Method	78
	4.2. Personal Exposure Study and SVOCs in Office Air	87
	4.2.1. The determination of PAH concentrations and identification of	
	potential PAH sources in the office environment	87
	4.2.2. The concentrations of OPE compounds in the office environment	
	and the identification of potential OPE sources	91
	4.2.3. The identification of potential PE sources and determination of	
	PE concentrations in the office environment	94
	4.2.4. The identification of potential PAH sources and determination of	
	PAH concentrations by using SWs as a novel passive sampler	97
	4.2.5. The determination of OPE concentrations and identification of	
	potential PE sources using SWs as a novel passive sampler	99
	4.2.6. The examination of possible PE sources and deduction of PE	
	concentrations using SWs as a novel passive sampler	01

4.3. PAHs in Primary School Classroom Air 1	02
4.4. Uptake Capacity of SW 1	10
4.5. Human Exposure Assessment 1	17
CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSION 1	20
REFERENCES	24

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	<b>Page</b>
Figure 2.1. The chemical structure of naphthalene (two ring), pyrene (four ring)	ng),
and benzo(a)pyrene (five ring)	7
Figure 2.2. The chemical structure of TEP (Alkyl OPE), TPhP (Aryl OPE), a	and TCEP
(Halogenated OPE)	
Figure 2.3. The general chemical structure of PE	
Figure 2.4. The active air sampling device and the analytical steps	
Figure 2.5. Detailed PUF disc as a passive sampler	
Figure 2.6. Air circulation in stainless steel bowls using PUF disc	
Figure 3.1. The location of the offices in the Faculty building	
Figure 3.2 The location of Nihat Gündüz primary school in İzmir	
Figure 3.3. The silicone wristband samples as a passive indoor air sampler	
Figure 3.4. Pre-cleaning with vacuum oven	
Figure 3.5. Pre-cleaning with Soxhlet system	
Figure 3.6. The uptake phases of chemicals in a passive sampler	
Figure 4.1. The chromatogram of the precleaning method with a vacuum over	en 77
Figure 4.2. The chromatogram of the precleaning method with horizontal sha	1 ker 77
Figure 4.3. The chromatogram of the precleaning method with Soxhlet	
Figure 4.4. The mean recovery efficiencies of PAH, OPE and PE compounds	s 81
Figure 4.5. The mean recovery efficiencies of PAH, OPE and PE compounds	s 85
Figure 4.6. The average recovery efficiencies of PAH, OPE and PE compour	nds
for SW LCS	
Figure 4.7. The comparison of concentration among PAH compounds in offi	ces 89
Figure 4.8. The comparison of office PAH concentrations with office facades	s 90
Figure 4.9. The comparison of the total PAH concentrations in offices with c	office
computers	
Figure 4.10. The comparison of concentration among OPE compounds in off	fices 92
Figure 4.11. The comparison of concentrations among PE compounds in offi	.ces 95
Figure 4.12. The variation in DNBP concentration regarding the number of e	electronic
devices	

<u>Figure</u> <u>Page</u>
Figure 4.13. The comparison of PAH concentrations in gender with SW as a personal
sampler
Figure 4.14. The PAH concentrations for each sampling campaigns using SW106
Figure 4.15. The PAH concentrations for each sampling campaigns using PUF
Figure 4.16. The PAH concentrations for each sampling campaigns with ventilation
type using SW107
Figure 4.17. The sum of PAH concentrations for each classroom using SW and PUF
at three average sampling campaigns' outdoor temperatures 108
Figure 4.18. The uptake profile for 5 PAHs compounds, which reached equilibrium
with used non-linear model112
Figure 4.19. The uptake profile for 3 PAHs compounds, which did not reach
equilibrium with used linear model112

## LIST OF TABLES

Table     Page
Table 2.1. The physicochemical properties of PAHs    9
Table 2.2. The physicochemical properties of OPEs    12
Table 2.3. The physicochemical properties of PEs    15
Table 2.4. PAH concentrations were identified by using SWs in the world 27
Table 2.5. PAH concentrations were identified by using SWs in the world 32
Table 2.6. OPE concentrations were identified by using SWs in the world
Table 2.7. OPE concentrations were identified by using SWs in the world
Table 2.8. PE concentrations were identified by using SWs in the world 46
Table 3.1. The factors of participants' daily activities during the study
Table 3.2. Specific information about participants characteristics    51
Table 3.3. Some of precleaning method in the literature    54
Table 3.4. Some of the commonly used extraction methods in the literature
Table 3.5. The list of SVOCs for GC-MS analysis and their corresponding ion (m/z)
and retention time values
Table 3.6. The instrumental detection limit (IDL) and the limit of quantification
(LOQ) values for PAH, OPE, and PE compounds
Table 3.7. Exposure parameters and factors used to estimation of exposure,
chronic toxic effect, and incremental lifetime cancer risk assessment73
Table 3.8. Toxic equivalency factors for PAHs
Table 4.1. The recovery efficiencies of PAH compounds to determine extraction
methods by used SW LCS 80
Table 4.2. The recovery efficiencies of OPE compounds to determine extraction
methods by used SW LCS 80
Table 4.3. The recovery efficiencies of PE compounds to determine extraction methods
by used SW LCS81
Table 4.4. The recovery efficiencies of PAH compounds to determine purification
methods
Table 4.5. The recovery efficiencies of OPE compounds to determine purification
methods
Table 4.6. The recovery efficiencies of PE compounds to determine purification
methods

<u>Table</u> <u>Page</u>
Table 4.7. The mean recovery efficiencies of PAH compounds for SW LCS
Table 4.8. The average recovery efficiencies of OPE and PE compounds for
SW LCS
Table 4.9. The PAH concentrations in the office environment by using SWs         88
Table 4.10. The OPE concentrations in the office environment by using SWs       91
Table 4.11. The concentrations of PE compounds in office environment in SWs
Table 4.12. The descriptive statistics PAH concentrations with SW
as a personal sampler
Table 4.13. The descriptive statistics OPE concentration with SW
as a personal sampler
Table 4.14. The descriptive statistics PE concentrations with SW
as a personal sampler
Table 4.15. The PAH concentrations for each sampling campaigns using SW 104
Table 4.16. The PAH concentrations for each sampling campaigns using PUF
Table 4.17. The PAH concentrations in the school environment
Table 4.18. The three different cases were corresponding equations and parameters 109
Table 4.19. The sum of PAH concentrations at each classroom using SW and PUF 110
Table 4.20. The comparison of $C\infty$ (Cinf), ku, sampling rate and Ksa value in the
literature by the used non-linear model
Table 4.21. The comparison of C0 (Cint), k, sampling rate and Ksa value in the
literature by the used linear model
Table 4.22. The comparison of C0 (Cint), k, sampling rate and Ksa value in the
literature by the used linear model
Table 4.23. PAHs concentrations in primary school classrooms for three scenario 118
Table 4.24. BaP equivalence and daily exposure for each scenario       118
Table 4.25. Chronic toxic exposure and lifetime cancer risk for each scenario

## **CHAPTER 1**

## INTRODUCTION

Synthetic chemicals are widely used in daily products and released to the environment due to human activities. Humans, in a continuous and dynamic interaction with the environment, are exposed to these chemicals. In order to assess human exposure to chemicals, researchers have analyzed samples collected from various environmental media, such as air, water, and soil and estimated the daily dose that human body may intake via main exposure routes, i.e. inhalation, ingestion and dermal contact. Among the various environmental media humans interact with, indoor environments become the most significant source of exposure to chemicals since people spend more than 90% of their time indoors. Indoor air can be considered a mixture of synthetic chemicals that are released from building materials, furniture, electronic equipment, and due to activities like cooking, smoking, cleaning and heating (Lucattini et al., 2018). Hence, monitoring indoor air quality is essential to understand chemical exposure of humans.

To assess life-long environmental exposures and human health effects of chemicals in an integrated approach, personal samplers capable of producing timeintegrated environmental data became prominent. Researchers focused on the analysis of biological samples such as blood (Bramwell et al., 2017), human milk and urine (Castorina et al., 2017), enabling them to comprehend chemical exposure on a personal basis. By this way, human health effects of the chemicals and personal exposure can be assessed consecutively. However, biological samples are difficult to analyze due to the lipids and proteins in the matrix, making it even harder to detect low concentrations of the chemicals present in the samples (Mayeux, 2004). Additionally, collecting biological samples includes an intervention to the human body, hence the participants of such studies can hesitate to get included. For this reason, studies can utilize personal sampling equipment, generally in the form of an active sampler in a backpack. The drawback of this sampling equipment is the need for energy for the pump system which brings a physical burden to the participant and an economic burden to the study (Bohlin et al., 2007).

Silicone wristbands have been used for the last decade as personal passive samplers and shown to be effective to capture an individual's inhalation and dermal exposure (O'Connell et al., 2014; Anderson et al., 2017). It has been shown that silicone wristbands absorb organic compounds with a wide range of octanol-air partitioning coefficients (Anderson et al., 2017), and the concentrations observed in the wristbands correlated well with the biological samples taken from the same person (Hammel et al., 2016; 2018; 2020; Dixon et al., 2018; Nguyen et al., 2020). The studies so far have focused on semi-volatile organic compound (SVOC) exposure of general or vulnerable populations, and occupational exposure assessment using silicone wristbands (O'Connell et al., 2014; Hammel et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020). However, the uptake characteristics of silicone wristbands including the achievement of equilibrium concentrations with air remained unresolved. A few studies identified the uptake rate of silicone materials not in the wristband form (Sedlackova et al., 2023), and some others investigated the silicone wristbands in specially designed chambers (Tromp et al., 2019). Up to now, there is only one study in which a real indoor environment was used to assess the uptake capacity of silicone wristbands for polychlorinated biphenyls (Frederiksen et al., 2022).

In this context, the aim of this study was to investigate SVOC uptake characteristics of silicone wristbands in a real indoor environment setting. To achieve this aim, sample preparation methods for the quantification of SVOCs in silicone wristbands need to be developed and validated. Hence, a cost-effective and time-efficient analysis method has been developed using laboratory control samples. Method validation was then performed using deployed silicone wristband samples. A personal exposure study using silicone wristbands was conducted with academic personnel of Izmir Institute of Technology living in İzmir, Türkiye, for the first time in the literature. Additionally, silicone wristbands were tested as indoor air samplers in the offices of the participants. For the uptake capacity study, primary school classrooms have been selected as the indoor environment. Indoor air samples were collected using silicone wristbands were performed using conventional air sampling methods. Sampling was conducted in classrooms with different ventilation types at varying outdoor temperatures, revealing

the potential effects of these variables on SVOC concentrations. Further, a risk assessment for primary school children was conducted for the target SVOCs.

Detailed information on the indoor air pollutants and passive samplers used to detect these pollutants are given in Chapter 2, the materials and methods used in this study are presented in Chapter 3, the results of the study are reported and discussed in Chapter 4 and a conclusion is made in Chapter 5.

## **CHAPTER 2**

## LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1. Indoor Air Quality

Indoor air quality (IAQ) is the air quality within and around buildings and structures. People mostly spend more than 90% of their time in indoor environments. Therefore, indoor air quality plays a significant role in public health and comfort (US EPA, 2015; US EPA, 2014a). Understanding and controlling indoor air pollutants can help reduce health concerns. Thus, IAQ is related to unique public health and policy issues, regarding hazardous substances such as inorganic compounds and organic contaminants classified with their boiling point range as very volatile (VVOCs), volatile (VVCs), semivolatile (SVOCs) and particulate (POMs) organic compounds.

Inorganic elements like asbestos, radon, and lead represent prominent indoor pollutants. Despite their distinct characteristics, these substances share a mineral or inorganic composition. Exposure to these contaminants may present notable health hazards. For instance, lead is a cause for apprehension due to its prevalence as a surface contaminant within indoor environments. Elevated blood lead levels in children under six often result from contact with lead-contaminated building dust, highlighting the significance of this concern (Godish, 2001). Organic chemical substances known as volatile organic compounds, VOCs, are those whose composition enables them to evaporate under ordinary indoor air conditions of temperature and pressure. This expression for indoor air quality and the standard definition of VOCs used in the scientific literature are synonymous. It is more likely that a chemical will be released into the atmosphere from a product or surface with greater volatility (lower boiling point) (US EPA, 2023). Concerning indoor air quality, primary contributors of VOCs comprise outdoor air, environmental tobacco smoke (ETS), fuel combustion, building materials, furnishings, furniture, carpet adhesives, paints,

solvents, cleaning agents, air fresheners, and cosmetics (Jurvelin, 2003). It is crucial to emphasize that concentrations of VOCs typically present in residential indoor or ambient air are significantly lower than levels, causing immediate health issues in humans. Nevertheless, there have been documented instances of a heightened occurrence of minor yet discomforting diseases, including coughing, sore throat, runny nose, and headaches, particularly in well-regulated indoor settings such as office buildings (Jurvelin, 2003).

SVOCs are synthetic chemicals produced for specific purposes. They are utilized as additives in materials, including floor coverings, furniture, and electronic components, as well as active substances in insecticides, cleaning and personal care products. The common SVOCs in indoor environment are flame retardants (FRs), plasticizers e.g. phthalates (PEs), organophosphate flame retardants (OPFRs), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), pesticides, combustion by-products such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) (Lucattini et al., 2018). SVOCs' presence in an indoor environment gradually causes long-term exposure, affecting human health negatively. According to studies by Yilmaz et al. (2019), Weschler and Nazaroff (2008), Kabir et al. (2015), Giulivo et al. (2016), and Hendryx et al. (2019), polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs), PAHs, per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS), pesticides, PEs, and FRs are all associated with health effects regarding hormonal disruption, adverse reproductive and developmental effects, respiratory symptoms, cardiovascular disease, skin conditions, kidney and liver damage, and diabetes.

#### 2.2. Semi-Volatile Organic Compounds

SVOCs are classified as indoor organic pollutants by the World Health Organization (WHO) and have boiling points between 240 - 260 and 380 - 400 °C (US EPA, 2023). SVOCs enter indoor environment through various mechanisms, including intentional application, such as pesticides; inadvertent generation, as seen with PAHs; and release from products like FRs and plasticizers (Demirtepe et al., 2020). Gaseous chemicals might be associated with particles, leading to their deposition as dust layers on indoor surfaces (Weschler and Nazaroff 2008). As they are released from consumer products, they can persist in indoor environments through decades due to their slow release rate from sources and tendency to partition into sorbed forms (Weschler and Nazaroff 2008). The most common SVOCs in indoor environments occur as PAHs, PCBs, PBDEs, OPFRs, PEs, pesticides, and synthetic musks.

### 2.2.1 Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons

PAHs constitute a subgroup within a category of compounds called polycyclic organic matter (POM), and these compounds are primarily generated through the incomplete combustion of organic materials like coal and wood (US EPA, 2007). Certain PAH compounds have been identified as potential human carcinogens (ATSDR 1995). They are solids that might be colourless, white, or pale yellow-green in their fundamental form (US EPA, 2008). Both anthropogenic activities and natural processes can produce them (Kameda et al., 2005). Human activities such as tobacco smoke, cooking, domestic heating, wood-burning, decorative candle and incense burning have an impact on PAH levels indoors (Kavouras et al., 1998; Castro et al., 2011;Gustafson et al., 2008; Orecchio, 2011). In contrast, PAHs can be transported outdoors to indoors by outdoor anthropogenic activities (e.g. traffic and industrial activities) and natural sources (e.g. volcano eruption, forest fires) (Bayona et al., 1994; Tsapakis and Stephanou 2005; Mantis et al., 2005).

PAHs contain two or more fused benzenoid rings (i.e., benzene-like) that have at least one carbon-carbon bond. figure 2.1 represents some of the chemical structures of PAHs, i.e. naphthalene, pyrene, and benzo(a)pyrene, respectively.



Figure 2.1. The chemical structure of naphthalene (two ring), pyrene (four ring), and benzo(a)pyrene (five ring) (Source: CompTox Chemicals Dashboard from US EPA)

Due to the fusion of benzene rings, nearly a thousand PAH compound is possible. In order to have a reasonable number of PAH compounds to investigate and monitor, US EPA published a list of sixteen priority PAH compounds, and it has been embraced by many scientists to investigate these compounds by utilising existing analytical techniques. Three PAHs were included in the initial "list of 65 toxic pollutants": acenaphthene, naphthalene, and fluoranthene (Keith, 2014). Additionally, there were six PAHs with unidentified isomers, including benzanthracenes, benzopyrenes, benzofluoranthenes, chrysenes, dibenzanthracenes, and indenopyrenes (Keith. 2014). Benz(a)anthracene, benzo(a)pyrene, benzo(b)fluoranthene, benzo(k)fluoranthene, chrysene, dibenzo (a,h)anthracene, and indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene were the seven PAHs chosen since an analytical standard was available and no alkylsubstituted isomers were chosen (Keith, 2014). Benzo(ghi)perylene is typical of a 6membered ring PAH, and pyrene is a common PAH obtained from coal tar, is produced under a wide range of combustion conditions, and is used as a chemical intermediate for dyes, etc (Keith, 2014). Anthracene was chosen because it is a common PAH obtained from coal tar and is frequently used as a chemical intermediate for dyes and other fine chemicals (Keith, 2014).

PAHs were commonly grouped according to their molecular weights. The lower molecular weight PAH compounds have less than four rings, and the higher molecular weight PAH compounds have four and more than four rings. Moreover, each of the PAH compounds has unique and different physical-chemical properties due to their chemical structure. The physical and chemical properties of 16 PAH compounds are given in Table 2.1, which includes the chemical formula, average molecular weight, Henry's Law constant, boiling point, octanol-air partitioning coefficient (LogKoa), octanol-water partitioning coefficient (LogKow), and vapour pressure.

$\widehat{\mathbf{\omega}}$
2
20
A
E.
щ
$\mathbf{S}$
$\mathbf{i}$
В
ō
Ψ
q
ar
Õ
-p
S
õ
Π
ıls
Ca
E.
en
ų
$\circ$
X
2
<b>E</b>
Ē
õ
Ũ
S
Ĥ
б
$\mathbf{S}$
Š
H
$\mathbf{A}$
Ъ
F
0
es
Ę.
er
đ
rc
d
al
ic.
E
ē
сh
õ
<u>.</u>
ys
Ę.
q
Je
Ē
٠.
.1
0
le
p
ű
_

	Chemical Formula	Average Molecular Weight (g/mol)			Experi	imental Av	erage	
			Henry's Law (atm- m3/mole)	Melting Point (°C)	Boiling Point (°C)	${ m LogK_{oa}}$	${f LogK_{0w}}$	Vapor Pressure (mmHg)
C <sub>12</sub> H <sub>10</sub>		154.21	1.84E-04	93.9	279	6.31	3.92	2.15E-03
C <sub>12</sub> H <sub>8</sub>		152.20	1.14E-04	06	280	I	3.94	6.68E-03
C <sub>22</sub> H <sub>12</sub>		276.34	3.31E-07	277	500	I	6.63	1.00E-10
$C_{22}H_{14}$		278.35	-	268	524	-	6.63	9.55E-10
C <sub>22</sub> H <sub>12</sub>		276.34	3.48E-07	164	536	I	I	
$C_{13}H_{10}$		166.22	9.62E-05	115	295	6.79	4.18	6.00E-04
$C_{14}H_{10}$		178.23	4.23E-05	99.2	339	7.57	4.46	1.21E-04
$C_{14}H_{10}$ 1	1	78.23	5.56E-05	215	340	7.55	4.45	6.53E-06
C <sub>16</sub> H <sub>10</sub> 2	2	02.26	8.86E-06	108	380	88.8	5.16	9.22E-06
C <sub>16</sub> H <sub>10</sub>		202.26	1.19E-05	150	399	8.8	4.88	4.50E-06
C <sub>18</sub> H <sub>12</sub> 2	2	28.29	1.20E-05	159	437	I	5.6	2.10E-07
C <sub>18</sub> H <sub>12</sub>		228.29	5.23E-06	255	448	I	5.81	6.23E-09
C <sub>20</sub> H <sub>12</sub>		252.32	6.57E-07	166	I	I	5.78	5.00E-07
C <sub>20</sub> H <sub>12</sub>		252.32	5.84E-07	217	480	I	6.11	9.65E-10
C <sub>20</sub> H <sub>12</sub>		252.32	4.57E-07	177	495	ı	6.13	5.49E-09
$C_{10}H_8$		128.17	4.40E-04	80.3	218	5.19	3.3	8.50E-02

People are generally exposed to PAHs in indoor and outdoor air by inhalation, and dermal contact. Furthermore, the sources of exposure to PAHs are smoking tobacco products, drinking and consuming food grown in contaminated soil and water, or consuming grilled meat or other kinds of foods (US EPA, 2023). PAH levels can accumulate in human tissues like the ovaries, spleen, kidney, liver and fat (Moon et al., 2012), and long-term exposure to them can have adverse health effects. The possible effects on human health include reproductive, immune system and developmental disorders (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR), 1995). As studied by Kim et al. (2013), these effects can cause kidney damage, skin, lung, gastrointestinal tract cancers, and eye and skin irritation. According to epidemiological research, there is a high correlation between PAH exposure levels and adverse effects on the respiratory and cardiovascular systems, such as reduced lung function, asthma, heart attack, skin and prostate cancer, and all-cause mortality (Bostrom et al., 2002). Children's inhalation rates are higher than adults because of their size, physiology, and level of activity, and they also inhale more oxygen and have higher resting metabolic rates per unit of body weight (Salvi, 2007).

### 2.2.2 Organophosphate Esters

OPEs are organic esters of phosphoric acid that contain either alkyl chains or aryl groups, and also they may be halogenated or nonhalogenated. Organophosphate ester flame retardants were used more frequently as alternative to restricted PBDEs, and the class of organohalogen flame retardants (flame retardants containing carbon and halogen elements, most frequently bromine or chlorine) are being phased out as a result of regulatory action and manufacturers' voluntary actions (Blum et al., 2019). Between 1995 and 2001, the world's consumption of OPEs grew from 108,000 to 186,000 tonnes (Van der Veen and De Boer, 2012). BCC Research (2022) reported that the worldwide utilization of flame retardant chemicals that contained phosphorus in 2021 reached an approximate volume of 1.6 billion pounds. Anticipated figures suggested an increase to nearly 1.7 billion pounds in 2022 and a further surge to surpass 2 billion by 2027. This trajectory signifies a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 3.7% from 2022 to

2027. Hence, their presence in the consumer products and occurrence in the environment is anticipated to continue in the following decades.

OPEs can be categorised into three groups based on their substituents: halogenated, alkyl, and aryl OPEs (Mingshan Dou & Lijun Wang, 2023). Alkyl chains can be linear or branched and are formed by carbon and hydrogen atoms. Aryl groups are formed of aromatic ring structures, identified by a stable and planar structure of carbon atoms connected with alternating single and double bonds. Alkyl and aryl groups' physical characteristics, such as solubility and volatility, as well as their compatibility with various materials, can impact the chemical structure of OPEs. Halogen-based flame retardants function in the gas phase by radical quenching, which involves breaking the radical chain mechanism that causes the flame during combustion (European Chemical Agency (ECHA), 2023).

Halogens like bromine (Br) or chlorine (Cl) are combined into the molecules of halogenated OPEs. Flame retardants that contain bromine and chlorine are the most effective (ECHA, 2023). Figure 2.2 represents some of the chemical structures of alkyl, aryl and halogenated OPEs: Triethyl phosphate (TEP), Triphenyl phosphate (TPhP), and Tris(2-chloroethyl phosphate) (TCEP), respectively. Moreover, the physicochemical properties of common OPE compounds are given in Table 2.2, which includes the chemical formula, average molecular weight, Henry's Law, boiling point, LogKoa, LogKow, and vapour pressure.



Figure 2.2. The chemical structure of TEP (Alkyl OPE), TPhP (Aryl OPE), and TCEP (Halogenated OPE) (Source: CompTox Chemicals Dashboard from US EPA)

Pressure Vapor (mmHg) 6.28E-06 8.25E-08 6.13E-02 5.00E-05 1.13E-03 0.393 ī .  $LogK_{ow}$ **Experimental Average** 4.59 2.59 3.75 5.73 1.44 3.65 0.84 ī  ${
m LogK}_{
m oa}$ ī ı. ī ı ī ī i ī ī Boiling Point (°C) 216 215 289 375 236 330 ı ī ī Melting Point () 0 -79.6 -56.2 50.1-72.7 -45 -40 -70 -54 27 Henry's Law m3/mole) 5.42E-05 3.60E-08 (atmī ī ī ı ī ı i Average Molecular Weight (g/mol) 434.642 326.288 327.56 398.477 182.156 285.48 362.406 266.318 430.89 Chemical Formula C9H15C16O4P  $C_6H_{12}Cl_3O_4P$ C9H18Cl3O4P  $C_{18}H_{15}O_{4}P$ C18H39O7P  $C_{20}H_{27}O_4P$  $C_{12}H_{27}O_4P$ C24H51O4P C6H15O4P Abbreviation EHDPP TDCPP TNBP TEHP TPHP TBEP TCEP TCPP TEP 2-ethylhexyl diphenyl phosphate ri(n-butyl) phosphate isopropyl) phosphate Triphenyl Phosphate Tris(1,3-dichloro-2-propyl) phosphate Tris(2-butoxyethyl) phosphate Tris(2-chloroethyl) Triethyl phosphate Tris(2-ethylhexyl) Compound Name Tris(2-chloro phosphate phosphate 13674-84-5 3674-87-8 1241-94-7 Number 115-86-6 126-73-8 115-96-8 78-51-3 78-42-2 78-40-0 CAS

OPEs typically used extensively as plasticisers and flame retardants (Levasseur et al., 2022). For instance, TPHP can be found in various commercial flame retardant mixtures used in furniture. Nevertheless, it has also been used in personal care products (as well as nail polish), industrial electronic equipment as a plasticiser, in products made of artificial leather, in varnishes, and as a phthalate substitute (Stapleton et al., 2012a; Stapleton et al., 2012b; Bergh et al., 2011; Marklund et al., 2005). Additionally, EHDPP and TCEP have been linked with food packaging and insulation materials, respectively (Li et al., 2019). As additive FRs, OPEs are not chemically bonded to the products, and they can easily be released into the environment through volatilisation, dissolution, leaching, and abrasion during the production and consumption of consumer and commercial products (van der Veen and de Boer, 2012). As a result, they are frequently observed in typical sources of human exposure (Blum et al., 2019).

OPEs can negatively impact human health by entering human bodies through ingestion, inhalation, and skin contact (M. Dou and L. Wang, 2023). Chlorinated-OPEs (Cl-OPEs) such as TCEP, TCPP, and TDCPP have shown carcinogenic properties, and they may build up in livers and testis, thereby inducing tumours (Hou et al., 2016; Van der Veen and De Boer, 2012). TPhP, TnBP, and TCEP have all been linked to neurotoxic effects (Wei et al., 2015), and TPhP has also been associated with skin allergies and effects on fertility.

#### 2.2.3 Phthalate Esters

A class of industrial compounds known as phthalates are 1,2-benzene dicarboxylic acid dialkyl or alkyl aryl esters. Pure phthalates are often transparent liquids with lightly pleasant odours and lightly yellow hues (ATSDR, 2002, 1997, 1995; NTP-CERHR 2007). The general structure of phthalate esters (dialkyl ortho-phthalates) is shown in Figure 2.3. R, R' groups can be cyclic rings, linear, branched, or linear/branched substituents (US EPA, 2012). The isomeric forms of phthalic acid are classified as ortho, meta, and para, depending on how the carboxylic acids connect (Kumari and Pulimi, 2023). Nevertheless, the ortho form of benzene dicarboxylic acid, which is produced when a particular alcohol combines with phthalic

acid to make the ideal ester, is primarily utilised as a plasticiser and accounts for a significant amount of all phthalate esters produced globally (Kumari and Pulimi, 2023). According to Seyoum and Pradhan (2019), there were 6 to 8 million tonnes of PEs produced annually to use by various industrial enterprises.



Figure 2.3 The general chemical structure of PE (Source: PEs from US EPA)

The most commonly utilised PEs in consumer products are dimethyl phthalate (DMP), diethyl phthalate (DEP), di-isobutyl phthalate (DiBP), di-n-butyl phthalate (DnBP), benzyl butyl phthalate (BBP), di-cyclohexyl phthalate (DcHP), di-n-hexyl phthalate (DnHP), bis (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP), di-n-octyl phthalate (DnOP) and di-isononyl phthalate (DiNP) (Wang Y. et al., 2019; Dutta et al., 2020). The physicochemical properties of common PE compounds are given in Table 2.3, which includes the chemical formula, average molecular weight, Henry's Law, boiling point, LogKoa, LogKow and vapour pressure.

Table 2.3. The physicochemical properties of PEs (Source: CompTox Chemicals Dashboard from US EPA, 2023)

CAS Number	Compound Name	Abbreviation	Chemical Formula	Average Molecular Weight (g/mol)			Г	Txperimer	ıtal Avera	ge
					Henry's Law (atm- m3/mole)	Melting Point (°C)	Boiling Point (°C)	${\rm LogK_{oa}}$	LogKow	Vapor Pressure (mmHg)
117-84-0	di-n-octyl phthalate	DnOP	$C_{24}H_{38}O_{4}$	390.564	ı	-25.7	381	ı	8.1	1.00E-07
84-74-2	Di-n-butyl phthalate	DnBP	C <sub>16</sub> H <sub>32</sub> O <sub>4</sub>	278.348	1.81E-06	-35	340	ı	ı	2.01E-05
84-66-2	Diethyl phthalate	DEP	$C_{16}H_{14}O_{4}$	222.24	ı	-39.9	296	ı	2.45	2.10E-03
85-68-7	Benzyl butyl phthalate	BBP	$C_{19}H_{20}O_4$	312.365		230	370	ı	4.82	8.25E-06
605-54-9	Bis(2-ethoxyethyl) phthalate	DEEP	C <sub>16</sub> H <sub>22</sub> O <sub>6</sub>	310.346	ı	34	345	ı	ı	ı
117-81-7	Di-2-Ethylhexyl Phthalate	DEHP	C <sub>24</sub> H <sub>38</sub> O <sub>4</sub>	390.564	ı	-53.3	308	ı	7.53	1.42E-07
84-61-7	Di-cyclohexyl phthalate	DcHP	$C_{20}H_{26}O_4$	330.424	ı	65	ı		-	8.69E-07
84-75-3	Di-n-hexyl phthalate	DnHP	$C_{20}H_{30}O_4$	334.456		-58	186	ı	6.82	1.40E-05
84-69-5	Diisobutyl phthalate	DiBP	C <sub>16</sub> H <sub>22</sub> O <sub>4</sub>	278.348		-64	317	ı	4.11	ı
131-11-3	Dimethyl phthalate	DMP	$C_{10}H_{10}O_4$	194.186		4.44	284	ı	1.58	3.08E-03
117-82-8	Bis(2- methoxyethyl)phthalate	DMEP	$C_{14}H_{18}O_{6}$	282.292	ı	-45	340	ı	ı	ı
131-18-0	Dipentyl phthalate	DPP	C <sub>18</sub> H <sub>26</sub> O <sub>4</sub>	306.402		-55	342	ı	5.62	ı
84-76-4	Dinonyl phthalate	DNP	C <sub>26</sub> H <sub>42</sub> O <sub>4</sub>	418.618	ı	I	ı	1	ı	ı
84-62-8	Diphenyl phthalate	DPP	$C_{20}H_{14}O_{4}$	318.328		74.2	403	ı	ı	ı
117-83-9	Bis(2-butoxyethyl) phthalate	DBEP	$C_{20}H_{30}O_{6}$	366.454	ı	-55	ı	ı	ı	ı

High molecular weight phthalates, such as DEHP, DiNP, and DnOP, are mainly used as plasticisers in producing flexible vinyl, used in consumer goods, flooring and wall coverings, food contact applications, and medical products (ATSDR, 1997; 2002; David et al., 2001). Producers incorporate low-molecular-weight PEs, such as DEP and DnBP, into personal-care items (e.g., perfumes, lotions, cosmetics) for their solvent and plasticizer properties in cellulose acetate. Additionally, these PEs are utilized in producing lacquers, varnishes, and coatings, and they are also utilized in medications to be released gradually over a specific period (ATSDR, 1995, 2001; David et al., 2001).

PEs negatively impact human health since they have been frequently used in various consumer goods and personal care items. Breast milk, regular cow's milk, infant formula, meals packaged in plastic (NTP-CERHR, 2007; Bosnir et al., 2003; Steiner et al., 1998; Wilkinson et al., 1999), toys made of plastic (Steiner et al., 1998; Wilkinson et al., 1999), toys made of plastic (Steiner et al., 1998; Wilkinson et al., 1999), toys made of plastic (Steiner et al., 1998; Wilkinson et al., 1999), toys made of plastic (Steiner et al., 1998; Wilkinson et al., 1999), toys made of plastic (Steiner et al., 1998; Wilkinson et al., 1999), toys made of plastic (Steiner et al., 1998; Wilkinson et al., 1999), toys made of plastic (Steiner et al., 1998; Wilkinson et al., 1999), toys made of plastic (Steiner et al., 2003), indoor air (Shea, 2003) are all potential exposure sources for kids.

The precise origins and routes of significant phthalate exposure remain unclear due to the widespread use of PEs. Nevertheless, it is possible to assess exposure through four primary pathways: ingestion, parenteral exposure, dermal contact, and inhalation. Even at low doses, PE contamination interacts with various human physiological systems and may exhibit teratogenic, mutagenic, or carcinogenic effects (Gao & Wen 2016).

### 2.3. Non-Residential Buildings (School and Office Buildings)

Residences, non-residential structures, and other indoor spaces constitute unique characteristics related to IAQ. The building purposes and populations serviced, access and ownership status, building types and construction aspects, building operation and maintenance, occupant density and activities are the components which make up the characteristics of non-residential structures (Godish, 2001). Non-residential structures include private and public spaces, such as buildings used for education, work, healthcare, incarceration, places of worship, and entertainment (Godish, 2001). Hence, IAQ in these spaces relates to various public health concerns, and policy issues.

Workplace buildings significantly impact the indoor exposure of employees (Young et al., 2021). It is commonly known that indoor environmental quality (IEQ) significantly impacts occupants' conditions and is a vital component that may impact health and well-being (Bluyssen et al., 2011). Office workers have reported occupational health complaints, often linked to symptoms of sick building syndrome (SBS) (Burge, 2004). The definition of "sick building syndrome" (SBS) refers to situations in which building occupants suffer from acute health and comfort adverse effects that seem to be associated with time spent in a building; otherwise, no particular diseases or causes can be determined (US EPA, 1991). The prevalence of SBS may vary depending on factors related to the building, such as high indoor temperatures and light intensity, low ventilation of fresh air, higher-than-expected levels of air pollutants, and inadequate cleaning (Burge, 2004).

According to American Society of Heating and Air-Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE) (2019), IAQ is defined as adequate if most occupants lack the expression of discomfort and no potentially hazardous amounts of chemical or biological contaminants are present. Indoor pollutant sources in office buildings are electronic devices, construction materials and furnishings, occupant activity, and cleaning agents. According to Lucattini et al. (2018) and Mitro et al. (2016), many endocrine-disrupting SVOCs comprise undisclosed constituents that easily release out of materials, thereby exposing occupants through inhalation, accidental dust ingestion and skin absorption.

Education is essential to developing a child's social ability, with children staying in school for extended periods (Oliveira et al., 2019). Primary schools serve children of ages 6 to 14 for approximately five to eight hours per day, thus being the second-most frequent indoor environment after homes (Sofuoglu et al., 2011). This situation indicates how essential schools are regarding exposure's time-based factor (Sofuoglu et al., 2011). Numerous factors, including the use of high-emitting building materials and furnishings, minimal landscaping with poor drainage, HVAC (heating, ventilation, and air conditioning) units, lack of preventative maintenance, crowded conditions, and cleaning products that release chemicals into the air, can be correlated to indoor pollution seen in school buildings (Godwin and Batterman, 2007). Due to the unique characteristics of every school environment, the amount of indoor and outdoor pollutants affects each individual's exposure (Stranger et al., 2007). As stated by Blondeau et al. (2005), other variables that affect the concentration of pollutants are the age and location of school buildings, pollutants that are transported indoors from outdoors, chemical reactions that occur in indoor air, and heterogeneous processes that occur at the air-solid interfaces. Several studies have linked indoor air pollution to both short- and long-term health problems for students as well as educators in terms of comfort, productivity, and academic performance (Daisey et al., 2003; Shendell et al., 2004; Dijken et al., 2005; Mendell and Health, 2005; Shaughnessy et al., 2006). Compared to adults, children inhale more air (Bennett et al., 2008). Children's lungs may be exposed to higher amounts of air pollutants due to differences in inhalation routes (nasal versus oral) and the nose's ability to filter aerosols (Bennett et al., 2008). Due to their more curious and physically active personalities, which include crawling on the ground, children may also be less tolerant to air pollution (Annesi-Maesano et al., 2013).

### 2.4. Indoor Air Quality Sampling Methods

Indoor contaminants have been identified to assess possible causal links between disease or disease symptoms and residential and non-residential building environments. Samples from indoor environments are collected to identify airborne biological pollutants, chemicals in building materials, and gas/vapour or particulate-phase chemicals (Godish, 2001). Sampling is an essential part of the air analysis process since air is complex, diverse, and constantly changing in time and location due to human activity (Garcia-Jares et al., 2012). Basic air sampling techniques are required to routinely monitor exposure to organic contaminants in indoor environments (Garcia-Jares et al., 2012). Indoor air sampling requires a very low air volume, making it hard to sample without affecting the tested microenvironments (Garcia-Jares et al., 2012). Because of this, several techniques for gathering outdoor samples are inappropriate for use indoors (Garcia-Jares et al., 2012). The acceptable sampling and analytical techniques must be chosen for the air sampling process, which includes determining the number of samples, the sampling site, time and length, and equipment selection and calibration. Moreover, the organic pollutants monitored in the indoor environments have evolved in the last few years, hence, new methods and procedures have been developed, and the old ones have been modified to monitor the legacy and novel compounds at the same time (Garcia-Jares et al., 2012). Both passive and active sampling techniques can be used to collect and investigate samples of indoor air (Godish, 2001).

#### 2.4.1 Active Sampling Methods

The most accurate way to measure SVOC air concentrations is presently thought to be utilising active air samplers (AAS), which can collect chemicals in both the gas and particle phases under-regulated flow conditions (Garcia-Jares et al., 2012). Over the past 40 years, this approach has remained mostly constant despite acknowledged sampling artefacts (Bidleman et al., 1984). With respect to the type of sampler (high-, medium-, or low-volume samplers), a defined volume of air is pumped through an adsorbent tube packed with one or more adsorbents during active sampling, where the pollutants are retained at a specific and controlled flow rate, usually ranging from 0.5 to 1400 L min-1 (Garcia-Jares et al., 2012). The flow rate and sample collecting time are the primary factors between AAS's high-volume and low-volume sampler classifications. Flow rates of less than 3 m3/hour are typical for low-volume air samplers (Blanchard et al., 2006; Hayward et al., 2010; Hazrati et al., 2007; Melymuk et al., 2011; Batterman et al., 2009). This frequently leads to small sample volumes (for example, less than 200 m3), however, they may also be utilised for longer deployment durations. For instance, 500-1000 m3 of air can be obtained after 7-14 days of continuous sampling (Hayward et al., 2010; Hazrati et al., 2007; Melymuk et al., 2011). In order to determine the sample volume or flow rate and to compel the sample to pass through the trap, tools, including pumps and flow meters are needed (Garcia-Jares et al., 2012). Thus, the flow meter regulates the flow of a known air volume through the sampler, giving accurate quantitative results (Garcia-Jares et al., 2012). Typically, sampling durations range from a few minutes to many hours (Garcia-Jares et al., 2012). It is also possible to sample the particles after adding quartz or glass filters (Garcia-Jares et al., 2012). Additionally, when sampling, the adsorbent can retain the chemicals that volatilise from the filter (Garcia-Jares et al., 2012). Amberlite XAD-2 and XAD-4, nonionic macro reticular resins or polyurethane foam (PUF), are sorbent materials with porous polymers (Garcia-Jares et al., 2012). Although it indicates the breakthrough of more volatile molecules, the latter has been used extensively for sampling pesticides, PCBs, polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins (PCDDs) and polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDFs), PEs, PBDEs, OPEs, or polyfluorinated organic compounds in air (Garcia-Jares et al., 2012). Figure 2.4 shows the active air sampling device and the analytical steps for particle matter (PM) determination.



Figure 2.4. The active air sampling device and the analytical steps (Garcia-Jares et al., 2012)

### 2.4.2 Passive Sampling Methods

In order to improve efficiency and lower the costs associated with SVOC air monitoring, passive air sampling techniques were developed towards the end of the 1990s (Melymuk et al., 2014). Passive samplers (PAS) have several advantages over active samplers, including ease of use, cost-effectiveness, and lack of energy requirement (Nothstein et al., 2000). These benefits make it possible for simultaneous monitoring in several geographically varied regions. Moreover, they are appropriate for determining indoor air quality because of their silent operation (Hazrati and Harrad, 2007).

Over the past ten to fifteen years, several forms of PAS have been assessed and deployed; some have drawn more attention (Melymuk et al., 2014). Passive sampling methods are immensely beneficial for determining concentrations averaged or integrated across several hours, days, or weeks (Godish, 2001). They are frequently rooted in the idea that pollutants can be absorbed by diffusing onto or into a sorbent material (Godish, 2001). The most used monitoring methods are the XAD-resin-based PAS (Wania et al., 2003) and the disk-shaped PUF-PAS (Harner et al., 2006).

Passive samplers using polyurethane foam (PUF) discs (Tisch TE-1014; 13.97 cm diameter; 1.27 cm thickness; 362.42 cm<sup>2</sup> surface area; 194.66 cm<sup>3</sup> volume; density 0.029 g/cm<sup>3</sup> density) were used for indoor air sampling. Figure 3.8 represents the sampler in additional detail. Passive sampling devices (PSDs), typically constructed using a PUF disc placed between two stainless steel bowls, facilitate the absorption of airborne chemicals into the PUF. Figure 3.9. indicates that the design allows air to flow from the gap between the bowls. It enables the absorbed chemicals to exit through holes in the lower bowl, ensuring the absorption of airborne substances by the PUF.



Figure 2.5. Detailed PUF disc as a passive sampler (United Nations Environment Programme, 2017)



Figure 2.6. Air circulation in stainless steel bowls using PUF disc

Based on differences in the fugacity potentials of a particular compound in the air and sampler media, the diffusion of gaseous phase compound molecules to the sampler medium is achieved (Gorecki and Namiesnik, 2002). Shoeib and Harner (2002), Bartkow et al. (2005), Hazrati and Harrad (2007) described the theoretical knowledge of how chemicals accumulate in a PUF-PAS. The effective concentration gradient between the air and the sampler, represented by the following equation, determines the uptake profile of a chemical from the ambient air into a PUF-PAS (Hazrati and Harrad, 2007).

$$V_{PUF}\left(\frac{dC_{PUF}}{dt}\right) = k_A A_{PUF}\left(C_A - \left(\frac{C_{P\cup F}}{K_{PUF-A}}\right)\right)$$
(2.1)

The air side mass transfer velocities are represented by  $k_A$  (cm s<sup>-1</sup>). The target compound concentration (pg cm<sup>-3</sup>) in the air being sampled is denoted by  $C_A$ , the PUF disc volume (cm<sup>3</sup>) by  $V_{PUF}$ , and the concentration of compound in the PUF disk (pg cm<sup>-3</sup>) by  $C_{PUF}$ . According to Shoeib and Harner (2002),  $K_{OA}$  may be used to calculate  $K_{PUF-A}$  or the PUF disk/air partition coefficient. A small " $C_{PUF}/K_{PUF-A}$ " value indicates that uptake is theoretically linear and dependent on  $k_A$ ,  $A_{PUF}$ , and  $C_A$ . The passive sampler's chemical absorption and elimination rates are correlated with  $A_{PUF}$ ,  $V_{PUF}$ , and  $K_{OA}$ . According to Bartkow et al. (2005), the mass transfer of compounds with a high  $K_{OA}$ (>10<sup>7</sup>) and low atmospheric concentration is governed by the air-side mass transfer rate, which is  $k_0 = k_A$ . Consequently, the air supply rate to the chamber plays a primary role in controlling this mass transfer.

### 2.5. Personal Exposure Assessment Tools

Environmental sampling techniques are commonly used to assess human exposure to environmental chemicals. Researchers also perform biomarker analysis from biological matrices, such as blood, urine, or breast milk (Aylward et al., 2014; Dixon et al., 2018). It is noteworthy that biomarker concentrations incorporate all routes of exposure, including ingestion, inhalation, and skin contact (Needham et al., 2005). Nevertheless, biomarkers do not reveal the exposure pathway and route (Paustenbach and Galbraith, 2006). Biomarkers in blood and urine are used by biomonitoring projects, like the U.S. National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), to offer a thorough evaluation of chemical exposures associated with the general U.S. population (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), 2017). Several factors affect the quantity of chemical exposure, making it challenging to account for inter- and intra-individual variation when analysing biomarker concentrations (Aylward et al., 2014; Koch et al., 2014). The timing of exposure events and chemical toxicokinetics can also affect biomarker concentrations. Biological samples have to be gathered as soon as possible after exposure due to having short halflives of nonpersistent compounds of interest (Aylward et al., 2014; Paustenbach and Galbraith, 2006).

Active sampling tools, which include backpacks that monitor air quality, are frequently used by researchers to measure environmental contaminants in an individual's breathing zone (Bohlin et al., 2007; Nethery et al., 2012). Several participants may find the study burdensome, and their behaviour may be influenced by pump noise and carrying a backpack during the study (Bohlin et al., 2007; Cherrie et al., 1994). In order to guarantee accurate calibration, active air monitoring equipment also needs a battery supply and periodic service.

Another well-established technique for determining trace amounts of pollutants is passive sampling, which researchers frequently use to find chemicals in water and air environments (Huckins et al., 2006; Paulik et al., 2016). The lipophilic membrane of the passive sampling polymer allows organic compounds from the surroundings to permeate through (Huckins et al., 2006). Passive samplers absorb chemicals similar to chemical absorption across an organism's phospholipid membranes, as evidenced by several ecological cases (Paulik et al., 2016; Booij et al., 2006). As a result, they capture the portion of lipophilic organic compounds that are bioavailable (Paulik et al., 2016; Booij et al., 2006). Bohlin et al. (2007) used passive sampling devices to monitor organic pollutant groups such as PAHs and PCBs in the environment. The materials utilised in passive sampling might differ significantly; including sophisticated polymers like silicone and polyethene (Namiesnik et al., 2005) and simple matrices like activated carbon (Tommasino, 1998). For personal SVOC sampling, samplers made of polydimethylsiloxane (silicone) and low-density polyethylene (LDPE) were utilized in the forms of sheets, brooches, wristbands, etc. (Bergmann et al., 2018). The continuous accumulation of chemicals in passive sampling devices over time enhances the sensitivity of analytical detection. This characteristic is the reason why passive sampling devices do not reflect a periodical concentration but rather a time-weighted average (Samon et al., 2022).

#### 2.6. Silicone Wristbands

Silicone wristbands are used as a new passive sampling application to monitor individual chemical exposure (O'Connell et al., 2014; Anderson et al., 2017). They offer a straightforward approach to assessing individual exposure to specific organic compounds in the gaseous phase (Dixon et al., 2018). Silicone wristbands have previously been employed to sample chemicals with log Koa values ranging from 3.3 to 16 (Samon et al., 2022). They contain various compounds, from smaller, more volatile substances like solvents (e.g., toluene) to higher molecular weight compounds such as flame retardants or plasticizers (Bergmann et al., 2018). In their capacity as passive samplers, silicone wristbands enable an ambient pollutant to gradually diffuse (absorb) into the silicone polymer (Kile et al., 2016). This sampling method's non-invasiveness combined with its easy use and affordability present a potential for larger-scale
exposure monitoring studies, particularly in vulnerable groups like children (Romanak et al., 2019; Anderson et al., 2017).

The first study using silicone wristbands (SWs) to assess individual chemical exposures was conducted by O'Connell et al. (2014). Over the past ten years, silicone wristbands have proved useful as personal passive samplers for evaluating the exposure of adults and children to various consumer products and synthetic chemicals (O'Connell et al., 2014; Anderson et al., 2017; Quintana et al., 2019; Dixon et al., 2018; Dixon et al., 2019; Donald et al., 2016; Kile et al., 2016; Hammel et al., 2016; Hammel et al., 2018). Lately, silicone wristbands were utilised to monitor occupational and environmental exposure to PAHs at natural gas production sites (Paulik et al., 2018) to pesticides in underdeveloped nations (Donald et al., 2016; Bergmann et al., 2017), flame retardants in preschoolers (Kile et al., 2016), and PAHs in roofers who work in highrisk environments (O'Connell et al., 2014). Utilizing wristbands in occupational settings offered distinct advantages in efficiently assessing potential acute exposure within a short time frame, such as a single workday, without imposing an excessive burden on workers through multiple sampling tools (e.g., active air sampling packs) (Samon et al., 2022). Correspondingly, wristbands were employed to assess exposure in individuals who might come into contact with environmental pollutants due to closeness (Samon et al., 2022). The exposure assessment contained families of agricultural workers, residents in coal mining communities, individuals residing near natural gas drilling pads, commuters on heavily trafficked roads, and those living close to a natural technological disaster (Oluyomi et al., 2021).

Further demonstrating the efficacy of silicone media as passive samplers, Hammel et al. (2018) also associated the presence of PBDEs, on silicone wristbands, with blood indicators for PBDE exposure (Hammel et al., 2018). Furthermore, several studies have discovered a strong relationship between the chemical buildup levels on the wristband and internal exposure indicators detected in the urine or blood (Dixon et al., 2018; Hammel et al., 2016; Hammel et al., 2018). Lastly, wristbands have been utilized for sampling populations that are more vulnerable to adverse health outcomes, such as children, pregnant women, and individuals with preexisting health conditions (Samon et al., 2022).

Table 2.5 presents the studies conducted using silicone wristbands to assess human exposure to PAHs. In their 2019 study, Wang et al. engaged ten adult participants, comprising three females and seven males, who wore silicone wristbands on their dominant hand continuously for 72 hours. According to the data presented in Table 2.5, the cumulative median concentration of PAHs, encompassing ten different compounds, reached 263 ng per wristband. Noticeably, Phenanthrene, Benz(a)anthracene and Fluoranthene contributed to the total concentration at 37%, 18%, and 10%, respectively. Romanak et al. (2019) documented the involvement of ten participants, including five non-smoking females and males. These individuals wore wristbands continuously for seven days, ensuring minimal coverage by clothing during daily activities and removing the wristbands solely during swimming in a chlorinated pool. The results presented in Table 2.5 revealed a collective median concentration of 273 ng per wristband for PAHs. Specifically, Phenanthrene, Anthracene, and Fluoranthene demonstrated higher concentrations than other PAHs, with corresponding contributions to the overall concentration of 33%, 24%, and 11%, respectively. A comparison of the contributions to the total PAH concentration between Romanak et al. (2019) and Wang et al. (2019) indicated close similarities in the contributions of Phenanthrene and Fluoranthene. Young et al. (2021) conducted a study employing silicone wristbands among office workers. Participants were instructed to wear SWs for four days to eight hours daily during their shift. The study comprised 251 participants, with a breakdown of sample sizes across different regions: 85 in the United States, 42 in the United Kingdom, 54 in India and 70 in China. According to the findings presented in Table 2.4, Naphthalene, Phenanthrene, Fluoranthene, and Pyrene demonstrated high median concentrations among the PAH compounds.

Country	PAH Compound	Test Field	Max (ng/g wristba nd)	Median (ng/g wristba nd)	u	Participants	Sampling Duration	Year	Reference
	Acenaphthyle ne		21.7	0.67					
	Acenaphthen e		32	1.12					
	Anthracene		38.6	1.07					
USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	Benz[a]anthr acene	office buildings	101	2.1	251	Office Workers	32 hours	2019	(Young et al., 2021)
	Benzo(g,h,i)p erylene		11.9	0.005					
	Benzo(j,b,k)fl uoranthene		15.4	0.573					
	Benzo[a]pyre ne		16.1	0.585					
								(cont. 0	n next page)

Table 2.4. PAH concentrations (ng/g wristband) were identified by using SWs in the world

2
<u> </u>
$\overline{}$
-
N,
<u> </u>
<u> </u>
<b>`</b>
<u>۲</u>

		-	( Young et al., 2021)			on next page)		
			2019			(cont. c		
			32 hours					
		ین (	Unice Workers					
			251					
1.59 0.318 5.37 5.37 1.35 0.223 0.223								
83	83 3.05 185 13.3 13.3 13.3							
		<u>.</u> ٤	onnce buildings					
Chrysene	Dibenz[a,h]a nthracene	Fluoranthene	Fluorene	Indeno(1,2,3- cd)pyrene	Naphthalene			
All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA			

cont.
$\smile$
_
2.4.
<b>A</b> >
-
Ι
P
3
Ξ

(Young et al., 2021)				(Young et al., 2021)			on next page)
2019				2019			(cont. o
32 hours				7 full days			
Office Workers				Office Workers			
251				251			
28	4.07	0.67 1.12 1.07 2.1 2.1				0.005	
249	193	21.7 32 38.6 101 11.9					
office buildings office							
Phenanthrene	Pyrene	Acenaphthyle ne	Acenaphthen e	Anthracene	Benz[a]anthr acene	Benzo(g,h,i)p erylene	
All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	
	All Countries All Countries Office Office Office 32 hours 2019 2021) USA-UK- Phenanthrene buildings 249 28 251 Workers 32 hours 2019 2021) INDIA	All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIAoffice buildings24928251Office Workers32 hours(Young et al., 2019)All Countries USA-UK- DNIAPhenanthrene buildings1934.074.0791934.07	All Countries USA-UK- Demanthrene INDIAoffice buildings24928251Office Workers32 hours2019(Young et al., 2021)All Countries USA-UK- INDIAPyrene1934.074.071934.071934.07All Countries USA-UK- INDIAPyrene1934.071934.071934.07All Countries INDIANone1934.071934.07106710671067All Countries USA-UK- INDIAne21.70.6710671067106710671067	$ \begin{array}{c cccc} All Countries \\ USA-UK- \\ CHINA- \\ INDIA \\ INDIA \\ All Countries \\ USA-UK- \\ Dyrene \\ INDIA \\ All Countries \\ USA-UK- \\ CHINA- \\ Int Countries \\ All Countries \\ USA-UK- \\ CHINA- \\ ne \\ INDIA \\ All Countries \\ USA-UK- \\ CHINA- \\ ne \\ INDIA \\ All Countries \\ USA-UK- \\ CHINA- \\ Int Countries \\ All Countries \\ USA-UK- \\ CHINA- \\ Int Countries \\ All Countries \\ Int Countr$	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $

(cont.)
2.4.
Table

				(Young et al., 2021)				. on next page)	
				2019				(cont.	
				7 full days					
				Office Workers					
		-		251	_				
0.573 0.585 0.772 0.772 1.59 1.35 1.35 1.35 0.223									
15.4	15.4 16.1 19.2 19.2 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 83 13.3 13.								
				office buildings					
Benzo(j,b,k)fl uoranthene	Benzo[a]pyre ne	Benzo[e]pyre ne	Chrysene	Dibenz[a,h]a nthracene	Fluoranthene	Fluorene	Indeno(1,2,3- cd)pyrene		
All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA		

(cont.)
2.4.
Table

et al.,	
(Young ( 2021	
2019	
7 full days	
Office Workers	
251	
28.6 <mdl< td=""><td>21.3</td></mdl<>	21.3
1880 <mdl 249</mdl 	193
office buildings	
Naphthalene Perylene Phenanthrene	Pyrene tection limit.
All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA	CHINA- INDIA MDL: method de

LOQ: limit of quantification.

$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	ountry	PAH Compound	Test field	Min - Max (ng/wristband)	Median (ng/wristband)	n	Participant	Sampling duration	Year	Reference
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		ΣΡΑΗs (10)		184 - 2368	263					
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		Acenaphthylene		1.6 - 10	6.5					
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		Acenaphthene		8.5 - 29	13					
liana, ed Statehome $10$ $7$ male $72$ hours $2018$ ad StatePhenanthrene $47$ - 181 $97$ $10$ $7$ male $72$ hours $2018$ Anthracene $9.4 - 28$ $18$ $18$ $7$ male $72$ hours $2018$ Fluoranthene $20 - 94$ $27$ $27$ $27$ $27$ Pyrene $15 - 75$ $24$ $24$ $24$	nington,	Fluorene		4.8-36	12		3 female			(Wang et
Anthracene         9.4 - 28         18           Fluoranthene         20 - 94         27           Pyrene         15 - 75         24	iana, ed State	Phenanthrene	home	47- 181	26	10	7 male	72 hours	2018	al., 2019)
Fluoranthene         20 - 94         27           Pyrene         15 - 75         24		Anthracene		9.4 - 28	18					
Pyrene 15 - 75 24		Fluoranthene		20 - 94	27					
		Pyrene		15 - 75	24					

Table 2.5. PAH concentrations (ng/wristband) were identified by using SWs in the world

•
<u> </u>
_
<b>—</b>
<u> </u>
•
<u> </u>
· - /
-
•
44
•••
<b>a</b>
-
-
_
•

	(Wang et al., 2019)					(Romanak	et al., 2019)			
	2018					0100	6107			
	72 hours						/ uays			
	3 female 7 male					5 female	5 male			
	10					01	10			
48	7.1	16	273	4.46	10.7	24.3	89.3	64.2	30	29.9
10 - 327	4.6 - 10	3.7 - 2140	76.2 - 1240	76.2 - 1240 2.59 - 7.94 <5.21 - 30.2 10.8 - 102 10.8 - 102 21.4 - 336 <0.57 - 106 <0.57 - 198 9.22 - 198 8.46 - 274						
	home									
Benz(a)anthracene	Chrysene	Benzo(k)fluoranthene	ΣPAHs	Acenaphthylene	Acenaphthene	Fluorene	Phenanthrene	Anthracene	Fluoranthene	Pyrene
Bloomington, Indiana, United State	Bloomington, Indiana, United State	Bloomington, Indiana, United State	Indiana, United State	Indiana, United State	Indiana, United State	Indiana, United State	Indiana, United State	Indiana, United State	Indiana, United State	Indiana, United State

(cont. on next page)

# Table 2.5. (cont.)

(Romanak	2019)
0100	6107
2 door	v uays
5 female	5 male
10	10
16	19.4
0.36 - 212	<2.14 - 143
Benz(a)anthracene	Chrysene
Indiana, United State	Indiana, United State

Table 2.6 summarizes the OPE concentrations observed in silicone wristbands. In the study conducted by Wang et al. (2019), TDCPP, TPHP, and TCPP showed highest concentrations among all OPEs with individual contributions of 26%, 22%, and 11%, respectively. On the other hand, deploying the wristbands longer than Wang et al. (2019) study, Romanak et al. (2019) disclosed a higher total OPE concentration per wristband. TBOEP, TDCPP, and TEHP were the dominant OPEs found in the wristbands, contributing 27%, 10%, and 5% to the total concentration, respectively. In Xie et al. (2021) study, a child between the ages of less than 1 to 7 years old, along with the child's mother, wore SWs for two weeks. Throughout this duration, participants were directed to always keep the wristbands on, including during sleep and bathing. For children, TCPP, EHDPP, and TBOEP had higher concentrations than other OPEs, contributing 22%, 12%, and 12% to the overall concentration, respectively. Conversely, the median concentration of total OPEs for mother participants reached 2140 ng per wristband. For mothers, the dominant OPEs were TCPP, TPHP, and TBOEP, with 42%, 9%, and 7% contribution to the overall concentration, respectively. Consequently, a comparative assessment of OPE exposure between child and mother participants indicated a predominance of TCPP in the overall contribution to OPE concentrations, and higher total OPE concentration in mothers' wristbands.

-											(i)	
Reference		(Wang et al., 2019) (Romanak et al., 2019)										
Year					2018					2019		cont. 01
Sampling Duration		72 hours 7 days										<b>)</b>
Participants				3 female	7 male					5 female 5 male		
u					10					10		
Median (ng/g wristband)	,											
Min - Max (ng/g wristband)	,											
Median (ng/wristband)	1983	61	75	212	524	441	164	58	7840	96.7	93.1	
Min - Max (ng/wristband)	1090 - 10084	45 - 162	26 - 323	76 - 606	221 - 2179	212 - 1068	18 - 1367	25 - 6978	2440 - 9580	<26.7 - 1720	<25 - 881	
<b>OPE</b> Compounds	ΣOPEs (7)	ΣΟΡΕ     (7)       TNBP     TNBP       TCEP     TCEP       TCPP     TCPP       TCPP     TCPP       TPHP     TPHP       TPHP     TPHP       TPHP     TPHP       TPHP     TPHP       TPHP     TPHP       TPHP     TPHP       TPHP     TPHP       TPHP     TPHP       TPHP     TPHP       TPHP     TPHP       TPHP     TPHP       TPHP     TPHP       TPHP     TPHP       TPHP     TPHP       TPHP     TPHP       TPHP     TPHP       TPHP     TPHP										
Country		Bloomington, Indiana, United State Indiana, United State										

Table 2.6. OPE concentrations (ng/wristband & ng/g wristband) were identified by using SWs in the world

(cont.)
2.6.
Table

			(Romanak et al.,	2019)			(Xie et al., 2021)							
			2019				2019-2019							
			7 days							14 days				
			5 female	5 male			Mothers							
			10							47				
60.9	288	759	290	2090	245	353	2140	103	152	38.7	006	37.8	26.5	
27.2 - 348	109 - 1050	168 - 2060	72.1 - 1360	878 - 4000	<56 - 979	<6.25 - 710	203 - 16720	1.5 - 1080	<loq -="" 1960<="" td=""><td><loq -="" 910<="" td=""><td><l0q -="" 15920<="" td=""><td><loq -="" 462<="" td=""><td>5.4 - 136</td><td></td></loq></td></l0q></td></loq></td></loq>	<loq -="" 910<="" td=""><td><l0q -="" 15920<="" td=""><td><loq -="" 462<="" td=""><td>5.4 - 136</td><td></td></loq></td></l0q></td></loq>	<l0q -="" 15920<="" td=""><td><loq -="" 462<="" td=""><td>5.4 - 136</td><td></td></loq></td></l0q>	<loq -="" 462<="" td=""><td>5.4 - 136</td><td></td></loq>	5.4 - 136	
TCEP	TCIPP TDCIPP TPHP EHDPP EHDPP							EHDPP	TBOEP	TCEP	TCPP	TDCPP	TEP	
		Indiana, United State				Guangzhou, South China								

(cont.)
2.6.
Table

(cont. on next page)

(cont.)
2.6.
Table

	(Gibson et	al., 2019)		- (Craig et al., 2019) <sup>a</sup>					5- (Craig et	7 al., 2019) <sup>b</sup>		18 (Travis et al., 2020)					
	100	707			2016	2013		2016- 2017				2018					
		/ uays			≥35 hours	per week		≥35 hours per week				7 days					
	condition.	Ciliaren			Nail salon technicians Nail salon technicians				Children								
	0 0	00			c	л			c	л				ć	7		
390.5	440	297.5	64.5	39.5	<30.6	15.7	132	40.9	N/A	3.3	257	1020	66.4	20.8	208	5.1	85.4
5.85 - 2460	0.72 - 3050	6 - 3490	3.83 - 656	<ul> <li>&lt;6.7-199</li> <li>all &lt; 30.6</li> <li>&lt;6.7 - 35</li> <li>11.8 - 368</li> </ul>			<6.7 - 161	<30.6 - 56.2	<1.2 - 27.4	<6.1 - 1006	12300	0.01 - 510	0.02 - 1420	0.02 - 4480	0.01 - 1500	0.01 - 8920	
TDCPP	TPHP	TCPP	TCEP	TCPP TCEP TDCPP TPHP			TCPP	TCEP	TDCPP	dHdT	ΣOPEs	TBP	TCEP	TCPP	TDCPP	TPHP	
	USA Massachusetts,				USA						Montevideo,	Urugay					

(cont. on next page)

(cont.)
2.6.
Table

(Travis et al., 2020)		[ommo]/	et al.,	(0707					(Young et	al., 2021)					
2018			Aug- 15			2019									
7 days			7 days				32 hours								
Children			Children				Office Workers								
24			77						25	107					
290	35.8	55.16	179.7	73.61	872.9	14	0.836	77.3	12.1	9.62	1.14	2.1	35.3		
0.01 - 4820						<mdl -<br="">6630</mdl>	<mdl -<br="">37.8</mdl>	<mdl -<br="">9260</mdl>	<mdl -<br="">25500</mdl>	<mdl -<br="">1020</mdl>	<mdl -="" 118<="" td=""><td><mdl -<br="">54.2</mdl></td><td><mdl -<br="">1800</mdl></td><td></td></mdl>	<mdl -<br="">54.2</mdl>	<mdl -<br="">1800</mdl>		
EHDPP	TCEP	TCPP	TDCPP	EHDPP	TPHP	EHDPP	TCEP	TCPP	TDCPP	TEHP	TEP	TnBP	TPHP	antification.	
Montevideo, Urugay	North Carolina, USA						Carolina, USA Carolina, USA All Countries USA-UK- CHINA- INDIA							LOO: limit of au	

LOQ: limit of quantification. (Craig et al., 2019)a: SWs were worn on the wrist (Craig et al., 2019)b: SWs were pinned to the lapel Another research conducted with mother-child pairs by Gibson et al. (2019) revealed similar dominant OPEs in the wristbands worn by the pairs, i.e. TPHP, TDCPP, and TCEP for mothers and TPHP, TDCPP, and TCPP for children. It is noteworthy that TPHP and TDCPP exhibited notably elevated concentrations in comparison to the findings from Xie et al. (2021) study, in which the participants were living in China. Hence, country-wise comparison of personal exposure is deemed essential to understanding societal health concerns. Twenty-four children aged 6.0–8.0 years attending first grade in nine elementary schools in different areas of Montevideo, Uruguay, wore SWs on their wrists during all activities throughout seven days (Travis et al., 2020). Among OPEs, EHDPP and TCPP exhibited higher median concentrations, contributing 28% and 20% to the overall concentration, respectively. Another study on children's exposure included 77 children aged 3–6 years, representing 74 different families living in USA (Hammel et al., 2020). After seven days of deployment, TPHP and TDCPP were identified as the dominant OPEs.

OPE exposure of nail-saloon workers was investigated in the study by Craig et al. (2019). Nine female nail salon technicians aged 18 or older, who were non-smokers and employed full-time ( $\geq$ 35 hours per week), utilized silicone wristbands both pinned to their lapels and worn on their wrists. Sample collections were conducted after each participant's work shift, accompanied by a questionnaire containing work-related and nonwork-related inquiries on potential factors contributing to exposure. Both SWs indicated a notable absorption of high concentrations of TPHP and TCPP in the nail salon environment. While TCPP concentrations remained consistent between the two sampling methods using SWs, the concentration of TPHP on lapel-pinned SWs was nearly twice as high as that on wrist-worn SWs. Investigating the work-place exposure across three countries, Young et al. (2021) revealed higher median concentrations for TCPP and TPHP among the OPEs.

PE concentrations detected in SWs so far is presented in Table 2.7. As can be observed from Table 2.7., regardless of the studied groups, all of the studies identified DEHP as the dominant PE compounds measured in SWs. In the nail-saloon workers study, the concentration of DEHP on lapel-pinned SWs was almost six times greater than that on wrist-worn SWs (Craig et al. 2019). In the study by Hammel et al. (2020), the median concentration of DEHP was at least nine times higher than the median concentrations of other PEs, while there was at least one order of magnitude difference between DEHP and other PEs in Young et al. (2021) study. BBP, DnBP and DiBP were

observed to be the dominant PEs following DEHP (Hammel et al., 2020; Young et al. 2021).

Year Referenc	2016- (Craig et 2017 al., 2019) <sup>a</sup> 2017 al., 2019) <sup>b</sup> 3016- (Craig et al., 2019) <sup>b</sup>									
Sample Duration	7 days 7 days									
Participants	Nail salon technicians Nail salon technicians									
u	۵ Ő									
Median (ng/g wristband)	<6.7	<1120	<17.6	<31.5	<1.8	42.4	N/A	N/A	<17.6	<31.5
Min - Max (ng/g wristband)	<ul> <li>&lt;6.7 - 22.3</li> <li>&lt;1120 - 1697</li> <li>&lt;17.6 - 143</li> <li>&lt;17.6 - 143</li> <li>&lt;17.6 - 143</li> <li>&lt;17.6 - 143</li> <li>&lt;17.6 - 5.1</li> <li>&lt;17.6 - 56.1</li> <li>&lt;31.5 - 576</li> </ul>								<31.5 - 576	
Test Field			7 Nail	salons				7 Nail	salons	
PE Compounds	BBP DnBP DiBP DEP DEP DEHP DEP S DEP								DEP	
Country	Massachusetts, USA USA USA									

Table 2.7. PE concentrations (ng/g wristband) were identified by using SWs in the world

`بد`
Б
5
5
J
•
<b></b> i
•
e
-
60

technicians         2017         ali, 2019)*           77         77         Children         7 days         Aug-15         et al., 2020)           1         77         Children         7 days         Aug-15         et al., 2020)           1         251         Office         32 hours         2019         al., 2021)
77     Children     7 days     Aug-15     (Hamiltamiltamiltamiltamiltamiltamiltamilt
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
$\begin{array}{c cccc} 59 \\ 10 \\ \hline 10 \\ \hline 3 \\ \hline 3 \\ 00 \\ \hline 00 $
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
$\begin{array}{c c} \hline 3 \\ \hline 00 \\ \hline$
$\begin{array}{c c} 00 \\ \hline & & \\ \hline & & \\ \hline & & \\ 60 \\ \hline & & \\ 32 \text{ hours} \end{array} \end{array} \begin{array}{c c} 251 \\ 2019 \\ al., 2021 \\ al., 2021 \\ al., 2021 \\ \\ al., 2021 \end{array}$
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
3
40

Not computed (N/A): The proportion of results below the method detection limit (MDL) was excessively high. (Craig et al., 2019)<sup>b</sup>: SWs were worn on the wrist (Craig et al., 2019)<sup>b</sup>. SWs were pinned to the lap

## 2.7. Uptake Characteristics of Silicone Wristbands

A straightforward approach to conceptualizing the accumulation of chemicals by a passive sampling medium (PSM) is to view it as a uniform, permeable compartment that allows for chemical penetration and dissolution (Shoeib and Harner, 2002). Mass transfer across the interface between the passive sampling medium (PSM) and the air involves the accumulation of resistances within the air boundary layer and the PSM (Shoeib and Harner, 2002). Three stages define the uptake: the curvilinear phase, the equilibrium phase, and the linear uptake phase, also known as the kinetic phase (Shoeib and Harner, 2002). Subsequently, the uptake rate gradually reduces as particular compounds approach equilibrium, entering the curvilinear phase (Samon et al., 2022). According to Shoeib and Harner (2002), sampling at the linear phase, where surface resistance is minimal and the uptake rates are at their highest, is frequently preferred. According to Tromp et al. (2019), silicone samplers have a significantly larger capacity per volume than polyurethane foam (PUF) samplers, which leads to a longer linear uptake phase. In the curvilinear phase, a portion of a compound has already partitioned into the PSD, decreasing the potential for compounds to transfer within the PSD until thermodynamic equilibrium is achieved (Samon et al., 2022). At equilibrium, the potential for a compound to transfer between the PSD and the sampled environmental media becomes equal (Samon et al., 2022).

Anderson et al. (2017) conducted the first investigation on this topic. The PAH concentration in wristbands worn by a participant was compared to the PAH concentration in low-volume active samplers carried by the same person, and the silicone wristband-air distribution coefficient (partitioning coefficient -  $K_{sa}$ ) was calculated (Anderson et al., 2017). Moreover, Tromp et al. (2019), Donald et al. (2019), and Frederiksen et al. (2022) also assessed the uptake behavior of SWs. To investigate the uptake capacities and distribution coefficients of silicone wristbands,  $K_{sa}$  of SVOCs, a specific environment (soccer field) (Donald et al., 2019) or specifically designed chambers (Tromp et al., 2019) were used. However, people spend most of their time indoors, and daily exposure studies adopting silicone wristbands are more closely related to indoor environmental circumstances. The only study conducted in an indoor environment deployed SWs for thirty-one days to test the capacity of silicone

wristbands, and most chemicals failed to reach equilibrium. Therefore,  $K_{sa}$  values could not be determined (Frederiksen et al., 2022).

#### 2.8. Motivation and Objectives

In recent years, silicone wristbands, utilised as a novel passive sampler, have yielded substantial results in understanding exposure to SVOCs. Nevertheless, there has been no study conducted in Türkiye to assess human exposure using SWs. Furthermore, critical parameters derived from the data collected using silicone wristbands are required to be established for exposure dose calculations. In essence, this unique research has been conducted to determine the uptake rates of SVOCs by silicone wristbands, the partitioning coefficient between air and silicone, and the concentration levels of SVOCs in indoor environments. Up to now few research has been conducted to determine the uptake characteristics of SWs in indoor environments. As the indoor environment, primary school classrooms were selected to be tested in the present study. The significance of indoor air quality in schools becomes apparent when considering that children spend almost 8 hours a day in school. Moreover, the high number of children in a classroom and insufficient ventilation and cleaning contribute to the decline in indoor air quality. Due to children's metabolic and physical activities, they are more sensitive to environmental pollution than adults, making it crucial to identify chemicals they may be exposed to through inhalation (Ekren et al., 2017).

The objectives of this study were:

- i) to use the silicone wristbands to assess personal exposure of academic personnel living in İzmir, Türkiye to SVOCs and also to test SWs as an indoor air sampler in their offices
- ii) develop a cost-effective and time-efficient analysis method to determine SVOC levels in silicone wristbands
- iii) Estimating the uptake rates in silicone wristbands and air-wristband partitioning coefficients for SVOCs in indoor environments
- iv) Determining PAH concentrations in indoor air using PUF PAS in primary school classrooms in İzmir.

 iv) Evaluating the exposure of school-age children to PAHs in the classroom and conducting a human health risk assessment for school children.

# **CHAPTER 3**

# **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **3.1. Reagents and Standards**

Reagents are crucial elements of laboratory experiments and analyses because chemical reactions rely on them to produce, measure or detect other compounds. In analytical and scientific measures, standards are substances or materials that have known, concentrations, amounts or properties. The accuracy and reliability of experimental data are ensured by using them as standards to calibrate instruments and validate processes.

In order for PAH analyses, a mixture of 16 EPA-PAH compounds, deuterated phenanthrene-d10 and perylene-d12 (surrogate standards), and a para-terphenyl (internal standard) were purchased from Ehrenstorfer (LGC Labor GmbH Augsburg, Germany).For PE analyses, a mixture of 13 PE compounds, deuterated DMP-d4, DnBP-d4 and DEHP-d4 surrogate standards were purchased from AccuStandard (New Haven and CT, USA). To analyse OPEs, nine reference standards that are TPHP, TCEP, TCIPP, TBOEP, EHDPP, TDCIPP, TNBP, TEHP, and TEP, were purchased from AccuStandard (New Haven and CT, USA). Deuterated TCEP-d12 and TPHP-d15 for OPE surrogate standards were purchased from Wellington Laboratories (Guelph, ON, and Canada). Deuterated internal standard benzo(e)pyrene-d12 was purchased from Ehrenstorfer (LGC Labor GmbH Augsburg, Germany) for OPEs analyses.

## **3.2. Sampling Sites**

## 3.2.1. Office Environment and Personal Exposure Study

Within the scope of this study, silicone wristbands were initially used to assess human exposure and indoor air quality in offices. The human exposure study participants were the residents of the offices sampled. Within this framework, silicone wristbands were suspended at a height of 2 m above the ground in a total of 13 offices located in the Faculty of Engineering C Building at İzmir Institute of Technology (IZTECH). Figure 3.1 shows the location of offices in the building at IZTECH in İzmir.



Figure 3.1. The location of the offices in the faculty building

The wristbands were deployed for one month, during September to October 2022. Additionally, four silicone wristbands were deployed in one of the selected offices, and one wristband was collected every week. One silicone wristband was placed in the office using tweezers and hung from the ceiling with pre-cleaned cotton ropes. The collected samples were then stored at -20 °C until analysis.

Thirteen office workers were recruited as full-time, permanent employees (working 40 hours per week) in an office within the university building. Throughout the study, participants were required to continuously wear pre-cleaned silicone wristbands (SWs) on their wrists for a complete seven days while bathing, cooking, sleeping, and performing various daily activities in indoor or outdoor environments. The study aimed to assess the exposure of office workers to SVOCs, concentrating specifically on PAHs, OPEs, and PEs in indoor environments, encompassing both homes and offices. The study took place over one week during the office environment study, i.e. October 2022'. The participants were provided the precleaned SWs with tweezers and asked to wear it themselves. One of the participants exited the study, and one wore the wristband for nine days. After the exposure, SWs were collected in amber glass bottles. The collected samples were then stored at -20 °C until analysis. A concluding questionnaire containing work-related and non-work-related inquiries about potential exposurecontributing factors was administered to the participants. Tables 3.1 and 3.2 show the factors of participants' daily activities, and specific information about their characteristics. The research protocol received approval from the Ethics Committee of İzmir Institute of Technology, ensuring adherence to research ethics standards.

	Office Workers n = 12	
The Variables of Participant Activities		
Avg Times SW Washed in a Day		
3 - 4	1 (9.1%)	
4 - 5	1 (9.1%)	
7	9 (81.8)	
Avg Hours/Day Spent in Office	× ,	
7	1 (9.1%)	
7 - 8	1 (9.1%)	
8	7 (63.6%)	
8 - 9	1 (9.1%)	
10	1 (9.1%)	
Avg Hours/Day Spent in Home		
8 - 10	2 (18.2%)	
11	1 (9.1%)	
12	2 (18.2%)	
12 - 13	1 (9.1%)	
13	2 (18.2%)	
13 - 14	2 (18.2%)	
14 - 15	1 (9.1%)	
Avg Mins/Day Spent in Car or Public Transpor	rtation	
30	1 (9.1%)	
	(cont. on next page)	

Table 3.1. The factors of participants' daily activities during the study

50

#### Table 3.1 (cont.)

60	5 (45.5%)
90	3 (27.3%)
120	1 (9.1%)
240	1 (9.1%)
Avg Mins/Day Spent at Outdoor	
30	1 (9.1%)
60	1 (9.1%)
90	1 (9.1%)
120	6 (54.6%)
150	1 (9.1%)
180	1 (9.1%)

Table 3.2. Specific information about participants characteristics

Characteristics of study based on Participants	Office Workers $n = 12$
Male	6 (55%)
Female	5 (45%)
The Time SW Covered with Clothes	
None	4 (36.4%)
Constantly during one or two days	5 (45.5%)
Daytime hours in every day	2 (18.2%)
Smoking	
None	9 (81.8)
One to three times a day	2 (18.2%)

# 3.2.2. School Environment and Uptake Rate Study

The second part of this study aimed at estimating the uptake rate of silicone wristbands. To achieve this aim, the school environment was selected as the research focus. Indoor air samples were collected from Nihat Gündüz Primary School, which is governed by the Ministry of National Education, İzmir Provincial Directorate. The school is in İzmir's Işıkkent district, Bornova. There is an intercity bus terminal, cement factories, a personal care product manufacturing plant, and several small to medium-sized enterprises in the vicinity of the school. The school is also located close to the

junction of the İzmir highway. Figure 3.2 demonstrates the school's location, nearby bus terminals, factories, and roads.



Figure 3.2. The location of Nihat Gündüz primary school in İzmir

Sampling was conducted in five classrooms, two having mechanical and three with natural ventilation. The passive samplers used in this study are silicone wristbands and polyurethane Foam (PUF) discs to determine indoor air quality in classrooms and the uptake capacity of silicone wristbands for SVOCs. In each classroom, two PUF-PAS and eight silicone wristbands were used. Thus, forty silicone wristbands and ten PUF samplers were collected in each sampling campaign. Three sampling campaigns were employed: the first sampling campaign represented winter conditions, 17 February – 25 March 2023; the second sampling campaign represented spring weather conditions, 25 March – 29 April 2023; and the third sampling campaign was performed during summer, 20 May – 16 June 2023. The first and third sampling campaigns lasted for 36 days, while the second campaign lasted for 35 days.

The silicone wristbands were placed in each of the five classrooms using tweezers and hung from the ceiling with pre-cleaned cotton ropes in between PUF samplers. Figure 3.3 shows how silicone wristbands were used as passive indoor air samplers in the school and office buildings. Two of the SWs were collected every nine days for the campaigns with a duration of 36 days and every seven days for the 35-day campaign. After collecting all the SW samples with tweezers, they were put into amber

vials and kept in a cool box to transfer to the laboratory. After transportation, they were stored at -20°C at the laboratory until extraction.



Figure 3.3. The silicone wristband samples as a passive indoor air sampler

One low-volume active sampler was operated in two classrooms with mechanical and natural ventilation to determine the ratio of particulate-phase air concentrations to gas-phase collected in glass fiber filters (gff) and PUF passive samplers, respectively. The methods applied in Genişoğlu et al. (2019) study were used for sampling and sample analysis. Accordingly, PM10 gffs and amberlite adsorbent material (XAD) between PUFs were collected for gas phase active sampling for 24 hours once in two weeks by using low-volume active samplers (Harvard, Air Diagnostics & Engineering Inc.) with flow rates of 10 m<sup>3</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>. Additionally, meteorological parameters observed close to the sampling area were gathered. Daily averages of wind direction, speed, and temperature data throughout the sampling period were derived from Izmir Bornova/Zeytinlik Research Institute of the General Directorate of Agricultural Research and Policies (TAGEM).

Following the last sampling campaign, a kinetic uptake study was also designed to observe the nine-day accumulation of SVOCs in the SWs. Eight SWs were deployed as in the sampling campaigns and two of them were collected every two days. Then, they were analyzed in the same manner as other deployed SWs.

# 3.3. Sample Preparation, Extraction and Clean-up

# **3.3.1 Silicone Wristband Preparation**

Silicone wristbands (SW) used in this study were purchased from t-silikon (https://www.t-silikon.com/, İstanbul, Türkiye). They had an average width of 1.1 cm, mean inner diameter of 6.1 cm, average mass of 5.4 g, and average density of 1.3 g/mL.

Previous studies used pre-cleaning procedures to avoid interference in GC-MS analysis so that possible contamination that may arise during the manufacture of silicone wristbands could be removed. Table 3.3 shows the pre-cleaning procedures used in the research studies.

Type of Micropollutants	Precleaning Method (Prior to Deployment)	Cleaning solvents, duration and number of repetition	Reference
PAHs, consumer and personal care products, pesticides, PEs, and other industrial compounds	Orbital shaker – 60 rpm	Three times with 800 mL ethyl acetate and hexane mixture (1:1, v:v) for 2.5 h, Two times with ethyl acetate and methanol (1:1, v:v) for 2.5 h	O'Connell et al., 2014
PCBs, PBDEs, OPEs	Orbital shaker – 60 rpm	Three times with 800 mL ethyl acetate and hexane mixture (1:1, v:v) for 2.5 h, Two times with ethyl acetate and methanol (1:1, v:v) for 2.5 h	Travis et al., 2020
PBDEs, OPFRs	Orbital shaker – 60 rpm	Three times with 800 mL ethyl acetate and hexane mixture (1:1, v:v) for 2.5 h, Two times with ethyl acetate and methanol (1:1, v:v) for 2.5 h	Kile et al., 2016
PAHs	Orbital shaker – 120 rpm	One time with 800 mL methanol for 10 min, Three times with 800 mL ethyl acetate and hexane mixture (1:1, v:v) for 1 h, Two times with ethyl acetate and methanol (1:1, v:v) for 1 h	Baum et al., 2020

(cont. on next page)

#### Table 3.3. (cont.)

PAHs, Flame retardants, Pesticides, PCBs, VOCs	Vacuum oven – 300 °C	Under vacuum at 0.1 Torr for 180 min. During baking, the vacuum oven was flushed with 99.99% nitrogen at 15, 30, 45, 60, 90, 120, and 180 min intervals.	Anderson et al., 2017
A total of 22 VOC and SVOC chemicals were chosen (Table 1)	Vacuum oven – 300 °C	Under vacuum at 0.1 Torr for 180 min. During baking, the vacuum oven was flushed with 99.99% nitrogen at 15, 30, 45, 60, 90, 120, and 180 min intervals.	O'Connell et al., 2021
PBDEs, Novel brominated flame retardants (nBFRs), PAHs, OPEs	Soxhlet with two different solvent mixtures	One time with a mixture of ethyl acetate and hexane (1:1, v:v) for 24 h, followed by ethyl acetate and methanol mixture (1:1, v:v) for 24 h	Wang et al., 2019
PBDEs, NFRs, OPEs, PAHs	Soxhlet with two different solvent mixtures	One time with a mixture of ethyl acetate and hexane (1:1, v:v) for 18 h, followed by ethyl acetate and methanol mixture (1:1, v:v) for 18 h	Romanak et al., 2019
OPEs,PEs, Nonphthalate, Plasticizers	Soxhlet with two different solvent mixtures	One time with a mixture of ethyl acetate and hexane (1:1, v:v) for 12 h, followed by ethyl acetate and methanol mixture (1:1, v:v) for 12 h	Hammel et al., 2020
Brominated Flame Retardants (BFRs), OPEs, Pesticides, PEs	Soxhlet with two different solvent mixtures	One time with a mixture of ethyl acetate and hexane (1:1, v:v) for 12 h, followed by ethyl acetate and methanol mixture (1:1, v:v) for 12 h	Kassotis et al., 2020
PAHs	Soxhlet with two different solvent mixtures	One time with a mixture of ethyl acetate and hexane (1:1, v:v) for 24 h, followed by ethyl acetate and methanol mixture (1:1, v:v) for 24 h	Hendryx et al., 2020

Three pre-cleaning procedures were tested in this study based on the research reported in Table 3.1. The first approach is vacuum oven cleaning. Three silicone wristbands were baked in a vacuum oven at 200°C for 24 hours, with the oven pressure set to 30 mbar (see Figure 3.4). The silicone wristbands were placed in pre-cleaned amber bottles after baking and kept at 4°C until the extraction procedure. A solvent-based washing procedure was tested as the second pre-cleaning method. The silicone wristbands were put in amber bottles previously cleaned. In the amber bottle, 200 ml of a (1:1, v:v) mixture of n-hexane and ethyl acetate solvent was added. A JSR JSSI-100C model horizontal shaker was used to shake the bottle's contents for one hour at 120 rotations per minute (rpm). Following the completion of the first process, the spent solvent combination was removed as waste, and 200 ml of a 1:1 mixture of ethyl acetate and methanol solvent was added to the wristbands and shaken for one hour at a rate of 120 rpm. After the second solvent mixture was separated as waste, the silicone

wristbands were kept in the amber jar at 4°C. The Soxhlet system was tested as the third pre-cleaning approach. The initial process in this setup was the washing with a mixture of 150 mL of ethyl acetate and 150 mL of n-hexane solvent (1:1, v:v) over 24 hours, with circulating observed 4-6 times per hour. In the second phase, 150 mL of ethyl acetate and 150 mL of methanol solvent were syphoned over 18 hours, with circulating observed 4-6 times per hour (see Figure 3.5). Following each step, solvents were separated as waste. The silicone wristbands were wrapped in aluminium foil and dried overnight in a fume hood. They were then kept at 4°C in an amber jar until extraction.



Figure 3.4. Pre-cleaning with vacuum oven



Figure 3.5. Pre-cleaning with Soxhlet system

The pre-cleaned wristbands were extracted with a mixture of hexane and acetone (1:1, v:v) (30 mL in the first phase and 20 mL in the second step) using the ultrasonic bath for one hour to evaluate the efficacy of the three pre-cleaning processes. The extracts were evaporated to a volume of 1 mL by a rotary evaporator. These samples were analysed in Thermo Trace Ultra gas chromatography (GC) – ISQ single quadrupole mass spectrometry (MS) instrument with EI mode. The full scan procedure began at 90°C and was held for 1 minute, then heated up at a rate of 15°C per minute to 160°C (kept for 1 minute), then 3°C per minute to 210°C (held for 1 minute), and lastly 10°C per minute to 310°C (held for 15 minutes). The range of the mass scan was set at 50-300 amu. The temperature of the MS transfer was 280°C, the temperature of the ion source was 230°C, and the inlet temperature was 250°C. The carrier gas (1.1 mL/min) was helium.

### 3.3.2 Silicone Wristband Extraction and Clean-up

First, laboratory control samples (LCS) were set up to test the extraction procedures. The method developed by O'Connell et al. (2014) for injecting known quantities of PAH, OPE, and PE chemicals into silicone wristbands was followed. Silicone wristbands cleaned with the selected precleaning process were placed separately in glass beakers, and 75 mL of methanol was added into each beaker to soak the wristbands thoroughly. PAH, OPE, and PE standard solutions were successively injected into the silicone wristbands to achieve 200 ng PAHs and 500 ng of OPEs, and PEs in the wristbands. Due to the risk of cross-contamination, the glass syringe was not allowed to contact with the wristbands throughout the injection procedure. After the injection process had been accomplished, the beakers were lightly covered with aluminium foil and kept in the dark at room temperature for 5 to 7 days to enable all the methanol to evaporate.

Previous research utilised mainly shaker and ultrasonic extraction procedures to determine SVOC concentrations in the SWs. Table 3.4. shows the extraction procedures utilised in these studies.

Type of Micropollutants	Extraction Method	Extraction Solvents	Extraction Duration and Number of Repetition	Reference
PAHs, consumer and personal care products, pesticides, PEs, and other industrial compounds	Orbital shaker - 60 rpm	100 mL ethyl acetate	Two times for 2 h	O'Connell et al., 2014
PCBs, PBDEs, OPEs Pesticides	Orbital shaker - 60 rpm	25 mL ethyl acetate	Two times for 2 h	Travis et al., 2020

Table 3.4. Some of the commonly used	l extraction	methods ir	the	literature
--------------------------------------	--------------	------------	-----	------------

(cont. on next page)

Table 3.4	. (cont.)
-----------	-----------

PBDEs, OPFRs	Orbital shaker - 60 rpm 25 mL ethyl acetate		Two times for 2 h	Kile et al., 2016
PAHs	Orbital shaker - 120 rpm	30 mL ethyl acetate	Two times for 1 h	Baum et al., 2020
PAHs, Flame retardants, Pesticides, PCBs, VOCs	Orbital shaker - 60 rpm	100 mL ethyl acetate	Two times for 2 h	Anderson et al., 2017
A total of 22 VOC and SVOC chemicals were chosen (Table 1)	Orbital shaker - 60 rpm	100 mL ethyl acetate	Two times for 2 h	O'Connell et al., 2021
PBDEs, Novel brominated flame retardants (nBFRs), PAHs, OPEs	Ultrasonic bath	30 mL a mixture of acetone and hexane (1:1, v:v), followed by 20 mL acetone and methanol mixture (1:1, v:v)	Two times for 2 h (Waited for 17 h after the first extraction process)	Wang et al., 2019
PBDEs, nFRs, OPEs, PAHs	Ultrasonic bath	30 mL a mixture of acetone and hexane (1:1, v:v), followed by 20 mL acetone and methanol mixture (1:1, v:v)	Two times for 2 h (Waited for 17 h after the first extraction process)	Romanak et al., 2019
OPEs, PEs, Nonphthalate Plasticizers	Ultrasonic bath	10 mL a mixture of dicloromethane and hexane (1:1, v:v)		Hammel et al., 2020
Brominated Flame Retardants (BFRs), OPEs, Pesticides, PEs,	Ultrasonic bath	10 mL a mixture of dicloromethane and hexane (1:1, v:v)	Three times for 15 min	Kassotis et al., 2020
PAHs	Ultrasonic bath	30 mL a mixture of acetone and hexane (1:1, v:v), followed by 20 mL acetone and methanol mixture (1:1, v:v)	Two times for 2 h (Waited for 17 h after the first extraction process)	Hendryx et al., 2020

The ultrasonic extraction method was initially tested. First, laboratory control samples were placed in 40 mL amber vials, and 200 ng of phenanthrene-d10 and perylene-d12 for PAH analysis, 200 ng or 500 of Tris(2-chloroethyl) phosphate-d12, Triphenyl phosphate-d15 for OPE analysis, and 200 or 500 ng of Dimethyl phthalate-d4, Di-n-butyl phthalate-d4, Diethylhexyl phthalate-d4 for PE analysis were added to the SWs as surrogate standards. They were first extracted for 2 hours in an ultrasonic bath using a solvent mixture of 30 mL hexane: acetone (1:1, v:v). After the first extraction, silicone wristbands were kept in this solvent mixture overnight. This solvent

mixture was then transferred to clean rotary evaporator flasks. 15 mL of hexane and 11 mL of acetone were added to the glass vials as the next solvent mixture, and they were set in an ultrasonic bath for another 2 hours. The expansion of the wristbands after the first extraction was the reason for using less acetone in the second phase. The solvent mixtures from the two processes were combined and evaporated in a rotary evaporator until their volumes were decreased to 1 mL. The ultrasonic extraction process was also tested using ethyl acetate as a solvent (30 mL, at each step). The extracts were utterly evaporated in the rotary evaporator. Afterwards, a solvent exchange was carried out by injecting 2 mL of hexane into the evaporator flask and vaporising it again to decrease it to 1 mL. The evaporated samples were put into GC vials.

The shaker extraction method was also tested. Laboratory control samples were placed in the cleaned 250 mL amber bottle and spiked with the same amount of surrogate standards with the ultrasonic extraction method. Then, 100 mL of ethyl acetate was added to the bottle. In the first step of the extraction, the shaker was set at 23°C for 2 hours at 60 rpm. After completion of the first step, the solvents were transferred to 500 mL glass flasks previously cleaned with ethyl acetate. Another 100 mL of ethyl acetate was added in the second step. The shaker was set at 23°C for 2 hours at 60 rpm. After completing the second step, they were combined with the first extraction solvents. The same procedure was tested with 1:1 (v:v) n-hexane:acetone solvent mixture.

Following extraction, the purification of extracts is needed to reduce possible interferences in the samples. Generally, 1 mm chromatographic columns were used for purification purposes. Here, a miniature version of a chromatographic column was tested to decrease the amount of adsorbent and solvents used. A small amount of cleaned glass wool (ultrasonic bath for 1 hour using acetone-hexane mixture) was placed at the bottom of the Pasteur pipette. Activated silica gel of 0.5 g (400 °C for 16 hours) was loaded to the Pasteur pipette. On top of silica gel, anhydrous sodium sulphate (400 °C for 4 hours) was added to the Pasteur pipette. 2 mL of dichloromethane (DCM) was eluted from the column for conditioning, and the collected DCM was separated as waste. Once the DCM in the column had been drained, the sample was injected, and the eluate flowing through the column was gathered in a flask. Once the sample was eluted, 2 mL of DCM was added on top of the column. These two elutions were combined as the first fraction in the same flask for PAH
analysis. Following the first fraction, 4 mL of acetone: DCM (7:3) mixture was transferred to the column, and the second fraction was collected in a separate flask for OPE and PE analysis. The first fraction was evaporated in a rotary evaporator until 1 mL. The second fraction was evaporated in the rotary evaporator until the sample evaporated. After the second fraction had been entirely evaporated, 5 mL of n-hexane was added to the flask for solvent exchange. The n-hexane was evaporated to 1 mL and taken to GC vials Before GC-MS analysis, the extracts were spiked with the internal standards p-terphenyl for the first fraction and benzo(e)pyrene-d12 for the second fraction. A similar process to the Pasteur pipette column was carried out for the chromatographic column purification method. Only the amounts of solvent and chemical were altered. 20- and 40-mL DCM were used instead of 2 and 4 mL of solvent, respectively. 5 g silica gel and 2 cm anhydrous sodium sulphate were added to the column instead of 0.5 g and 1 cm, respectively. During the personal exposure study, some OPEs and PEs were identified also in the first fraction, hence the sum of OPEs and PEs detected in two fractions were reported in the results. However, the two fractions were combined in the same flask during the school study.

## **3.3.3 PUF Extraction**

Based on prior research, pre-cleaning procedures for PUFs were used in this study (Lammel et al., 2015; Demirtepe et al., 2019; Genişoğlu et al., 2019). Tisch Environmental 1/2" Tisch TE-1014 PUF discs were cleaned in a Soxhlet system for 8 hours with 300 mL of acetone, followed by another 8 hours with 300 mL of dichloromethane. The solvents were separated as waste after the washing procedures. The cleaned PUF discs were wrapped in clean aluminium foil and dried in a 60°C oven for 16 hours. Once dried, they were stored in sealed zip lock bags at -20°C until ready for use. Two PUFs were placed in each classroom for each sampling campaign. They were collected at the end of the campaigns, wrapped in clean aluminium foil and kept in a cool box during transfer to the laboratory. After transportation, they were stored at -20°C at the laboratory until extraction. Previously developed extraction method for PUFs was validated within the scope of this study (Lammel et al., 2015; Demirtepe et

al., 2019; Genişoğlu et al., 2019). PUF samples were extracted with 350 mL of hexane and acetone mixture (1:1, v:v) using Soxhlet apparatus. The extraction process was completed after 24 hours.

Pre-cleaned glass wool was inserted in a glass chromatography column. After putting in five g of silica gel, it was topped with 2 cm of anhydrous sodium sulphate. The column was conditioned with 20 mL of dichloromethane (DCM). The sample (2-5 mL) was transferred into the column and collected in a rotary evaporator flask. Then, the first 20 mL of DCM was added, followed by a mix of 40 mL acetone: DCM (7:3, v:v) collected in a rotary evaporator flask. The eluate was evaporated in a rotary evaporator to less than 1 mL. The extracts were taken in GC vials. The internal standard p-terphenyl was spiked to the extracts before GC analysis.

## **3.3.4 Glass fiber filter Extraction**

Before sampling, the filters wrapped in aluminium foil were conditioned in a 450 °C oven for 3 hours and weighed before deployment. Then, they were stored in glass Petri dish in a desiccator until deployment. After sampling, gffs were weighed before the extraction. They were placed in 250 mL amber bottle, and 100 ng of phenanthrene-d10 and perylene-d12 for PAH analysis were spiked as surrogate standards. After the injection, a 50 mL acetone-hexane mixture (1:1, v:v) was added to the samples, and they were stored at -20 °C overnight. The gffs were extracted for 30 minutes in an ultrasonic bath. After the extraction, five g of silica gel was put in a glass chromatography column, topped by 2 cm of anhydrous sodium sulphate. The column was conditioned with 20 mL of dichloromethane (DCM). The sample was added to the column and collected in a rotary evaporator flask. Then, 20 mL of DCM was added, followed by a mix of 40 mL Acetone: DCM (7:3, v: v) into the column, and all solvents were collected in one flask. The sample was evaporated in the rotary evaporator, then taken in GC vials. The internal standard p-terphenyl for PAH analysis was spiked to the extracts before GC analysis.

## 3.3.5 Amberlite adsorbent material (XAD) Extraction

Before deployment, one gram of XAD between PUFs was washed with a 350 mL acetone-hexane mixture (1:1, v:v) using the Soxhlet system. After sampling, XADs were spiked with the same amount of surrogate standards for PAH analysis. The samples were extracted using the Soxhlet system for 24 h, similar to passive PUF samplers. After the extraction, the sample was evaporated in the rotary evaporator to less than 1 mL. The extract was taken in GC vials. The internal standard p-terphenyl for PAH analysis was spiked to the extracts before GC analysis.

#### **3.4. Instrumental Analysis**

Thermo Trace gas chromatography (GC)-ISQ mass spectrometry (MS) instrument (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.) was used to quantify PAH, OPE, and PE in samples. All target compounds were measured in electron ionisation (EI) mode using a DB5-MS ultra-inert column (Agilent Technologies Inc) (30 m x 0.25 mm x 0.25 m). The oven program used for PAH analysis was begun at 50 °C and held for 1 minute then increased to 200 °C at a rate of 25 °C/minute, then to 300 °C at a rate of 8 °C/minute (3 minutes), and eventually to 320 °C at a rate of 20 °C/minute (1 minute). The injection volume was 2 uL, the temperature of the MS transfer was 280 °C, the temperature of the ion source was 230 °C, and the temperature of the input was 295 °C. Helium was used as the carrier gas at a 1.1 mL/minute flow rate.

The oven programme for OPE and PE analyses begun at 90 °C and held for 1 minute before increasing to 170 °C at a rate of 10 °C/minute (3 minutes), then to 230 °C at a rate of 10 °C/minute (4 minutes), to 260 °C at a rate of 5 °C/minute, and finally to 300 °C at a rate of 10 °C/minute (4 minutes). The injection volume was 2 uL, the temperature of the MS transfer was 300 °C, the temperature of the ion source was 260 °C, and the temperature of the input was 280 °C.

All instrumental studies were initially performed in scan mode to determine the m/z values and retention times. SIM (selective ion monitoring) procedures were developed based on these values, and sample analyses were conducted in SIM mode. Table 3.5 shows the m/z values and retention times of the targeted and surrogate standard compounds.

ŝ	
Ч	
Ē	
23	
Ъ	
Ц	
.⊟	
D	
5	
Ξ	
<b>D</b>	
e)	
G	
ĥ	
q	
g	
0	
$\overline{\mathbf{N}}$	
5	
Ξ	
Ċ	
n	
0	
• –	
ු	
.8	
p	
u	
Q	
2	
ő	
H	
E	
ŏ	
ч	
. 2	
Ĕ	
Ð	
q	
n	
а	
S	
.2	
$\sim$	
al	
ũ	
а	
$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{S}}$	
Ϋ́	
4	
ເ່	
X	
$\mathbf{O}$	
Ľ	
£	
_	
7	
$\leq$	
$\mathcal{O}$	
$\geq$	
$\sim$	
ō	
÷	
is:	
<u> </u>	
ē	
E	
L	
10	
41	
$\mathfrak{c}$	
e)	
5	
a	
H	

,	,	Retention		,	Retention	,	,	Retention
_	lon (m/z)	time (min)	<b>Compound</b> Name	lon (m/z)	time (min)	Compound Name	lon (m/z)	time (min)
	127, 128	5.33	TEP	99, 155, 127	2.65	DMP	77, 133, 163	6.13
le	151, 152	6.91	TNBP	99, 155	7.94	DEP	149, 177	8.33
le	153, 154	7.09	TCEP-d12 (SS)	261, 263	10.1	DiBP	149, 150, 223	14.55
	165, 166	7.66	TCEP	63, 249, 143	10.34	DnBP	149, 150	17.14
-d10	188, 189	8.95	TCIPP	99, 125, 75	10.99	DMEP	149, 85, 167	20.1
ne	177, 178, 179	8.99	TDCPP-d15 (SS)	79, 81	23.14	DEEP	149, 85, 167	20.21
e	177, 178, 179	6.07	TDCIPP	75, 99	23.4	DPP (DAP)	149, 150	22.01
ne	202, 203, 203, 201, 101	11.23	TPHP-d15 (SS)	339, 341	24.42	DnHP	$149, 150, 251, \\104$	25.2
	202, 203, 203, 201, 101	11.72	TPHP	77, 325, 326	24.54	BBP	149, 206, 91	25.29
icene	226, 228, 229	14.76	TBOEP	57, 85, 125	24.88	DBEP	149, 85, 101	26.91
e	226, 228, 230	14.86	EHDPP	250, 251, 362	24.95	DcHP	149, 167	27.4
nthene	252, 126	17.58	TEHP	99, 113	25.51	DEHP	149, 167	27.66
uthene	252, 126	17.66	benzoepyrene- d12 (IS)	260, 264	29.56	DnOP	149, 150, 279	29.77
ene	126, 250, 252, 253	18.38				DNP	149, 293	32.07
12	264, 260	18.52				DMP-d4	137, 167	6.1
pyrene	138, 276, 277	21.21				DnBP-d4	153, 207	17.09
nracene	139, 278, 279	21.34				DEHP-d4	153, 207	27.64
ylene	138, 276, 277	21.95				benzo(e)pyrene- d12	260, 264	31.08
۸I	230, 231	12.25						

### **3.5. Quality Assurance Quality Control**

Quality control studies are required to assess the performance of chromatographic analyses and extraction procedures for target analytes in samples. In order to check the quality assurance throughout the study, data quality objectives have been developed. These objectives include surrogate standard recovery for all quality control and field samples, analyte recovery for laboratory control samples, and the coefficient of determination  $(R^2)$  of the calibration curve obtained for analytes in GC-MS. The United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) recommends analyte and surrogate recoveries of 70-130%, a more than 99% coefficient of determination for calibration curves, and a relative standard deviation of less than 20% to differentiate between identical samples (US EPA, 2018). Quality control studies include analysis of laboratory control samples, laboratory and field blank sample analyses, and calculating detection limit values. While the percentage recovery range provided in the US EPA's Method 8000D was 70-130%, the data quality objectives of this study has been established as 50-120%, taking into account literature studies (Young et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2019; Romanak et al., 2019) and our experimental results. The recoveries are considered acceptable if they fit within this range. Additionally,  $R^2$  of >0.99, RSD of <20% were set as the data quality objectives for GC-MS analysis.

An internal calibration with seven points was carried out for each chemical group. The calibration range for PAHs was 2 - 1000 ng/mL, while it was 2 - 400 ng/mL for surrogate standards. A seven-point calibration for OPEs was performed for 9 OPE compounds with concentrations ranging from 20 to 500 ng/mL and two surrogate standards (TCEP-d12 and TPHP-d15) with concentrations ranging from 20 to 500 ng/mL. Calibration for PEs was performed for 13 PE compounds in the range of 20 - 600 ng/mL and surrogate standards (DMP-d4, DnBP-d4, DEHP-d4) in the range of 20 - 500 ng/mL consisting of seven points. R<sup>2</sup> values more than 0.99 were obtained for all analyte compounds and surrogate standards, and RSD values were less than 20%.

Based on the US EPA's Method 8000D, the extraction and elution recoveries' were successfully identified using equations. The response factor (RF) values were computed for each target analyte relative to one of the internal standards using calibration standards, as shown below (US EPA, 2018):

$$RF = \frac{A_S C_{iS}}{A_{iS} C_S}$$
(3.1)

Where:

 $A_s$  = Analyte or surrogate peak response

 $A_{is} =$  Internal standard peak response

C<sub>s</sub> =Analyte or surrogate mass in the sample aliquot

 $C_{is}$  = Internal standard mass in the sample aliquot

RF denotes the line slope between the origin and the given standard response. The linear model is typically representative throughout the range of calibration standards if the relative standard deviation (RSD) of variance in the factors is less than 20%. In order to evaluate the calibration's linearity, the mean RF (internal standard calibration), standard deviation (SD), and RSD (also known as the coefficient of variation, CV) have been computed as follows (US EPA, 2018):

$$SD = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (RF_i - RF_i)^2}{n-1}}$$
(3.2)

mean RF = 
$$RF' = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} RF_i}{n}$$
 (3.3)

$$RSD(\%) = \frac{SD}{RF} \times 100 \tag{3.4}$$

If the RSD is less than 20% over the calibration range, the slopes of the lines for each standard are sufficiently close to one another that the linear model is typically acceptable for the range of standards analysed; RF' may be utilised for estimating sample concentrations. If all of the criteria have been satisfied, the sample amounts were calculated by using the equation (3.5). The units for analyte mass should be the same as the ones utilised for determining RFs.

$$X_{s} = \frac{A_{S}}{RF} \times \frac{C_{iS}}{A_{iS}}$$
(3.5)

Where:

Xs = Calculated mass of analyte or surrogate in sample aliquot put into instrument (ng).

As = Analyte or surrogate peak response in the sample

Ais = Internal standard peak response in the sample

Cis = Internal standard mass in sample aliquot introduced into instrument (ng)

RF' = Average RF from the most recent initial calibration.

Laboratory control samples were used to develop silicone wristband analysis procedures as explained in 3.3.2. During school environment study, field blanks were employed for silicone wristbands and PUF-PAS. Cleaned silicone wristbands and PUF disks were taken to the field. During sample collection, they were exposed to the classroom environment in one mechanical and one natural ventilation classroom. Field blank samples were collected approximately 3-5 minutes afterwards, and these samples (6 for PUF and 10 for silicone wristbands) were analysed using the same procedure as the samples. Throughout the study, laboratory blank samples were also analysed. The laboratory blank samples were used to monitor any potential interferences. No blank corrections were employed due to the absence of any identified chemicals in the blank samples.

The method detection limit (MDL) is the lowest analyte concentration that analytical equipment can consistently detect. Determining the MDL before using any analytical procedure for quantitative measurements is critical. In this case, the MDL was measured by GC-MS analysis of the lowest calibration point ten times in sequence. The standard deviation of the concentration values derived from these studies was multiplied by 2.821, the t-test coefficient for ten observations. This value accounts for measurement error, as the US EPA (2016) suggested. The Limit of Quantification (LOQ) values were calculated by multiplying MDL by 3.18. On the other hand, field blank samples were also checked to compute LOQ. The average concentrations of analytes in field blank samples plus three times their standard deviation was used as LOQ, if they exceed the LOQ computed from MDL. Table 3.6 provides MDL and LOQ values used in the analysis of PAHs, OPEs and PEs in office and school studies.

PAH	MDL	LOQ**	OPE	MDL	LOQ	PE	MDL	LOQ
Ace	183	800 (9.76)	TEP	10.10	25.43 (69.8)	DMP-d4	3.71	11.79*
Асу	3.25	6.40 (13.9)	TNBP	3.91	12.43* (54.1)	DMP	3.27	28.05 (82.6)
B(ghi)p	4.35	13.83*	TCEP-d12	5.53	17.60*	DEP	3.42	35.61 (100.8)
DbA	1.65	8.63 (1.88)	TCEP	2.82	54.01 (132.2)	DibP	3.21	26.56 (92.9)
Ind(123) pyr	2.37	7.54*	TCIPP	4.29	22.18 (83.9)	DnBP-d4	2.66	8.46*
Flu	1.90	4.76 (65.2)	TDCIPP	8.14	16.03 (41.3)	DnBP	2.57	37.16 (133.2)
Phe	1.87	5.94 (11.2)	TPHP-d15	10.83	34.45*	DEEP+DME P	11.83	25.00 (67.8)
Ant	0.89	1.68 (1.12)	TPHP	7.18	22.84* (28.5)	DPP	3.30	26.72 (59.3)
Flt	0.19	0.68 (7.14)	TBEP	18.57	59.04*	DnHP	5.54	21.50 (41.9)
Pyr	0.30	0.94 (26.3)	EHDP	3.74	17.04 (36.1)	BBP	6.92	22.02* (65.6)
BaA	0.69	2.19 (0.61)	TEHP	7.90	14.45 (31.5)	DBEP	11.55	25.33
Chr	0.05	1.62 (0.45)				DcHP	5.58	17.74* (28.6)
B(b)F+B( k)F	2.32	7.39* (36.8)				DEHP-d4	14.63	46.51*
BaP	0.82	2.62				DEHP	17.43	55.43*
Nap	19.11	165.4 (67)				DnOP	5.36	17.06*
Phe-d10	15.50	49.29*				DNP	9.60	30.52*
Pery-d12	112.3	357.1						

Table 3.6. The method detection limit (MDL) and the limit of quantification (LOQ) values for PAH, OPE, and PE compounds

\*These are the determination limit values calculated using the MDLx3.18 method. \*\* The values given in parentheses are calculated from PUF field blank samples.

## 3.6. Uptake Rate Calculation

The uptake capacities and wristband-air partitioning coefficients in school environments were determined in this study. Prior studies by Shoieb and Harner (2002), Bartkow et al. (2005), and Hazrati and Harrad (2007) revealed the SVOC uptake behavior of passive samplers.



Figure 3.6. The uptake phases of chemicals in a passive sampler (Shoieb and Harner (2002))

For linking mass transfer coefficients to rate constants, the change in concentration in the sampler  $C_S$  with time t can be defined as the difference between the uptake and elimination rates by the following equation:

$$V_{SW}\left(\frac{dC_{SW}}{dt}\right) = k_A A_{SW}\left(C_A - \left(\frac{C_{SW}}{K_{S-A}}\right)\right)$$
(3.6)

The air side mass transfer velocities are represented by  $k_A$  (cm s<sup>-1</sup>). The target analyte concentration (ng cm<sup>-3</sup>) in the air being sampled is denoted by  $C_A$ , the sampler (SW) volume (cm<sup>3</sup>) by V<sub>SW</sub>, and the concentration of analyte in the sampler SW (ng cm<sup>-</sup> <sup>3</sup>) by C<sub>SW</sub>, aAccording to Shoeib and Harner (2002). A small "C<sub>SW</sub>/K<sub>S-A</sub>" value indicates that uptake is theoretically linear and dependent on  $k_A$ , A<sub>SW</sub>, and C<sub>A</sub>. Equation 3.6 may be solved analytically to obtain a more accurate representation of the uptake profile:

$$C_{SW} = K_{SA}C_A(1 - exp\left(-\left(\frac{A_{SW}}{V_{SW}}\frac{k_A}{K_{SA}}\right)t\right))$$
(3.7)

The equation 3.7 resembles the first-order rate equation:

$$ln\left(\frac{c_{SW}}{c_0}\right) = -k_u t \tag{3.8}$$

where the uptake rate as a constant  $k_u$  (time<sup>-1</sup>) is  $k_u = (A_{SW}/V_{SW})(k_A/K_{S-A})$ . The equilibrium concentration of SVOCs which reached the equilibrium phase can then be estimated using the equation 3.9, according to Frederiksen et al. (2022):

$$C = C_{\infty} \left( 1 - \exp(-k_u t) \right) \tag{3.9}$$

where C denotes the concentration [ng/g] in the wristband at a specific moment, t [d].  $C_{\infty}$  [ng/g] is the equilibrium concentration, and k<sub>u</sub> is the rate constant [d-1]. The time it takes the wristband to reach equilibrium was determined as t<sub>95</sub>, the time it takes to attain 95% of  $C_{\infty}$ :

$$t_{95} = \frac{-\ln 0.05}{k_u} \tag{3.10}$$

Shoeib and Harner (2002) arbitrarily determined  $t_{25}$  as the upper bound of the linear phase. Hence in this study, it was utilised as an indication of the length of the kinetic phase. Using:

$$t_{25} = \frac{-\ln 0.75}{k_u} \tag{3.11}$$

The sampling rate of the passive sampler may be determined by

$$R = k_u K_{SA} V_{PSM} \tag{3.12}$$

Where R denotes the sampling rate  $[m^3/d]$ ,

For the SVOCs which cannot reach equilibrium and stayed at the uptake phase throughout the sampling period, the concentration in the sampler may follow zero order kinetics, as described by Sedlackova et al.:

$$C = C_0 - kt \tag{3.13}$$

The uptake rate for the compounds following Equation 3.7 can be estimated by calibrating it against the concentration of an active air sample or PUF, where a steady concentration of air was assumed.

$$R = \frac{n_{ps}}{c_{air}\Delta t}$$
(3.14)

 $n_{ps}$  is the amount of these compounds in the passive sampler,  $C_{air}$  is the amount of these compounds in the air detected by active sampling  $[ng/m^3]$  or PUF  $[ng/m^3]$ .

Sampling of SVOCs with  $K_{oa} > 10^7$  like PAH, OPE, and Pes on a suitable passive sampler medium in the linear phase is air-side controlled, so the mass transfer coefficient (MTC), also known as the dry gaseous deposition velocity, can be approximated to the air-side mass transfer coefficient,  $k_a$  [m/d] (Shoeib and Harner, 2002):

$$MTC \approx k_a = \frac{R}{A_{SW}}$$
(3.15)

Where  $A_{SW}$  is the sampler's surface area [m<sup>2</sup>], involving both the inner and outer surface since both sideswere assumed to collect SVOCs. The sampling rates were estimated separately for each PAH congener on each wristband. Additionally, theresults of kinetic study were utilised to observe the use of varying methods (i.e. Equations 3.9 and 3.13) in uptake rate constant and sampling rate calculations for the PAH compounds reaching equilibrium during the 36-day sampling campaigns.

#### **3.7. Exposure and Health Risk Assessment**

The process of determining or assessing the size, frequency, and duration of people's exposure to an agent in the environment is known as exposure assessment (USEPA, 1992). The exposure pathways are inhalation, ingestion, and skin contact. The objective of this investigation focuses on inhalation exposure of SVOCs in the classrooms by schoolchildren.

The exposure by inhalation was assessed using the amounts of chemicals detected and determined using integrated active and passive samplers in indoor environments and using the formula given by the US EPA (US EPA, 2011):

Lifetime daily inhalation exposure:

$$CDI_{inhalation} = \frac{Ci \times IR_{inhal.} \times EF \times ED \times ET}{BW \times AT}$$
(3.16)

Table 3.7 demonstrates the exposure assessment parameters and required information, including inhalation rate, exposure time, and body weight depending on age groups and gender, retrieved from the Exposure Factors Handbook (US EPA, 2011), IRIS database for risk factors and toxicological attributes, and literature reviews.

 Table 3.7. Exposure parameters and factors used to estimation of exposure, chronic toxic effect, and incremental lifetime cancer risk assessment.

Parameters	Abbr.	Units	Variables	Reference & Notes
Exposure frequency	EF	days/year	180	School days in one year
Exposure duration	ED	year	4	Education duration in Turkey
Daily exposure time	ET	h/d	4	Daily class hours
Body weight	BW	kg	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 15.95 & (3^{th}) & - \\ 20.65 & (50^{th}) & - \\ 27.8 & (95^{th}) \end{array}$	Neyzi et al., 2015
Averaging time	AT	days/year	28287.5	Life expectancy 77.5 years in Turkey (TUIK, 2018)
Inhalation rate	IR <sub>inhalation</sub>	m³/day	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 10.08 & (5^{th}) & - \\ 13.09 & (50^{th}) & - \\ 17.73 & (95^{th}) & \end{array}$	(US EPA, 2011)
SF (inhalation) of BaP	$\mathrm{SF}_{\mathrm{BaP}}$	(mg/kg-day) <sup>-1</sup>	3.9	US EPA, 2021
Reference concentration (BaP)	RfC	mg/kg-day	2.00E-06	IRIS Database US EPA

The lifetime average daily dose (LADD) of SVOCs to which children are exposed via inhalation were calculated separately for the targeted individual OPE and PE compounds. In contrast, the carcinogenic risk associated with PAH compound exposure were assessed by calculating the equivalent concentration of benzo(a)pyrene (BaP) as the total PAH exposure dose. The BaP equivalent concentrations for PAH compounds were calculated by multiplying the concentration of each component by the toxic equivalency factors (TEFs) provided by Nisbet and LaGoy (1992). The toxic equivalency coefficients are represented in Table 3.8.

$$BaP_{equi} = \Sigma C_{PAHs} * TEFs$$
(3.17)

PAH Commonia	Toxic equivalency	PAH Common d	Toxic equivalency
Compound	lactors (1EF)	Compound	lactors (1EF)
Nap	0.001	BaA	0.1
Ace	0.001	Chr	0.01
Acy	0.001	B(b)f	0.1
Flu	0.001	B(k)f	0.1
Phe	0.001	BaP	1
Ant	0.01	Ind(1,2,3)pyr	0.1
Flt	0.001	B(g,h,i)p	0.01
Pyr	0.001	DbA	5 <sup>a</sup>

Table 3.8. Toxic equivalency factors for PAHs (Nisbet and Lagoy, 1992)

<sup>a</sup> A TEF of 1 appears acceptable for high DbA doses, while a TEF of 5 is more likely relevant to environmental exposures (chemical-related tumour incidence rate of less than 25%).

Moreover, the carcinogenic risk associated with PAH compound inhalation exposure was determined using the formula in Equation 3.18 (US EPA, 2005).

$$R = LADD \times SF \tag{3.18}$$

Where R is the cancer risk, SF is the slope factor of BaP, and LADD in the units of mg/kg-day. The slope factor for BaP is given in Table 3.7.

## **3.8. Statistical Analysis**

All the data obtained in the study were statistically analysed using Python 3, IBM SPSS 25, and web-based, open-source Jupyter Notebook programs. During the study, Python libraries such as Statsmodel, Numpy, Seaborn, Pandas, SciPy, Matplotlib, and Pingouin were frequently used in conjunction to accomplish extensive data analysis and visualisation tasks in Python. The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to determine the data's normality. Non-parametric tests were performed when the data did not fit a normal distribution, and the correlation between the data was analysed using Spearman. Also, the differences between the data were analysed using the Mann-Whitney U or Kruskal-Wallis test. Differences between dependent variables, such as SVOC air concentrations under ventilation and temperature conditions, were examined using one-way analysis of variance (One-way ANOVA). The correlations and differences were deemed significant if the p-value was less than 0.05.

# **CHAPTER 4**

# **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

## 4.1. Method Development

## **4.1.1 Precleaning Method**

To develop the precleaning method three methods, i.e. cleaning using Soxhlet apparatus, vacuum oven, and horizontal shaker, were tested. Full scan analysis of precleaned wristbands in GC-MS yielded chromatograms shown in Figures 4.1, 4.2, and 4.3 for the vacuum oven horizontal shaker Soxhlet apparatus methods, respectively. When the chromatograms were examined, the highest peak ratio in the vacuum oven and horizontal shaker methods were observed as 1one billion, while the highest peak ratio in the Soxhlet method was 120 million. In addition, the number of peaks appearing as contaminants was also less in the Soxhlet method than in the others. Therefore, the Soxhlet precleaning method was selected as the method for cleaning silicone wristbands before use in further studies.



Figure 4.1. The chromatogram of the precleaning method with a vacuum oven



Figure 4.2. The chromatogram of the precleaning method with horizontal shaker



Figure 4.3. The chromatogram of the precleaning method with Soxhlet

## 4.1.2 Extraction Method

In order to test the extraction methods, laboratory control samples (LCS) were prepared along with solvent blanks and precleaned unspiked silicone wristbands.

The first extraction method tested was the ultrasonic extraction method, which was widely used in many studies (Wang et al., 2019; Hammel et al., 2020; Kassotis et al., 2020; Romanak et al., 2019; Hendryx et al., 2020). The second method was the horizontal shaker method, which has also been used in many studies (O'Connell et al., 2014; Kile et al., 2016; Anderson et al., 2017; Travis et al., 2020; Baum et al., 2020). The results of the tested extraction methods in terms of average per cent recovery are presented in Figure 4.4 and Tables 4.1, 4.2, and 4.3 for PAH, OPE, and PE, respectively. The US EPA recommends a 70-130% recovery range in the 8000D Chromatographic Analysis Method (US EPA, 2018). When all the results were compared, it was found that out of the total 44 chemical compounds determined as target and surrogate standards (SS), 22 showed lower recovery in the ultrasonic bath method, and two PE compounds (DEP and BBP) exceeded the acceptable recovery range at 142% and 140%, respectively. For most of the PAHs, shaker extraction gave better recoveries than ultrasonic extraction, however for OPEs and PEs, shaker extraction resulted in very low

recoveries. Therefore, the ultrasonic bath extraction method was selected for SVOC analysis in SWs. Additionally, differences were observed between the use of hexane: acetone and ethyl acetate solvents. Only 8 out of the 44 measured chemical compounds showed higher recovery using ethyl acetate in the ultrasonic bath method. Therefore, using a hexane and acetone solvent mixture in the ultrasonic bath extraction method resulted in higher recovery than the other tested methods. However, as can be seen from Tables 4.1, 4.2, and 4.3, most compounds were out of the 70-130% recovery range, especially below 70%. For PAHs, this range was found to be between 21.8 - 84.5%(Acy) and 42.9 - 102.4% (BaP), for OPEs between 35 - 41.7% (TEHP) and 3.81 - 151% (TBOEP), and for PEs between 11.8 - 141.6% (DEP). The PAH surrogate standards showed a recovery range between 47.1 - 72.8% (Phe-d10) and 44.9 - 73.5% (Pery-d12). The PE surrogate standards showed a recovery range between 36.2 - 114.4% (DMPd4), 18 - 70.8% (DnBP-d4) and 20.8 - 78.2% (DEHP-d4). The OPE surrogate standards showed a recovery range between 55.2 - 133.5% (TCEP-d12) and 50.7 - 84.4% (TPHP-d15). Previous studies also observed low recoveries for the same compounds. Using the ultrasonic extraction method, Romanak et al. (2019) obtained recoveries as low as 57±8% (Acy) for PAH compounds, in the LCS analysis. Wang et al. (2019) reported a surrogate standard recovery range of 50-120% for all samples. Furthermore, Acy, TNBP, TCPP, and TEP had recoveries of 58.7%, 47.5%, 52.8%, and 57.8%, respectively, in matrix injection samples (Wang et al., 2019). Compared to the results of similar studies in the literature, it was observed that Acy consistently exhibited low recovery among PAH compounds, and some OPE compounds showed recoveries decreasing to around 50%. Young et al. (2021) utilized the ultrasonic extraction method with a mixture of hexane and dichloromethane solvents. In the study by Young et al. (2021), deuterated surrogate standards for DMP-d4 and DEP-d4 showed recovery of 31±10% and 41±13%, respectively, for all samples. Consequently, the acceptable recovery range was set between 50-120% within the scope of this study.

PAH Compound	Ultrasonic Bath Hex:Ace Mixture (%mean ± std.dev)	Ultrasonic Bath Ethyl acetate (%mean ± std.dev)	Horizontal Shaker Hex:Ace Mixture (%mean ± std.dev)	Horizontal Shaker Ethyl acetate (%mean ± std.dev)
Phe-d10	$59.5 \pm 8.3$	52.4±20.0	72.8±5.56	47.1±4.6
Pery-D12	$62.9\pm5.0$	60.9±25.6	73.5±3.69	44.9±8.4
Nap	$84.4\pm29.9$	69.3±31.4	65.7±14.4	71.8±5.4
Ace	$71.2 \pm 11.8$	61.3±23.3	83.6±9.35	57.1±4.8
Асу	$21.8\pm7.6$	29.1±10.9	84.5±13.3	31.9±7.1
Flu	$66.0 \pm 9.0$	57.8±21.5	80.4±9.17	54.0±5.3
Phe	$58.3\pm6.7$	51.4±20.7	69.6±5.61	46.2±4.6
Ant	$46.6\pm4.7$	40.4±16.6	81.3±4.74	32.7±4.8
Flt	$55.0 \pm 3.2$	49.0±20.3	63.6±1.69	43.4±3.7
Pyr	$58.6 \pm 2.2$	52.2±21.9	59.6±1.79	44.8±3.7
BaA	$73.9\pm5.6$	68.3±28.8	56.5±1.99	55.8±4.4
Chr	$82.4 \pm 5.3$	78.6±32.5	63.2±1.73	67.6±6.6
BbF	$88.6 \pm 9.2$	86.4±36.0	99.2±6.00	$74.8 \pm 8.0$
BkF	$75.5\pm6.9$	74.1±30.8	84.6±4.00	63.4±6.8
BaP	$59.9\pm4.8$	59.3±24.9	102.4±5.1	42.9±5.2
I(123)P	$60.4 \pm 33.0$	76.2±31.2	99.3±6.45	62.6±6.9
B(ghi)P	$77.1 \pm 5.0$	77.9±32.6	60.7±3.55	65.3±6.9
DbA	85.9 ± 9.1	86.5±35.8	95.8±5.95	71.7±7.5

Table 4.1. The recovery efficiencies of PAH compounds to determine extraction methods by used SW LCS (n=3)

Table 4.2. The recovery efficiencies of OPE compounds to determine extraction methods by used SW LCS (n=3)

OPE Compound	Ultrasonic Bath Hex:Ace Mixture (%mean ± std.dev)	Ultrasonic Bath Ethyl acetate (%mean ± std.dev)	Horizontal Shaker Hex:Ace Mixture (%mean ± std.dev)	Horizontal Shaker Ethyl acetate (%mean ± std.dev)
TCEP-d12	$133.5 \pm 18.1$	118.3±55.1	58.4±2.63	55.2±7.5
TPHP-d15	$84.4\pm4.5$	69.8±32.4	69.7±3.4	50.7±2.9
TNBP	$117.0\pm16.8$	85.8±48.7	29.4±8.66	57.6±19.2
TCEP	$59.9 \pm 15.1$	6.8±4.5	5.19±2.81	18.0±11.8
TCIPP	$69.6\pm9.2$	19.9±17.4	70.7±9.48	27.1±12.1
TDCIPP	$57.2 \pm 2.8$	34.8±20.6	13.8±6.62	35.4±9.5
TPHP	$64.3 \pm 2.2$	41.5±25.9	52.5±15.0	46.9±19.1
TBOEP	$82.7\pm6.6$	60.9±40.2	3.81±1.28	151.0±40.0
EHDPP	$68.7\pm4.7$	60.2±27.5	58.0±3.54	52.9±12.6
TEHP	$41.7 \pm 2.1$	43.0±15.9	37.9±1.92	35.0±9.1

PE Compound	Ultrasonic Bath Hex:Ace Mixture (%mean ± std.dev)	Ultrasonic Bath Ethyl acetate (%mean ± std.dev)	Horizontal Shaker Hex:Ace Mixture (%mean ± std.dev)	Horizontal Shaker Ethyl acetate (%mean ± std.dev)
DMP-d4	$109.2\pm17.8$	$114.4\pm47.4$	87.1±5.26	36.2±0.6
DnBP-d4	$60.6 \pm 11.3$	$56.7 \pm 16.3$	70.8±2.08	18.0±1.2
DEHP-d4	$78.2\pm7.8$	$68.2\pm32.1$	59.3±2.31	20.8±1.5
DMP	$81.5 \pm 11.4$	$63.3\pm46.3$	24.0±13.9	38.6±19.1
DEP	$141.6 \pm 21.6$	$93.8\pm89.1$	11.8±10.8	55.2±28.3
DiBP	$96.9 \pm 16.7$	$73.7 \pm 39.5$	92.9±11.8	28.9±6.5
DnBP	$74.3 \pm 13.7$	55 ± 27.5	19.8±6.2	27.6±3.5
DMEP	$68.9 \pm 11.1$	$51.6\pm22.02$	29.4±4.7	24.0±5.6
DEEP	$56.01 \pm 8.76$	$41.6 \pm 17.6$	22.3±3.5	18.7±4.4
DPP	$64.6\pm8.88$	$45.3 \pm 18.6$	71.8±3.08	19.3±4.8
BBP	$139.5 \pm 12.6$	$102\pm47.1$	46.5±5.77	25.4±5.7
DBEP	$55.3\pm9.6$	$36.3 \pm 19.4$	36.5±9.51	50.4±9.7
DcHP	$67.4 \pm 8.35$	$43.2\pm16.8$	64.3±2.46	22.2±5.6
DEHP	$75.35 \pm 8.88$	49.9 ± 18.03	145.5±4.71	45.1±17.8
DnOP	$49.6 \pm 2.7$	$50.2 \pm 19.4$	67.4±2.54	45.4±12.0
DNP	$66.23 \pm 3.9$	$47.8\pm20.2$	103.9±5.78	52.3±13.7

Table 4.3. The recovery efficiencies of PE compounds to determine extraction methods by used SW LCS (n=3)



Figure 4.4. The mean recovery efficiencies of PAH, OPE and PE compounds

Purification following extraction is a commonly used method for the targeted chemical compounds. Conventional chromatography columns containing silica gel and Pasteur pipet columns containing silica gel were tested as purification of extracts. The purpose was to develop a more cost-effective method by reducing the amounts of silica gel and elution solvents used in the chromatography column while maintaining similar efficiency. The results of the tested purification methods are presented as mean percentage recovery efficiencies for PAH, OPE, and PE compounds in Figure 4.5 and Tables 4.4, 4.5, and 4.6, respectively. Upon reviewing Table 4.4, it was observed that the mean recoveries for SS are above 80% for both methods. Specifically, PAH compounds showed recovery ranges of 51.6% (B(k)F) to 162.2% (DbA) and 62.3% (DbA) to 86.8% (Nap), for conventional and Pasteur pipette chromatography columns, respectively. Examination of individual compounds revealed that the recoveries for most PAH compounds are comparable between the two methods. Similarly, Table 4.5 indicated that both methods' OPE SS average recoveries were above 70%. The results obtained from the chromatography column ranged from 56.8% (TPHP) to 139.2% (TBOEP), while those from the Pasteur pipette column ranged from 76.9% (TCEP) to 140.9% (TBOEP). Comparable results were obtained for individual OPE compounds as observed in PAHs. Lastly, for PE SS mean recoveries were 42.7% to 84.5% and at 57.9% to 80.3%, for conventional and the Pasteur pipette columns, respectively (Table 4.8). The recoveries of individual PEs ranged from 52% (DNP) to 98.1% (DEP) for conventional column, while the results from the Pasteur pipette column ranged from 61.8% (DEP) to 83.1% (DBEP). Upon comparing individual PE compounds, it was noted that the Pasteur pipette column had better recoveries for some compounds. Overall, the results indicated that recoveries obtained with the Pasteur pipette column, which consumed minor silica gel and sodium sulphate, were comparable with the chromatography column. The Pasteur pipette column occasionally demonstrated higher recoveries for certain OPE and PE compounds. Therefore, the Pasteur pipette purification column method was selected and employed in this study.

PAH Compound	Purification Recovery with Chromatograph (%mean±std.dev)	Purification Recovery with Pasteur Pipette (%mean±std.dev)
Ace	84.5±7.4	80.1±20.1
Acy	70.0±4.9	77.5±21.3
Bpe	97.5±15.9	67.3±27.3
DbA	162.2±27.0	62.3±22.8
IP	88.4±4.4	65.8±26.9
Fl	90.5±6.9	84.4±17.6
Phe	85.2±10.4	78.0±13.7
Ant	79.2±14.4	71.9±16.2
Fth	72.0±6.7	72.1±16.0
Pyr	72.6±3.5	71.7±15.8
BaA	134.9±8.6	69.9±8.0
Chr	63.8±7.4	72.3±8.9
B(b)F	74.8±6.9	70.5±22.8
B(k)F	51.6±4.9	68.7±19.3
BaP	86.3±9.6	66.3±18.9
Phe-d10 (SS)	94.4±12.2	$80.9 \pm 15.0$
Nap	99.2±8.1	86.8±17.9
Pery-d12 (SS)	106.0±10.7	81.1±44.4

Table 4.4. The recovery efficiencies of PAH compounds to determine purification methods

Table 4.5. The recovery efficiencies of OPE compounds to determine purification methods

OPE Compound	Purification Recovery with Chromatograph (%mean±std.dev)	Purification Recovery with Pasteur Pipette (%mean±std.dev)
TPHP	56.8±5.0	78.4±1.7
TCEP	82.5±8.8	76.9±1.5
TCIPP	84.1±6.2	84.1±6.6
TBOEP	139.2±52.4	140.9±31.1
EHDPP	80.5±7.4	93.8±2.6
TDCIPP	92.6±7.0	106.4±6.4
TNBP	103.6±7.1	97.0±5.8
TEHP	92.2±4.7	108.4±9.4
TCEP-d12	92.2±9.9	81.2±1.4
TPHP-d15	73.3±9.5	93.2±1.6

PE Compound	Purification Recovery with Chromatograph (%mean±std.dev)	Purification Recovery with Pasteur Pipette (%mean±std.dev)
DMP	81.1±9.6	80.6±2.3
DEP	98.1±13.4	77.8±3.9
DiBP	76.8±8.6	70.1±8.1
DnBP	62.4±9.1	66.3±3.9
DMEP	76.8±6.9	76.8±4.5
DEEP	59.6±5.2	65.7±4.1
DPP (DAP)	56.1±4.3	61.8±3.4
BBP	56.0±4.2	66.7±1.8
DBEP	66.2±2.7	83.1±4.1
DcHP	54.9±3.5	68.3±2.4
DEHP	96.6±48.8	70.7±10.4
DnOP	53.6±19.6	78.7±10.7
DNP	52.0±25.9	76.7±9.0
DMP-d4	84.5±9.4	80.3±3.5
DnBP-d4	60.6±5.9	80.1±17.3
DEHP-d4	42.7±3.8	57.9±10.6

Table 4.6. The recovery efficiencies of PE compounds to determine purification methods



Figure 4.5. The mean recovery efficiencies of PAH, OPE and PE compounds

The last step in method validation was to test the complete extraction procedure. Tables 4.7, 4.8 and Figure 4.6 exhibit the results from extraction of silicone wristband LCSs for PAH, OPE and PE compounds. The result of PAH compounds in Table 4.7 indicated that the average recoveries ranged between 78.8% (Ant) to 104.1% (BbF). Moreover, Phe-d10 and Pery-d12 mean recoveries were 82.1% and 75%, respectively. Table 4.7 indicated that TCEP-d12 and TPHP-d15 average recoveries were 77.3% and 81.9%, respectively, while OPE compounds demonstrated that the mean recoveries ranged between 43.7% (TCPP) to 90.9% (TPHP). Eventually, DMP-d4, DnBP-d4 and DEHP-d4 average recoveries were 112.1%, 49.3% and 50.0%. The mean recoveries of individual PE compounds were in the range of 44.9% (DEEP) to 139.4% (DMP). Figure 4.4 compares the extraction efficiencies of compound groups, all of which lied within the acceptable recovery range of this study.

РАН	%Recovery ± std.dev	РАН	% Recovery ± std.dev
Phe-d10	82.1 ± 4.5	Pery-d12	75 ± 12.5
Nap	$79.8\pm0.79$	BaA	$92.3\pm8.01$
Ace	$81.9\pm0.20$	Chr	$89.7\pm9.64$
Асу	$79.6\pm0.19$	B(b)F	$104.1 \pm 16.46$
Flu	$93.0 \pm 11.01$	B(k)F	$96.8\pm23.72$
Phe	$79.7 \pm 10.88$	BaP	$82.4\pm4.91$
Ant	$78.8 \pm 5.02$	I(1,2,3)p	$79.7\pm7.12$
Flt	$81.7\pm6.78$	B(g,h,i)p	83.0 ± 5.84
Pyr	$85.9\pm6.89$	DbA	$86.4\pm6.10$

Table 4.7. The mean recovery efficiencies of PAH compounds for SW LCS (n=3)

Table 4.8.	The average	recovery ef	ficiencies	of OPE and	l PE compou	nds for SW	LCS
	(n=3)						

PE	%Recovery ± std.dev	OPE	% Recovery ± std.dev
DMP-d4	112.1 ± 18.3	TCEP-d12	77.3 ± 18.0
DnBP-d4	49.3 ± 3.2	TPHP-d15	81.9 ± 5.6
DEHP-d4	50.0 ± 1.0	TNBP	47.7 ± 5.3
DMP	139.4 ± 22.2	TCEP	$78.1 \pm 30.1$
DEP	80.9 ± 14.4	TEP	81.4 ± 21.3
DiBP	52.1 ± 6.9	TCIPP	$43.7\pm0.2$
DnBP	51.0 ± 23.1	TDCIPP	$45.8\pm3.1$
DMEP	$62.0 \pm 12.6$	TPHP	90.9 ± 3.6
DEEP	$44.9\pm3.8$	EHDPP	$59.8 \pm 4.3$
DPP	53.1 ± 18.2	TEHP	53.3 ± 2.1
BBP	66.9 ± 7.5		·
DHP	84.2 ± 14.3		
DBEP	57.7 ± 18.0		
DcHP	55.8 ± 18.1		
DEHP	54.5 ± 11.1		
DnOP	$121.9 \pm 12.0$		
DNP	$76.0 \pm 5.3$		



Figure 4.6. The average recovery efficiencies of PAH, OPE and PE compounds for SW LCS (n=3)

# 4.2. Personal Exposure Study and SVOCs in Office Air

# 4.2.1 The determination of PAH concentrations in the office environment:

The detected PAH compound concentrations in silicone wristbands, which were hung in offices in the Engineering Faculty C Building of İzmir Institute of Technology (IZTECH), are presented in Table 4.9. Compounds with concentrations below the method detection limit (MDL) and the limit of quantification (LOQ) values provided in Table 3.6 are not reported. PAH compounds falling below the MDL value include Chrysene, Benz(a)anthracene, Benzo(a)pyrene, Benzo(ghi)perylene, Benzo(b+k)fluoranthene, and Indeno(123cd)pyrene. Consequently, eight PAH compounds exceeding the limit of quantification have been identified (Table 3.6). Low molecular weight PAH compounds (2 and 3 ringed) demonstrate higher concentrations than high molecular weight ones (5 or more ringed). As the molecular weight of PAH compounds increases, it is anticipated that their log Koa values also increase, indicating a lesser preference for the air phase. Therefore, high molecular weight (5 or more ringed) PAH compounds have given results below detection limits.

Office	Nap	Acy	Ace	Flu	Ant	Phe	Flt	Pyr	ΣΡΑΗ
B202	3.898	1.787	2.809	5.949	3.806	8.417	1.913	2.475	31.05
B203	<idl< td=""><td>1.313</td><td>4.147</td><td>4.445</td><td>1.663</td><td>8.114</td><td>2.179</td><td>2.811</td><td>25.02</td></idl<>	1.313	4.147	4.445	1.663	8.114	2.179	2.811	25.02
B204	5.046	1.507	6.118	7.623	2.393	14.67	3.229	4.545	45.13
B205	3.587	1.692	4.708	4.434	3.881	12.47	1.752	2.764	35.29
B206	4.355	3.719	8.509	7.076	3.752	14.85	2.540	3.458	48.27
C204	4.372	1.568	3.403	5.163	1.555	11.34	2.035	1.304	30.74
C206	5.534	2.594	4.248	9.297	2.195	17.17	3.720	2.357	47.11
C219	12.74	1.764	4.837	8.246	1.940	12.18	1.772	2.060	45.54
C223	3.978	3.575	3.844	8.106	0.677	8.54	1.662	1.291	31.67
C224	4.356	3.076	3.868	6.816	0.989	9.19	1.464	1.559	31.32
D202	<idl< td=""><td><loq< td=""><td>1.858</td><td>3.162</td><td>0.873</td><td>6.69</td><td>2.100</td><td>2.485</td><td>17.60</td></loq<></td></idl<>	<loq< td=""><td>1.858</td><td>3.162</td><td>0.873</td><td>6.69</td><td>2.100</td><td>2.485</td><td>17.60</td></loq<>	1.858	3.162	0.873	6.69	2.100	2.485	17.60
D203	<idl< td=""><td><loq< td=""><td>2.034</td><td>2.338</td><td>0.874</td><td>6.22</td><td>2.424</td><td>3.151</td><td>17.47</td></loq<></td></idl<>	<loq< td=""><td>2.034</td><td>2.338</td><td>0.874</td><td>6.22</td><td>2.424</td><td>3.151</td><td>17.47</td></loq<>	2.034	2.338	0.874	6.22	2.424	3.151	17.47
D204	<loq< td=""><td><loq< td=""><td>2.437</td><td>5.922</td><td>1.528</td><td>10.89</td><td>2.008</td><td>2.739</td><td>25.96</td></loq<></td></loq<>	<loq< td=""><td>2.437</td><td>5.922</td><td>1.528</td><td>10.89</td><td>2.008</td><td>2.739</td><td>25.96</td></loq<>	2.437	5.922	1.528	10.89	2.008	2.739	25.96
Mean	3.791	1.756	4.063	6.045	2.010	10.826	2.215	2.538	33.24
Median	3.978	1.692	3.868	5.949	1.663	10.894	2.035	2.485	31.50
Detection									
Frequency (%)	69	77	100	100	100	100	100	100	

Table 4. 9. The PAH concentrations in the office environment by using SWs (ng/g wristband)



Figure 4.7. The comparison of concentration among PAH compounds in offices

The offices where silicone wristband samplers were placed include offices without a central ventilation system and are ventilated solely through natural ventilation (D-Offices, n=3). Offices B and C have both central and natural ventilation. When examining the statistical relationship between the total concentrations of PAH compounds in the three offices with only natural ventilation and the ten offices with both natural and mechanical ventilation, it was found that the concentrations in the offices with natural ventilation were significantly lower (Kruskal-Wallis test, p=0.013, confidence interval  $\alpha$ =0.05). This finding may also be linked to the orientation of the offices with natural ventilation facing away from traffic flow. Hence, a comparison between the façade directions of the offices was made (Figure 4.8). As can be seen in Figure 4.8, the lowest average concentration was found in offices facing south. While there was no statistically significant difference between the mean concentrations of the offices facing east and north, the difference between the mean concentrations of the offices facing south and the offices facing the other directions was statistically significant (Kruskal Wallis test, test confidence interval  $\alpha$ =0.05, p=0.02). Since traffic emissions are one of the most important sources of PAHs (Dubowsky et al., 1999), the impact of traffic on indoor air quality in north and east facing offices was clearly demonstrated.



Figure 4.8. The comparison of office PAH compound concentrations with office facades

According to a study, the concentration of 16 PAH compounds emitted from computers ranged from 4296 to 8406 ng/computer (mean = 6466 ng/computer) (Seo et al., 2022). Therefore, the statistical relationship between the number of computers in the offices where samplers were placed, and the concentrations of PAH compounds was examined. It was found that there was no significant correlation between the number of computers and the concentrations of individual or total PAH compounds. Additionally, the average total PAH concentration in offices with two computers (28.67 ng/g wristband) was lower than in offices with one computer (36.10 ng/g wristband). Although this difference was statistically significant (Figure 6, Mann-Whitney U test, p = 0.00001, U-value = 169.0), the hypothesis behind this examination was not verified.



Figure 4.9. The comparison of the total PAH compound concentrations in offices with office computers (laptops + desktops)

In light of these evaluations, the transport of PAH compounds from the external environment to the indoor environment in the offices on our university campus were deemed to have a more significant impact.

## 4.2.2 The concentrations of OPE compounds in the office environment:

OPE compounds falling below the MDL and LOQ values were not reported. The OPEs below the MDL include TDCPP, TPHP, EHDPP, and TEHP. Consequently, four OPE compounds were identified above the detection limits (Table 4.10).

SWs	(ng/g wristba	ind)			
Office	TEP	TNBP	TCEP	TCPP	ΣΟΡΕ
B202	138.38	72.42	186.78	287.45	685.03
B203	146.18	56.35	98.46	50.89	351.88
B204	25.44	58.63	81.76	19.25	185.08
B205	22.43	57.07	80.71	199.27	359.48
B206	22.22	55.07	71.09	38.75	187.13
C204	20.09	68.98	89.20	430.92	609.19

Table 4.10. The OPE concentrations in the office environment by using

(cont. on next page)

C206	19.89	59.03	101.71	70.64	251.26
C219	71.74	52.99	60.13	261.97	446.83
C223	64.73	58.70	50.39	54.04	227.85
C224	19.33	49.42	50.69	34.91	154.34
D202	16.22	54.50	34.80	313.34	418.86
D203	13.91	43.28	39.94	475.69	572.81
D204	13.46	248.11	40.29	431.81	733.67
Mean	45.70	71.89	75.84	205.30	398.72
Median	22.22	57.07	71.09	199.27	359.48

Table 4.10. (cont.)

As depicted in Figure 4.10, TCPP demonstrates the widest range and highest concentration among the measured OPE compounds in the offices. TEP, on the other hand, has the lowest concentration. The average percentages of TEP, TNBP, TCEP, and TCIPP in the air phase in the office environment, relative to the total OPE compounds, were found to be 11.5%, 18%, 19%, and 51.5%, respectively. Similarly, in offices at the University of Birmingham in the United Kingdom, TCIPP had the highest concentration among airborne OPEs, followed by TCEP and TNBP (Ortiz & Harrad, 2023).



Figure 4.10. The comparison of concentration among OPE compounds in offices

When examining the effect of ventilation type on OPE concentrations in offices, it was observed that the average total OPE concentrations in offices with only natural ventilation (575.1 ng/g wristband) were higher than those in offices with both natural and central ventilation (345.8 ng/g wristband). However, this relationship was not statistically significant (Kruskal Wallis test, p=0.09). OPEs detected in indoor environments are generally derived from indoor materials and products rather than outdoor sources. Ventilation with clean air is expected to reduce these compounds' concentrations. Therefore, lower OPE concentrations are expected in naturally and centrally ventilated offices. However, a larger sample size of sampled offices is necessary to reach a more precise conclusion. Office B202 was identified as one of the offices with the highest total OPE concentrations. The elevated OPE levels in office B202 were attributed to four electronic devices (computer, monitor, printer), an average surface area of 19.31 m<sup>2</sup> of suspended ceiling tiles (upper surface PVC vinyl coating), a whiteboard, and five office furniture items.

In offices, electronic devices (laptops, desktop computers, monitors, printers, and photocopiers) could be a source of OPEs. Offices B202, D203, and C219, which have four to five electronic devices, had higher OPE concentrations than other offices. However, no statistically significant relationships were found between the number of electronic devices and OPE concentrations (Kruskal Wallis test, p>0.05). Similarly, the relationship between the area of the bookshelf and table, which may contain OPE compounds due to the application of polishing materials, and the number of furniture pieces treated with flame retardants and OPE concentrations were investigated. However, no significant correlations were found (Spearman correlation, p>0.05). Finally, the relationship between whiteboards in offices and OPE concentrations was examined. Accordingly, no statistically significant differences were found in the individual OPE compounds and total OPE concentrations between offices with and without whiteboards (Mann-Whitney U test, p>0.05). Therefore, it can be speculated that all possible indoor sources collectively affected the OPE levels in the air phase in offices, and increasing the sample size is necessary for meaningful analyses based on a single source.

## **4.2.3 PE concentrations in the office environment:**

The concentrations of PE compounds in the office air environment were assessed by silicone wristbands. The concentrations of PE compounds are presented in Table 4.11. PE compounds falling below the MDL and LOQ values were DMEP, DEEP, DPP, DnHP, DBEP, DcHP, DnOP, and DNP. Subsequently, statistical analyses were conducted based on the concentrations of the 7 PE compounds exceeding the detection limits.

Office	DMP	DEP	DiBP	DnBP	BBP	DEHP	DEHTP	ΣΡΕ
B202	14.20	577.4	431.3	164.6	33.46	23.81	35.44	1280
B203	17.41	169.5	103.1	259.4	28.24	30.45	33.84	642.0
B204	17.53	685.7	358.3	81.24	49.93	35.09	63.78	1292
B205	16.22	483.6	356.2	75.59	31.51	22.36	40.94	1026
B206	15.29	254.0	330.1	73.72	42.00	28.53	28.25	771.9
C204	20.01	502.7	316.2	91.35	10.46	29.96	38.34	1009
C206	15.90	154.9	673.2	80.74	14.97	39.25	32.97	1012
C219	18.09	253.7	542.0	88.73	15.19	51.01	24.50	993.2
C223	20.60	563.0	795.2	98.70	13.69	76.91	21.59	1590
C224	15.69	148.8	454	98.39	7.516	32.92	29.5	787.2
D202	19.85	258.4	453.8	79.33	6.905	133.6	48.05	1000
D203	17.68	209.4	352.7	361.9	8.382	60.71	88.28	1099
D204	22.80	388.0	648.8	99.27	6.099	93.62	36.75	1295
Mean	17.79	357.6	447.3	127.1	20.64	50.64	40.17	1061
Median	17.53	258.4	431.3	91.35	14.97	35.09	35.44	1012

Table 4.11. The concentrations of PE compounds in office environment in SWs (ng/g wristband)

Figure 4.11 illustrates a box plot showing the concentrations of PE compounds measured in offices. DiBP has the highest mean concentration among these compounds, while DMP has the lowest. The compounds DiBP, DEP, and DNBP, which exhibit the highest concentrations, have average occurrence percentages of 42%, 33.7%, and 12% in the office environment, respectively.



Figure 4.11. The comparison of concentrations among PE compounds in offices

When examining the effect of ventilation type on PE concentrations in offices, it was observed that the average total PE concentrations in offices with natural ventilation only (1131 ng/g wristband) were higher than those in offices with both natural and central ventilation (1040 ng/g wristband). Nevertheless, this relationship was not statistically significant (Kruskal Wallis test, p > 0.05). Similar to OPEs, PEs are more likely to originate from indoor materials and products than outdoor sources. These products commonly include PVC-containing plastic items, adhesives, vinyl and tile flooring materials, paints, inks, lacquers, room fragrances, and perfumes (URL1). When comparing PE concentrations in offices, it can be suggested that the intensive use of photocopiers and printers in Office C223, which had the highest concentration, might indicate toner and cartridge use as the primary source, especially considering the presence DiBP in inks (URL1). Office B202, on the other hand, was one of the offices with the highest total PE, particularly DEP, DNBP, and DIBP concentrations. More electronic devices (computers, monitors, printers) continuously used air fresheners, and one carpet in this office suggested that they could be significant sources of indoor pollutants.

All offices are covered with floor tiles. Therefore, the size of the area covered by floor tiles may affect the PE concentrations in office air. When examining the relation between office area and PE concentrations, statistically significant and strong positive

correlations were found between DMP (r=0.69), DEHP (r=0.68), and total PE (r=0.65) concentrations and office area (Spearman correlation, p<0.05). Thus, it can be said that tile material is an important factor affecting PE concentrations in offices.

The electronic devices in offices (laptops, desktop computers, monitor, printers, and photocopiers) may be a source of PE due to the plastic materials in their content. However, statistically significant relationships between the number of electronic devices and PE concentrations could not be found (Kruskal-Wallis, p>0.05). Only for DNBP concentrations showed an increasing profile with an increase in the number of electronic devices (Figure 4.12). This situation indicated that electronic equipment was one of the significant sources of DNBP. Similarly, the relationship between cupboard area and PE concentrations was investigated due to varnish materials containing PE compounds on the cupboards, but no significant connection was found (Spearman correlation, p>0.05). Finally, the relationship between the presence of a whiteboard in offices and PE concentrations was examined. For most individual PE compounds and total PE concentrations, no statistically significant difference was found between offices with and without a whiteboard (Mann-Whitney U test, p>0.05). Only for the DEHTP compound, higher concentrations were observed in offices with a whiteboard (n=4) compared to those without (n=9) (Mann-Whitney U test, p>0.05). As a result, it has been demonstrated in this study that the presence of PE compounds in the office air phase originated from materials and products used indoors. Increasing the sample size would be necessary to achieve more conclusive results.



Figure 4.12. The variation in DNBP concentration regarding the number of electronic devices
# 4.2.4 The determination of PAH concentrations by using SWs as a novel personal passive sampler

The descriptive statistics for the individual PAH concentrations measured in SWs worn by the academic personel, i.e. the residents of the offices presented in Sections 4.2.1 - 4.2.3. are presented in Table 4.12. The highest concentration was observed for Acy, followed by pyrene, and phenanthrene. Correlations among PAH compounds in the worn SW yielded significant relations between Ace and Pyr (r=0.63), Phe and Ant (r=0.62), indicating similar sources for these compounds. Also, a significant correlation between office air and SW concentrations was found for Ace (r=0.59). Hence, it can be speculated that Ace exposure of office workers might be influenced by Ace concentration in the office air. The relations between the PAH concentrations and the participant information were investigated. Accordingly, heating type used in the participants' homes (natural gas, coal, electricity) and location of homes (sub-urban vs urban) were not able to significantly explain the PAH concentrations in the silicone wristbands.

	Mean	SD	Min	Median	Max	Detection frequency
Nan	12.3	14.4	<1.00	7.08	50.7	(%)
	212.5	95.7	92.3	215.4	382.9	100
Ace	6.43	6.62	< <u>MDL</u>	5.11	14.9	50
Flu	4.07	4.21	<loq< td=""><td>3.21</td><td>16.7</td><td>92</td></loq<>	3.21	16.7	92
Phe	41.8	34.4	2.93	35.6	112.2	100
Ant	39.0	35.1	1.81	28.6	126.2	100
Flt	16.5	19.0	0.81	7.51	59.4	100
Pyr	58.9	46.0	12.6	42.8	154.5	100
BaA	2.97	2.88	<mdl< td=""><td>2.42</td><td>9.32</td><td>83</td></mdl<>	2.42	9.32	83
Chr	2.22	1.63	0.35	1.70	5.67	100
B(b)f	103.7	90.2	3.45	76.7	239.8	100
B(k)f	101.1	140.3	1.07	47.5	498.6	100
Bap	33.9	22.0	9.68	28.9	66.3	100
IcdPyr	28.7	22.3	<loq< td=""><td>19.7</td><td>65.7</td><td>92</td></loq<>	19.7	65.7	92
Daant	43.0	51.7	<loq< td=""><td>21.6</td><td>176.4</td><td>75</td></loq<>	21.6	176.4	75
BghiP	3.31	3.18	<mdl< td=""><td>2.49</td><td>9.72</td><td>58</td></mdl<>	2.49	9.72	58

Table 4.12. The descriptive statistics PAH concentrations with SW as a personal sampler (ng/g wristband)

When comparing the concentrations of PAH compounds measured in silicone wristbands used as personal samplers over seven days with those reported by Young et al. (2021), it was found that the median concentrations of Ace, Flu, Phe, Ant, Flt, BaA, and Chr were higher than that of the present study.



Figure 4.13. The comparison of PAH concentrations in gender with SW as a personal sampler

As shown in Figure 4.13, the median concentration values of Acy, BbF, and BkF for male participants are 242.3, 164.3, and 134.3 ng/g wristband, respectively, with the highest concentration range among these three compounds. For female participants, the median concentration values of Acy, BbF, and Pyr are 146.3, 32.2, and 23.50, respectively, with the highest concentration range among these three compounds.

According to the Mann-Whitney test conducted between the two groups, a statistically significant difference was found (U-value: 5704, p-value: 3.13E-32). However, increasing the sample size is necessary for more accurate results. Statistically, no significant differences were found among the concentrations of PAHs in silicone wristbands (SWs) used as personal samplers and the time spent daily at home, in the office, outdoors, or in public transportation or private vehicles (Kruskal-Wallis test, p-value > 0.05). It is necessary to increase the sample size to obtain more accurate results.

# 4.2.5 The determination of OPE concentrations using SWs as a novel personal passive sampler

The descriptive statistics detailing the individual OPE concentrations obtained from SWs worn by office occupants are delineated in Table 4.13. TBEP exhibited the highest concentration, succeeded by TCEP and TPHP. Notably, no observable correlation was observed between OPE compounds in the worn SW samples and the indoor air of the office environment. This absence of correlation suggests the potential presence of distinct sources for these compounds.

	Mean	SD	Min	Median	Max	Detection frequency (%)
EHDP	17.31	20.55	0.4925	13.11	70.7	100
TBEP	921.4	773.9	296.8	599.9	2450	100
TCEP	443.0	157.2	169.0	482.2	658.8	100
TCIPP	49.70	38.36	15.75	32.31	129.4	100
TDCIPP	35.29	34.80	7.503	20.90	115.6	100

Table 4.13. The descriptive statistics OPE concentrations with SW as a personal sampler (ng/g wristband)

(cont. on next page)

### Table 4.13. (cont.)

TEHP	17.64	11.01	6.034	15.62	43.63	100
TNBP	45.66	59.30	3.558	20.91	202.3	100
TPHP	43.28	25.41	12.61	38.80	83.17	100

Upon comparison of the concentrations of OPE compounds measured in silicone wristbands used as personal samplers over seven days with those reported by Gibson et al. (2019), it was observed that the median concentrations of TPHP and TDCPP for mother participants (399 ng/g wristband and 163.5 ng/g wristband, respectively) and for children participants (440 ng/g wristband and 390.5 ng/g wristband, respectively) exceeded those in the present study. Similarly, in the study by Craig et al. (2019), the median concentration values of TPHP were measured at 132 ng/g wristband when worn and 257 ng/g wristband when pinned, surpassing the results of this study. Furthermore, the concentration of TEHP for children was higher than that in the present study. Travis et al. (2020) reported higher median concentration values for EHDPP and TCPP at 290 ng/g wristband and 208 ng/g wristband, respectively, compared to the findings of this study. According to Hammel et al. (2020), concentrations of TPHP, TDCPP, and EHDPP were measured at 872.9 ng/g wristband, 179.7 ng/g wristband, and 73.61 ng/g wristband, respectively. Young et al. (2021) also investigated TCPP, TPHP, and EHDPP concentrations at 406 ng/g wristband, 185 ng/g wristband, and 73.4 ng/g wristband, respectively. In the present study, TBEP, TCEP, and TPHP concentrations were 599 ng/g wristband, 482.2 ng/g wristband, and 38.80 ng/g wristband, respectively. In this study, TBEP, TCEP, and TPHP concentrations were comparatively lower.

From a statistical perspective, no notable variances were detected in the concentrations of OPEs within SWs utilized as personal sampling devices and the duration spent daily at home, in the office, outdoors, or while utilizing public transportation or private vehicles (Kruskal-Wallis test, p-value > 0.05). A larger sample size would be critical to have more precise outcomes.

# 4.2.6 The PE concentrations using SWs as a novel personal passive sampler

Table 4.14 presents PE concentrations observed in the SWs worn by the participants of this study. DEHP had the highest median concentration, followed by DEP and DiBP. Notable differences occur when comparing the concentrations of DEHP, DiBP, DnBP, and DEP measured in silicone wristbands (SWs) as a personal sampler across different studies. In the study by Young et al. (2021), the concentrations were found to be 79000, 8720, 5470, and 2030 ng/g wristband, respectively. Conversely, Hammel et al. (2020) reported lower concentrations, with 9010 ng/g values for DEHP, 1059 ng/g for BBP and DiBP, and 739.1 ng/g for DEP. Craig et al. (2019) observed 42.4 ng/g concentrations for DEHP worn on the SW and 251 ng/g for DEHP pinned on the lapel where nail saloon workers were the participants. These variations in concentration levels across studies highlighted the importance of considering different methodologies, sampling techniques, and environmental factors when interpreting and comparing results.

Statistically, no significant differences were observed in the concentrations of PEs measured in silicone wristbands (SWs) used as personal sampling devices and the time allocated daily for activities at home, in the office, outdoors, or during the use of public transportation or private vehicles (Kruskal-Wallis test, p-value > 0.05).

	Mean	SD	Min	Median	Max	Detection frequency (%)
BBP	33.07	21.93	14.62	27.21	92.92	100
DBEP	71.30	26.49	41.09	65.49	126.25	100

Table 4.14. The descriptive statistics PE concentrations with SW as a personal sampler (ng/g wristband)

(cont. on next page)

### Table 4.14. (cont.)

DEHP	10494	3181	4143	10696	14057	100
DEP	6312	5020	670.7	5866	17384	100
DMEP	99.74	109	19.76	66.98	418.2	100
DMP	88.72	40.76	24.96	86.33	159.3	100
DNP	62.25	37.22	30.84	51.48	160	100
DPP	15.44	4.107	10.46	14.97	23.54	100
DiBP	1611.34	509.8	641.54	1576	2721	100
DcHP	37.61	12.48	19.53	35.91	58.30	100
DnBP	414.8	657.8	0.7295	103.7	2940	92
DnOP	35.17	22.20	15.09	28.57	92.40	100

## 4.3. PAHs in Primary School Classroom Air

Indoor air samples were collected from five classrooms of Nihat Gündüz Primary School in Bornova, İzmir, using passive samplers, i.e. PUFs and SWs. The samplers were deployed for around 36 days in each sampling campaign covering winter, spring and summer seasons. Tables 4.15 and 4.16 report the descriptive statistics for the individual PAHs concentrations, while the average concentrations of total PAHs in SWs and PUF samplers are presented in Table 4.18. Moreover, Figures 4.14 and 4.15 compare the average concentrations of each PAH in each campaign collected by SWs and PUF samplers, respectively. Among the 16 PAH compounds, the concentrations of Nap, BaP, B(b)F, B(k)F, Bpe, DbA, and IPyr were not reported as they were either below the MDL or LOQ values. Consequently, 8 PAH compounds exceeding the quantitation limits were identified in SW and PUF samples from kindergarten and 2B (mechanically ventilated) and 1A, 2A, and 3A (naturally ventilated) classrooms. Given that the log Koa values of PAH compounds increase with molecular weight, it was expected that they did not prefer to be in the air phase. Therefore, results below the detection limits were observed for higher molecular weight (5 or more ringed) PAH compounds. Additionally, differences were noted for individual PAH compounds in SWs and PUFs for mechanically and naturally ventilated classrooms. However, no statistically significant differences were observed for 8 PAH compounds (p>0.05). Nevertheless, it can be stated that phenanthrene, fluoranthene, and pyrene levels were higher in the mechanically ventilated classrooms (Figure 4.16).

Among the PAH compounds, phenanthrene exhibited the highest median concentrations of 70.1 ng/g silicone wristband (SW), 34.2 ng/g SW, and 18.1 ng/g SW during the first, second and third sampling campaigns, respectively. Fluorene followed with median concentrations of 19.0, 8.14, and 3.7 ng/g SW, and fluoranthene had the third highest concentration among PAHs observed in SWs. The concentrations of these compounds followed the same order in PUFs as well. The concentration of phenanthrene in PUF were 16.20 ng/m3, 5.22 ng/m3, and 4.04 ng/m3 for the consecutive campaigns. These concentrations were compared with previous studies which reported PAHs in school environments (Table 4.17). The acenaphthene concentrations were found to be below those reported in the USA (Wilson et al 2003). Regarding phenanthrene, the concentration in the first campaign exceeded that reported in France (Raffy et al. 2016). However, it was lower than that in the USA (Wilson et al 2003).

PAHs	Sampling		at d dam	<b>•</b>	500/	
	Campaign	mean	stu.uev.		50%	max
	1	2.864	1.053	1.45	2.765	7.75
Acenaphthene	2	2.117	0.601	1.03	2.120	4.26
	3	1.875	0.532	0.86	1.845	3.53
	1	11.08	4.527	4.86	10.49	20.52
Acenaphthylene	2	4.549	2.193	0.96	4.075	10.60
	3	1.601	0.664	0.57	1.505	3.02
	1	4.403	2.185	0.61	4.650	9.25
Anthracene	2	3.309	1.721	0.99	2.775	8.21
	3	0.762	0.218	0.20	0.765	1.16
Chursono	2	0.841	0.536	0.14	0.780	2.08
Chyrsene	3	0.386	0.209	0.11	0.330	0.87
	1	16.01	7.488	5.20	15.29	37.51
Fluoranthene	2	9.244	4.921	2.26	7.975	22.28
	3	4.883	2.194	1.64	4.900	9.43
	1	19.18	4.693	11.48	18.96	32.64
Fluorene	2	7.831	1.706	3.80	8.14	11.07
	3	4.346	2.020	2.59	3.705	13.32
	1	67.60	14.63	33.77	70.05	91.84
Phenanthrene	2	36.29	11.52	16.00	34.21	61.76
	3	17.48	4.784	9.87	18.11	30.37
	1	9.638	4.925	2.87	8.935	24.35
Pyrene	2	5.329	2.799	1.47	4.37	11.40
	3	2.407	1.635	0.69	2.085	8.89

## Table 4.15. The PAH concentrations for each sampling campaigns using SW

PAHs	Sampling	mean	std. dev.	min	50%	max
		1 280	0 3496	0.89	1 20	1.82
Acenaphthene	2	0.250	0.0426	0.09	0.26	0.40
<b>F</b>	2	0.350	0.0430	0.30	0.30	0.40
	5	0.450	0.05	0.40	0.40	0.40
A <b>1</b> / <b>1</b>	1	4.918	1.388	2.87	4.84	6.49
Acenaphthylene	2	0.470	0.175	0.31	0.42	0.67
	3	0.294	0.0344	0.26	0.28	0.34
	1	1.496	0.2065	1.35	1.43	1.86
Anthracene	2	0.406	0.1352	0.27	0.37	0.63
	3	0.252	0.0432	0.19	0.26	0.30
	1	0.268	0.0853	0.17	0.24	0.38
Chyrsene	2	0.170	0.0464	0.11	0.17	0.22
	3	0.108	0.0259	0.08	0.10	0.14
	1	2.986	0.7853	1.88	3.10	4.07
Fluoranthene	2	1.290	0.3798	0.83	1.15	1.81
	3	0.822	0.1964	0.59	0.75	1.06
	1	6.838	1.295	5.31	6.62	8.88
Fluorene	2	1.636	0.1665	1.44	1.73	1.78
	3	1.162	0.0844	1.08	1.12	1.28
	1	16.32	2.978	12.91	16.20	19.95
Phenanthrene	2	5.170	0.6921	4.18	5.22	5.90
	3	4.048	0.3907	3.51	4.04	4.47
	1	1.996	0.5435	1.35	1.98	2.85
Pyrene	2	0.760	0.2188	0.50	0.68	1.03
	3	0.400	0.1037	0.32	0.34	0.56

## Table 4.16. The PAH concentrations for each sampling campaigns using PUF

\_\_\_\_\_

	Nap	Acy	Ace	Flu	Phe	Ant	Flt	Pyr	Chr	Reference
USA	564	2.96	26	6.09	17.4	0.68	0.71	0.364	0.099	Wilson et al 2003
France			5.5	8.7						Raffy et al. 2016
Algeria	L		6.8	24	0.53	1.6	1.4	0.22		Boudehane et al 2016
France			1.9	7.2	10.9	0.5	0.7	0.6		Wei et al 2020

Table 4.17. The PAH concentrations (ng/m<sup>3</sup>) observed in the school environment by previous studies



Figure 4.14. The mean PAH concentrations for each sampling campaigns using SW



Figure 4.15. The mean PAH concentrations for each sampling campaigns using PUF



Figure 4.16. The mean PAH concentrations for each sampling campaigns with ventilation type using SW

During the three sampling campaigns, temperatures were recorded, and comparisons were made between the average indoor and outdoor temperatures. The Mann-Whitney U test results indicated that there was no statistically significant difference between the average indoor and outdoor temperatures for both the first (C1) and second (C2) campaigns, when the heating system was on for approximately six hours (U = 100, p-value = 0.052). Similarly, for the third campaign, when heating system was off, the indoor and outdoor temperatures did not show a statistically significant difference (U = 77, p-value = 0.06). The average outdoor temperatures were 13.1°C, 17.2°C and 25 °C for the consecutive campaigns.

Figure 4.17 shows the accumulation of total PAHs in SW and in PUF at the end of each campaign with respect to the average outdoor temperatures. The concentration levels in SW and PUF across three distinct seasons exhibited a declining trend from winter to summer. This phenomenon was hypothesized to stem from the migration of outdoor pollutants to indoor, largely attributed to the heating systems in winter times. In the vicinity of the school, residential heating included both biomass burning and natural gas systems.



Figure 4.17. The sum of PAH concentrations for each classroom using SW and PUF at three average sampling campaigns' outdoor temperatures

The potential impact of seasonal variations, Koa of the compounds, meteorological parameters, encompassing wind speed and direction, and duration of the sampling on the gas phase concentration of PAHs in the SW was investigated by employing multiple linear regression (MLR) analysis. To achieve this, three cases were generated and corresponding equations were obtained as shown in Table 4.18. The first case was related to predominant wind direction  $(wd, \circ)$  and speed (u, m/s). The second case included wind direction, speed, and temperature (T, Kelvin) in reciprocal form. The last case considered the wind direction, speed, temperature, ventilation type (VT, categorical data), sample collection duration (t, days), and Log Koa parameters investigate their impact on concentration. As a result, the PAH concentrations in SW explained approximately 56% of the variability using Equation 4.1, and 61% of the variability using equation 4.3. Hence, adding more parameters to the model did not result in a significant increase in the model fit. Hence, Equation 4.1., which included wind speed and wind direction provided a practical and pragmatic approach to explain the PAH concentrations in the school classrooms. The adjusted R-squared values for the equations were slightly lower than the R-squared, which was expected due to the model's moderate complexity. However, given the model's simplicity, the adjusted Rsquared values were nearly equivalent to the R-squared. The F-statistic for the model was 588.5, with a probability of  $3.78 \times 10^{-165}$ , indicating a p-value less than 0.05. Consequently, the model demonstrated strong statistical significance, suggesting that the predictors contributed significantly to predicting the response variable beyond random chance.

Equation	$m_1$	<i>m</i> <sub>2</sub>	$m_3$	$m_4$	$m_5$	$m_6$	$R^2$
$lnC = m_1 u + m_2 \cos(wd)$	0.35	0.26					0.56
Eqn. 4.1							
$lnC = m_1 u + m_2 \cos(wd) + m_3 \frac{1}{T}$	0.15	-	1184				0.58
Eqn. 4.2		0.48					
$lnC = m_1 u + m_2 \cos(wd) +$	0.01	-	1799	-	-	0.02	0.61
$m_3 \frac{1}{T} + m_4 VT + m_5 Log K_{oa} +$		0.63		0.25	0.19		
$m_6 t$ Eqn. 4.3							

Table 4.18. The three different cases were corresponding equations and parameters

Classroom	Sampling Campaign	Mean Outdoor Temperature (°C)	ΣPAH SW Concentration (ng/g wristband)	ΣPAH PUF Concentration (ng/m3)
1A	1	13.07	146.16	31.98
2A	1	13.07	155.64	43.27
2B	1	13.07	136.14	36.06
3A	1	13.07	138.6	30.82
Kindergarten	1	13.07	169.77	42.63
1A	2	17.21	65.75	8.31
2A	2	17.21	70.28	10.41
2B	2	17.21	103.55	11.77
3A	2	17.21	52.59	9.24
Kindergarten	2	17.21	97.48	11.53
1A	3	25.04	41.31	6.62
2A	3	25.04	41.51	8.17
2B	3	25.04	42.54	6.99
3A	3	25.04	40.2	7.31
Kindergarten	3	25.04	41.6	8.59

Table 4.19. The sum of PAH concentrations at each classroom using SW and PUF

### 4.4 Uptake Capacity of SW

The daily variation of PAH compounds in silicone wristbands was investigated graphically and through modelling. The individual PAH compounds were analyzed involving all data from the classrooms and the sampling campaigns (Figures 4.18 and 4.19). Figure 4.18 demonstrates that acenaphthene, acenaphthylene, fluorene, phenanthrene, and anthracene exhibited a concentration profile with an initial increase and reaching an equilibrium. Hence, it can be speculated that for a period of 36 days, these compounds achieved to follow the uptake profile in a passive sampler proposed by Shoieb and Harner (2002) (Figure 3.5). The change in concentration with time in SW followed the equation 3.6, and the concentrations can be fitted to equation 3.9 for acenaphthene, acenaphthylene, fluorene, phenanthrene, and anthracene. Using a non-linear regression model,  $C_{\infty}$  (C<sub>inf</sub>) and k<sub>u</sub> were determined (Table 4.20). Using equation 3.10, the time it takes the wristband to reach equilibrium was also determined as t<sub>95</sub>. It was observed that the t<sub>95</sub> values of the compounds remained below the 36-day sampling

duration. As a result, equilibrium was reached for the five PAH compounds. However, fluoranthene, chrysene, and pyrene exhibited a continuously increasing profile as observed in Figure 4.18. Hence, for these compounds linear uptake phase was deemed to continue. Then, equation 3.13 was used to estimate  $k_u$ , and  $C_0$  ( $C_{int}$ ) (Table 4.21). These three compounds did not reach equilibrium throughout the sampling period, indicating that their concentration levels varied. Consequently, compounds with lower molecular weights reached equilibrium rapidly, while three-ring PAH compounds such as phenanthrene and anthracene reached equilibrium with an increasing concentration over time starting from the 30th day, and four-ring PAH compounds mostly failed to reach equilibrium during the sampling period.





Figure 4.18. The uptake profile for 5 PAHs compounds, which reached equilibrium with used non-linear model



Figure 4.19. The uptake profile for 3 PAHs compounds, which did not reach equilibrium with used linear model

The sampling rates of each PAH compound using silicone wristbands were calculated using two different methods (Equations 3.12 and 3.14) and using PUF and XAD gas phase PAH concentrations (Table 4.12). The sampling rate values calculated according to Sedlackova et al. (2021) using equation 3.12, were higher than those according to Frederiksen et al. (2022) using equation 3.14. Furthermore, the sampling rates calibrated using PUF concentrations were higher than the sampling rate calibrated using XAD. Specifically for Ace, Acy and Flu, the sampling rates differed on one order of magnitude basis. The reason for this observation was the difference between gas phase concentrations measured using PUF and XAD. PUF concentrations represented a 36-day deployment period, while XAD concentrations were calculated considering a 24-hour active sampling. Having higher volatility compared to other PAHs, Acy, Ace and Flu might be affected by the deployment period of the samplers, since for these compounds two-weeks of PUF exposure time was deemed sufficient (Bohlin et al., 2014). Moreover, the Ksa were calculated by calibrating both XAD and PUF concentrations, which fall within the range specified by Tromp et al. (2019), where another type of silicone wristbands was investigated in a chamber experiment. For PAHs that did not reach equilibrium (Table 4.21), both methods used by Sedlackova et al. (2021) and Frederiksen et al. (2022), the sampling rates were found to be close to each other. For these compounds, Ksa values could not be calculated.

A kinetic study was also conducted in a classroom with doors and windows closed for nine days. Due to the short duration of this study, all PAH compounds were in the linear uptake phase of the SW. According to the results of the kinetic study, the sampling rate values calculated using Equations 3.12 and 3.14 were found to be very close to each other, as presented in Table 4.22. There was one order of magnitude difference between PUF and XAD calibrated sampling rates of Ace, Acy and Flu, a similar observation with the sampling campaigns. It was observed that the PUF calibrated sampling rates decreased from compounds with lower molecular weights to those with higher ones.

Table 4.20. The comparison of  $C\infty$  (Cinf),  $k_u$ , sampling rate and  $K_{sa}$  value in the literature by the used non-linear model

						Camp	aign 1-2-3 (C <sub>1</sub>	: = C∞ ∗(1 - ex]	p(-k <sub>u</sub> *t)))				
	ku	tzs	tos	$\mathbf{C}_{\infty}$ (ng/g)	CXAD-air (ng/m3)	CPUF-air (ng/m3)	Sampling Rate (R <sub>XAD</sub> ) (m <sup>3</sup> /d) (Sedlacko va et al., 2021)	Sampling Rate (RPUF) (m <sup>3</sup> /d) (Sedlacko va et al., 2021)	Sampling Rate (Rxab) $(m^3/d)$ (Frederiks en et al., 2022)	Sampling Rate (RPUF) (m <sup>3</sup> /d (Frederiks en et al., 2022)	Ksa Log(C <sub>x</sub> / CXAD-air)	Ksa Log(C <sub>x</sub> / CPUF-air)	Ksa Tromp et al., 2019 (mean ± std dev)
Acy	0.23	1.25	13.02	6.01	5.17	0.29	1.464	25.93	0.010	0.174	6.18	7.43	5.66 ± 1.57
Ace	0.14	2.05	21.40	2.57	3.90	0.45	0.5060	4.394	0.015	0.132	5.93	6.87	$5.80 \pm 1.34$
Flu	0.23	1.25	13.02	10.92	5.18	1.16	2.657	11.84	0.020	0.091	6.44	7.09	$6.22 \pm 1.41$
Phe	0.10	2.97	30.88	49.86	4.61	4.05	5.752	6.550	0.126	0.143	7.15	7.20	$6.69\pm0.46$
Ant	0.10	2.88	29.96	3.48	0.69	0.25	2.771	7.497	0.032	0.087	6.82	7.25	$7.02 \pm 1.62$

Table 4.21. The comparison of C<sub>0</sub> (Cint), k, sampling rate and K<sub>sa</sub> value in the literature by the used linear model

						Camp	oaign 1-2-3 (C = 0	Co - kt)			
	k	t <sub>25</sub>	tos	C <sub>0</sub> (ng/g)	CXAD-air (ng/m3)	CPUF-air (ng/m3)	Sampling Rate (R <sub>XAD</sub> ) (m <sup>3</sup> /d) (Sedlackova et al., 2021)	Sampling Rate (RPUF) (m <sup>3</sup> /d) (Sedlackova et al., 2021)	Sampling Rate (R <sub>XAD</sub> ) (m <sup>3</sup> /d) (Frederiksen et al., 2022)	Sampling Rate (R <sub>PUF</sub> ) (m <sup>3</sup> /d) (Frederiksen et al., 2022)	k <sub>sa</sub> Tromp et al., 2019 (mean ± std dev)
Flt	0.36	0.80	8.32	2.40	0.75	0.82	0.48	0.44	0.2834	0.258	$7.53 \pm 0.34$
Pyr	0.20	1.44	14.98	1.64	0.81	0.40	0.25	0.50	0.1267	0.256	$7.65 \pm 0.27$
Chr	0.03	9.59	99.86	0.08	0.06	0.11	0.50	0.28	0.31	0.173	

Table 4.22. The comparison of C<sub>0</sub> (Cint), k, sampling rate and K<sub>sa</sub> value in the literature by the used linear model

					1	Ginetic Study (	$C = \mathbf{C}_0 - \mathbf{k}\mathbf{t})$			
	×	t25	tos	C <sub>0</sub> (ng/g)	CxAD-air (ng/m3)	C <sub>PUF-air</sub> (ng/m3)	Sampling Rate (R <sub>XAD</sub> ) (m <sup>3</sup> /d) (Sedlackova et al., 2021)	Sampling Rate (R <sub>PUF</sub> ) (m <sup>3</sup> /d) (Sedlackova et al., 2021)	Sampling Rate $(R_{XAD})$ $(m^3/d)$ (Frederiksen et al., 2022)	Sampling Rate ( $R_{PUF}$ ) ( $m^3/d$ ) (Frederiksen et al., 2022)
Acy	0.12	2.34	24.36	3.56	3.81	0.26	0.032	0.470	0.032	0.468
Ace	0.14	2.12	22.03	0.08	2.55	0.45	0.053	0.303	0.052	0.293

(cont. on next page)

Table 4.22. (cont.)

Flu	0.31	0.93	99.6	0.18	3.39	1.22	0.092	0.254	0.085	0.237
Phe	1.03	0.28	2.91	0.76	3.08	4.37	0.334	0.236	0.284	0.201
Ant	0.08	3.55	36.98	0.04	0.53	0.30	0.153	0.269	0.132	0.232
Flt	0.20	1.44	14.98	0.36	<loq< th=""><th>0.99</th><th></th><th>0.203</th><th></th><th>0.150</th></loq<>	0.99		0.203		0.150
Pyr	0.04	7.57	78.84	0.06	0.50	0.45	0.08	0.08	0.082	0.090

### 4.5. Human Exposure Assessment

The issue of indoor air quality in schools poses a significant concern from a social perspective, especially in primary educational institutions where children spend a substantial portion of their day. Children, being more susceptible to pollutants due to higher inhalation rates, are particularly vulnerable. Prior studies have demonstrated that indoor air pollution within school environments, even at low concentrations, can lead to various health issues, reduced productivity, adverse effects on academic performance, and compromised mental well-being among children (Mohai et al., 2011). Given their adverse health effects, especially on young individuals, PAHs emerge as one of the most concerning contaminants in schools. Adolescents, with their higher rates of respiration and increased physical activity, are particularly at risk of exposure to hazardous pollutant compounds compared to adults (Pohl et al., 2005; Pohl and Abadin 2008).

This study used indoor air concentrations in PUF samples to compute daily and chronic toxic exposures and lifetime cancer risk (R) assessments. The study employed three distinct scenarios and adopted a deterministic approach due to the singular school setting, consistent location, and uniform age range. These were associated with the exposure of 15 PAHs, where B(bk)F represented the combined concentrations of Benzo(b)fluoranthene and Benzo(k)fluoranthene through the inhalation pathway. These were undertaken using concentration data collected from each classroom during each sampling campaign, focusing on the 5<sup>th</sup>, 50<sup>th</sup>, and 95<sup>th</sup> percentiles of concentration levels and exposure parameters given in Table 3.7. The 5<sup>th</sup>, 50<sup>th</sup> and 95<sup>th</sup> percentiles constituted the first, second and the third scenarios.

PAHs	1. Scenario Concentration (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	2. Scenario Concentration (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )	3. Scenario Concentration (ng/m <sup>3</sup> )
Nap	0.016	0.571	13.53
Acy	0.194	0.430	5.931
Ace	0.300	0.449	1.532
Flu	1.084	1.716	7.614
Phe	3.496	5.374	20.64
Ant	0.198	0.379	1.754
Fth	0.586	1.179	3.652
Pyr	0.320	0.701	2.413
Chr	0.081	0.163	0.347
BaA	0.023	0.104	0.201
B(bk)F	0.143	0.222	0.404
BaP	0.044	0.052	0.117
IndP	0.002	0.025	0.070
D(ah)A	0.009	0.018	0.033
B(ghi)P	0.007	0.032	0.085

Table 4.23. PAHs concentrations in primary school classrooms for three scenario

Table 4.24. BaP equivalence and daily exposure for each scenario

PAHs	Scenario 1 BaP equivalence (BaPequi)	Scenario 2 BaP equivalence (BaP <sub>equi</sub> )	Scenario 3 BaP equivalence (BaP <sub>equi</sub> )	Scenario1 Daily Exposure (ng/kg- day)	Scenario2 Daily Exposure (ng/kg- day)	Scenario3 Daily Exposure (ng/kg- day)
Nap	0.00002	0.0006	0.0135	0.00	0.00	0.06
Acy	0.00019	0.0004	0.0059	0.00	0.00	0.03
Ace	0.00030	0.0004	0.0015	0.00	0.00	0.01
Flu	0.00108	0.0017	0.0076	0.00	0.00	0.03
Phe	0.00350	0.0054	0.0206	0.01	0.01	0.09
Ant	0.00198	0.0038	0.0175	0.00	0.01	0.08
Fth	0.00059	0.0012	0.0037	0.00	0.00	0.02
Pyr	0.00032	0.0007	0.0024	0.00	0.00	0.01
Chr	0.00081	0.0016	0.0035	0.00	0.00	0.02
BaA	0.00225	0.0104	0.0201	0.00	0.03	0.09
B(bk)F	0.01434	0.0222	0.0404	0.02	0.06	0.18
BaP	0.04385	0.0520	0.1167	0.06	0.13	0.52
IndP	0.00020	0.0025	0.0070	0.00	0.01	0.03
D(ah)A	0.00895	0.0180	0.0334	0.01	0.05	0.15
B(ghi)P	0.00007	0.0003	0.0008	0.00	0.00	0.00

PAHs	Scenario 1 Chronic Toxic (ng/kg-day)	Scenario 2 Chronic Toxic (ng/kg-day)	Scenario 3 Chronic Toxic (ng/kg- day)	Scenari 1 Lifetime cancer risk (R)	Scenario 2 Lifetime cancer risk (R)	Scenario 3 Lifetime cancer risk (R)
Nap	4.87E-07	2.97E-05	1.24E-03			
Acy	5.78E-06	2.24E-05	5.42E-04			
Ace	8.95E-06	2.34E-05	1.40E-04			
Flu	3.23E-05	8.94E-05	6.96E-04			
Phe	1.04E-04	2.80E-04	1.89E-03			
Ant	5.90E-05	1.97E-04	1.60E-03			
Fth	1.75E-05	6.14E-05	3.34E-04			
Pyr	9.53E-06	3.65E-05	2.21E-04	4715 10	1.075.00	5 435 00
Chr	2.42E-05	8.49E-05	3.17E-04	4./1E-10	1.2/E-09	5.42E-09
BaA	6.71E-05	5.42E-04	1.84E-03			
B(bk)F	4.27E-04	1.15E-03	3.69E-03			
BaP	1.31E-03	2.71E-03	1.07E-02			
IndP	5.81E-06	1.30E-04	6.38E-04			
D(ah)A	2.67E-04	9.38E-04	3.05E-03			
B(ghi)P	2.18E-06	1.67E-05	7.75E-05			

Table 4.25. Chronic toxic exposure and lifetime cancer risk for each scenario

In three scenarios, the daily exposures to each PAH exceeded the chronic toxic exposure via inhalation by 98%. Lifetime cancer risk was assessed across three scenarios, considering each PAH. Table 4.24 presents the contribution of individual PAHs of BaP<sub>equi</sub> using the US EPA equation and the estimation of lifetime cancer risks for each scenario. As shown in Table 4.25, the calculated R values for the inhalation route were  $4.71 \times 10^{-10}$ ,  $1.27 \times 10^{-9}$ , and  $5.42 \times 10^{-9}$ , respectively. These findings suggested no significant risk associated with inhalation exposure to PAHs; according to the US EPA, the acceptable risk range falls between  $10^{-6}$  and  $10^{-4}$ , with values above  $10^{-4}$  indicating potential risk. Hence, the results of the three scenarios were below both  $10^{-6}$  and  $10^{-4}$ , indicating negligible risk for schoolchildren in this primary school.

## **CHAPTER 5**

## CONCLUSION

SVOCs are ubiquitously used in commercial products, such as electronic equipment, furniture, and building materials. These compounds are applied to the products as additives, hence they can easily leach out of the product and be released to the environment. Additionally, some SVOCs such as PAHs are unintentionally produced during combustion processes. Therefore, SVOCs can be found in indoor environments, even at higher concentrations than outdoor. Spending most of their time in the indoor environments, humans are exposed to a mixture of SVOCs, which might result in various health problems. Hence, assessment of human exposure to SVOCs is a critical issue regarding the health of our societies. A novel personal passive sampler material has been utilized effectively for the past ten years to assess human exposure to various SVOCs. However, this material, i.e. silicone wristband, has never been used by Turkish participants so far. More importantly, the uptake of SVOCs by the silicone wristband is still unclear in terms of the uptake rate and the time needed to reach equilibrium with air concentrations. Hence, the aim of this study was to investigate uptake characteristics of silicone wristbands and to assess the exposure of IZTECH's academic personnel to SVOCs, specifically PAHs, OPEs and PEs.

In order to quantify the SVOCs in silicone wristbands, an effective analysis method is required to be developed. As the first step in precise and accurate analysis, silicone wristbands should be precleaned to eliminate possible interferences in chromatographic analysis. Previously used methods, i.e. Soxhlet apparatus, vacuum oven and horizontal shaker, were tested and Soxhlet apparatus was found to perform better in terms of removing interferences. The second step in developing analysis method was testing various extraction methods. Within the scope of this study, ultrasonic bath and horizontal shaker extraction methods were tested using n-hexane: acetone and ethyl acetate solvents. As a result, ultrasonic extraction using n-hexane:

range of 50-130%. Although some SVOCs showed recoveries as low as 20%, previous studies also reported low recoveries for similar extraction methods. The third step in analysis was purification of extracts. Purification is generally achieved using one millimetre diameter columns involving approximately five grams of adsorbents, leading to tens of millilitres of solvents being eluted from the column. To minimize the use of these consumables with the same efficiency in terms of SVOC recovery, Pasteur pipette columns were tested using only 0.5 g of adsorbent and less than ten millilitres of solvent. Accordingly, similar or sometimes better SVOC recoveries were obtained using Pasteur pipette columns compared to conventional chromatography columns. The last step in analysis method development is to test the whole method using laboratory control samples. This analysis yielded recoveries in the range 43.7% (TDCPP) to 139.4% (DMP). Despite five SVOCs being outside of the acceptable range, most of the SVOCs complied with the given recovery criteria, hence the developed method was used in further studies.

Silicone wristbands were utilized to assess personal exposure to SVOCs for the first time in Türkiye within the scope of this study. Twelve participants from the academic personnel of IZTECH wore the wristbands for seven days. Additional silicone wristbands were also deployed in the participants' offices as indoor air samplers. As a result, acenaphthylene among PAHs, TBEOP among OPEs and DEHP among PEs were identified as the SVOCs with the highest concentration in the personal SWs worn by the academic personel of IZTECH. The collected information from the participants could not reveal particular sources for these SVOCs, however a combination of sources might have affected the concentrations. For the office environment, PAH sources could be attributed to the outdoor to indoor transport of PAHs, possibly originating from traffic emissions. On the other hand, OPE levels in the office air could not be related to any specific source. Lastly for PEs in the offices, despite absence of a statistical significance, the number of electronic equipment in the offices seemed to affect the DNBP concentrations.

To estimate the uptake rate of silicone wristbands, primary school classrooms were equipped with eight silicone wristbands and two PUF-PAS for 36 days to collect gas phase PAHs. Also, 24-hour active air samplers were operated to differentiate between gas and particle phase concentrations of PAHs in classrooms. Indoor air samples were collected from five classrooms during three sampling periods, representing winter, spring and summer seasons. As a result, PAH concentrations in

both silicone wristbands and PUF-PAS decreased as the outdoor temperatures increased. This observation was expected since PAH formation due to biomass burning levels off at the end of the heating season. Among PAHs, phenanthrene, fluorene and fluoranthene dominated the profiles in every season for almost all classrooms.

The concentration of PAHs in silicone wristbands can be affected by seasonal variations, duration of the sampling period, Koa of the compounds and meteorological parameters related to wind. Hence, multiple linear regression analysis was performed on the data. As a result, the approximately 61% of the variability in PAH concentrations can be explained by taking into account all the mentioned parameters.

The uptake of SVOCs in passive samplers follow an exponential curve reaching a plateau where equilibrium is attained. During 36 days of deployment in each sampling campaign, acenaphthene, acenaphthylene, fluorene, phenanthrene, and anthracene were observed to reach equilibrium, while fluoranthene, chrysene, and pyrene exhibited a continuously increasing profile. Hence, two different models were used to fit the data and calculate the uptake rate of each PAH compound. The sampling rates varied depending on the calculation method used for compounds reaching equilibrium (0.010 – 25.93 m<sup>3</sup>/day), while for fluoranthene, chrysene, and pyrene uptake rates were close to each other (0.17 – 0.50 m<sup>3</sup>/day). Furthermore, for acenaphthene, acenaphthylene, fluorene, phenanthrene, and anthracene silicone wristband-air partitioning coefficients were in the range 5.93 to 7.43, consistent with the literature reporting values from the chamber experiment.

Lastly, daily and chronic toxic exposures and lifetime cancer risk (R) were assessed using PUF-PAS concentrations. Scenarios generated for 5<sup>th</sup>, 50<sup>th</sup>, and 95<sup>th</sup> percentiles of concentration levels resulted in no significant risk for school children.

The study developed a cost-effective analysis method for SVOCs in silicone wristbands. Personal exposure to SVOCs using silicone wristbands was assessed for the first time in Türkiye and possible exposure sources for the participants were speculated. The study also proposed uptake rates for individual PAH compounds by comparing two calculation methods and two samplers for the calibration of the silicone wristbands. There have been no study revealing uptake rates of silicone material in the form of a wristband for PAH compounds in a real indoor environment.

Further studies are required to identify uptake rates of other SVOC compounds. Longer duration of deployment might allow PAHs more than four rings to reach equilibrium, or at least curvilinear phase of the uptake curve. Although a real environmental setting produces more reliable data on uptake characteristics of silicone wristbands, controlled environmental conditions can also facilitate the identification of confounding effects on the silicone wristbands.

## REFERENCES

- Anderson, Kim A., Gary L. Points, Carey E. Donald, Holly M. Dixon, Richard P. Scott, Glenn Wilson, Lane G. Tidwell, Peter D. Hoffman, Julie B. Herbstman, and Steven G. O'Connell. 2017. "Preparation and Performance Features of Wristband Samplers and Considerations for Chemical Exposure Assessment." Journal of Exposure Science and Environmental Epidemiology 27 (6): 551–59. https://doi.org/10.1038/jes.2017.9.
- Annesi-Maesano, Isabella, Nour Baiz, Soutrik Banerjee, Peter Rudnai, and Solenne Rive. 2013. "Indoor Air Quality and Sources in Schools and Related Health Effects." Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health - Part B: Critical Reviews 16 (8): 491–550. https://doi.org/10.1080/10937404.2013.853609.
- ATSDR. Hazardous Substances Emergency Events Surveillance (HSEES). 1995. Annual Report. https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/hs/hsees/annual95.html.
- ATSDR. Hazardous Substances Emergency Events Surveillance (HSEES). 1997. https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/hs/hsees/annual97.html.
- ATSDR. Hazardous Substances Emergency Events Surveillance (HSEES). 2001. https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/hs/hsees/annual2001.html.
- ATSDR. Hazardous Substances Emergency Events Surveillance (HSEES). 2002. https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/hs/hsees/annual2002.html.
- Bartkow, Michael E., Kees Booij, Karen E. Kennedy, Jochen F. Müller, and Darryl W.
  Hawker. 2005. "Passive Air Sampling Theory for Semivolatile Organic Compounds." Chemosphere 60 (2): 170–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2004.12.033.
- Baum, Jeramy L.R., Umer Bakali, Chitvan Killawala, Katerina M. Santiago, Emre Dikici, Erin N. Kobetz, Natasha Schaefer Solle, Sapna Deo, Leonidas Bachas, and Sylvia Daunert. 2020. "Evaluation of Silicone-Based Wristbands as Passive

Sampling Systems Using PAHs as an Exposure Proxy for Carcinogen Monitoring in Firefighters: Evidence from the Firefighter Cancer Initiative." Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 205 (September): 111100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.111100.

- Bayona, Josep M., M. Casellas, Pilar Fernández, Anna M. Solanas, and Joan Albaigés. 1994. "Sources and Seasonal Variability of Mutagenic Agents in the Barcelona City Aerosol." Chemosphere 29 (3): 441–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/0045-6535(94)90432-4.
- BBC Research. November 2022. "Flame Retardant Chemicals: Technologies and Global Markets." BCC Publishing Staff. report ID: CHM014Q
- Bergh, C., Torgrip, R., Emenius, G., Östman, C., 2011. Organophosphate and phthalate esters in air and settled dust a multi-location indoor study. Indoor Air 21, 67-76.
- Bergmann, A. J.; Points, G. L.; Scott, R. P.; Wilson, G.; Anderson, K. A., Development of quantitative screen for 1550 chemicals with GC-MS. Anal Bioanal Chem 2018, 410 (13), 3101-3110.
- Bergmann, Alan J., Paula E. North, Luis Vasquez, Hernan Bello, Maria del Carmen Gastañaga Ruiz, and Kim A. Anderson. 2017. "Multi-Class Chemical Exposure in Rural Peru Using Silicone Wristbands." Journal of Exposure Science and Environmental Epidemiology 27 (6): 560–68. https://doi.org/10.1038/jes.2017.12.
- Blanchard, Ray, James M. Cantor, Anthony F. Bogaert, S. Marc Breedlove, and Lee M. Ellis. 2006. "Interaction of Fraternal Birth Order and Handedness in the Development of Male Homosexuality." Hormones and Behavior 49 (3): 405–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2005.09.002.
- Blondeau, Patrice, Vlad Iordache, O. Poupard, Didier Genin, and Francis Allard. 2005a.
  "Relationship Between Outdoor and Indoor Air Quality in Eight French Schools." Indoor Air 15 (1): 2–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0668.2004.00263.x.

- Blum, Arlene, Mamta Behl, Linda S. Birnbaum, Miriam L. Diamond, Allison Phillips, Veena Singla, Nisha S. Sipes, Heather M. Stapleton, and Marta Venier. 2019.
  "Organophosphate Ester Flame Retardants: Are They a Regrettable Substitution for Polybrominated Diphenyl Ethers?" Environmental Science and Technology Letters 6 (11): 638–49. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.9b00582.
- Bohlin, Pernilla, Kevin C. Jones, and Bo Strandberg. 2007. "Occupational and Indoor Air Exposure to Persistent Organic Pollutants: A Review of Passive Sampling Techniques and Needs." Journal of Environmental Monitoring. https://doi.org/10.1039/b700627f.
- Booij, Kees, Foppe Smedes, and Evaline M. Van Weerlee. 2002. "Spiking of Performance Reference Compounds in Low Density Polyethylene and Silicone Passive Water Samplers." Chemosphere 46 (8): 1157–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0045-6535(01)00200-4.
- Bošnir, Jasna, Dinko Puntarić, Ivo Škes, Maja Šegvić Klarić, Spomenka Šimić, and Ivan Zorić. 2003. "Migration of Phthalates From Plastic Products to Model Solutions." PubMed 27 Suppl 1 (January): 23–30. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12955888.
- Boudehane, A., A. Lounas, Y. Moussaoui, C. Balducci, and A. Cecinato. 2016. "Levels of Organic Compounds in Interiors (School, Home, University and Hospital) of Ouargla City, Algeria." Atmospheric Environment 144: 266–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2016.08.031.
- Bouma, K., and D.J. Schakel. 2002. "Migration of phthalates from PVC toys into saliva simulant by dynamic extraction." Food Addit.Contam. 19(6):602-610.
- Boström, Carl-Elis, Per Gerde, Annika Hanberg, Bengt Jernström, Christer Johansson, Titus Kyrklund, Agneta Rannug, Margareta Törnqvist, Katarina Victorin, and Roger Westerholm. 2002. "Cancer Risk Assessment, Indicators, and Guidelines for Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in the Ambient Air." Environmental Health Perspectives 110 (suppl 3): 451–88. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.110-1241197.

- Bramwell, L., Harrad, S., Abou-Elwafa Abdallah, M., Rauert, C., Rose, M., Fernandes,
  A., Pless-Mulloli, T. 2017. "Predictors of human PBDE body burdens for a UK cohort", Chemosphere, 189, 186–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.08.062
- Burge, P. S. 2004. "Sick Building Syndrome." Occupational and Environmental Medicine 61 (2): 185–90. https://doi.org/10.1136/oem.2003.008813.
- Castorina, R., Butt, C., Stapleton, H.M., Avery, D., Harley, K.G., Holland, N., Eskenazi, B., Bradman, A. 2017a. "Flame retardants and their metabolites in the homes and urine of pregnant women residing in California (the CHAMACOS cohort)", Chemosphere, 179, 159–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.03.076
- Castro, Dionísia, Klára Slezáková, Cristina Delerue-Matos, M.C.M. Alvim-Ferraz, Simone Morais, and Maria Do Carmo Pereira. 2011. "Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Gas and Particulate Phases of Indoor Environments Influenced by Tobacco Smoke: Levels, Phase Distributions, and Health Risks." Atmospheric Environment 45 (10): 1799–1808. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2011.01.018.
- Craig, Jessica A., Diana M. Ceballos, Victoria Fruh, Zoe E. Petropoulos, Joseph G. Allen, Antonia M. Calafat, Maria Ospina, et al. 2019. "Exposure of Nail Salon Workers to Phthalates, Di(2-Ethylhexyl) Terephthalate, and Organophosphate Esters: A Pilot Study." Environmental Science and Technology 53 (24): 14630–37. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b02474.
- Daisey, Joan M., William J. Angell, and Michael G. Apte. 2003. "Indoor Air Quality, Ventilation and Health Symptoms in Schools: An Analysis of Existing Information." *Indoor Air* 13 (1): 53–64. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0668.2003.00153.x.
- David RM, McKee RH, Butala JH, Barter RA, Kayser M. 2001. Esters of aromatic mono-, di-, and tricarboxylic acids, aromatic diacids, and di-, tri-, or polyalcohols.
  In: Patty's Toxicology, Vol 6, 5th ed. (Bingham E, Cohrssen B, Powell CH, eds).
  New York:John Wiley and Sons, 635–932.

- Demirtepe, Hale, Lisa Melymuk, Miriam L. Diamond, Lola Bajard, Šimon Vojta, Roman Prokeš, Ondřej Sáňka, et al. 2019. "Linking Past Uses of Legacy SVOCs with Today's Indoor Levels and Human Exposure." Environment International 127 (April): 653–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.04.001.
- Dijken, Van F, Van Jemh Annelies Bronswijk, and Jan Sundell. 2005. "Indoor Environment in Dutch Primary Schools and Health of the Pupils." *Indoor Air* 15 (January): 34. https://research.tue.nl/en/publications/indoor-environment-indutch-primary-schools-and-health-of-the-pup.
- Dixon, H.M., Armstrong, G., Barton, M., Bergmann, A.J., Bondy, M., Halbleib, M.L., Hamilton, W., Haynes, E., Herbstman, J., Hoffman, P., Jepson, P., Kile, M.L., Kincl, L., Laurienti, P.J., North, P., Blair Paulik, L., Petrosino, J., Points, G.L., Poutasse, C.M., Rohlman, D., Scott, R.P., Smith, B., Tidwell, L.G., Walker, C., Waters, K.M., Anderson, K.A. 2019. "Discovery of common chemical exposures across three continents using silicone wristbands", Royal Society Open Science, 6, 181836. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.181836
- Dixon, Holly M., Richard P. Scott, Darrell Holmes, Lehyla Calero, Laurel D. Kincl, Katrina M. Waters, David E. Camann, Antonia M. Calafat, Julie B. Herbstman, and Kim A. Anderson. 2018. "Silicone Wristbands Compared with Traditional Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon Exposure Assessment Methods." Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 410 (13): 3059–71. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-018-0992-z.
- Donald, Carey E., Richard P. Scott, Glenn Wilson, Peter D. Hoffman, and Kim A. Anderson. 2019. "Artificial Turf: Chemical Flux and Development of Silicone Wristband Partitioning Coefficients." Air Quality, Atmosphere and Health 12 (5): 597–611. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11869-019-00680-1.
- Dou, Mingshan, and Lijun Wang. n.d. "A Review on Organophosphate Esters: Physiochemical Properties, Applications, and Toxicities as Well as Occurrence and Human Exposure in Dust Environment."

- Dubowsky, S.D., Wallace, L.A., Buckley, T.J. "The contribution of traffic to indoor concentrations of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons" 1999, Journal of Exposure Analysis and Environmental Epidemiology, 9, 312-321.
- Ekren, Orhan, Ziya Haktan Karadeniz, Ibrahim Atmaca, Tugba Ugranli-Cicek, Sait C. Sofuoglu, and Macit Toksoy. 2017. "Assessment and Improvement of Indoor Environmental Quality in a Primary School." Science and Technology for the Built Environment 23 (2): 391–402. https://doi.org/10.1080/23744731.2016.1251288.
- ECHA. Regulatory strategy for flame retardants. 2023. https://echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/2082415/flame\_retardants\_strategy\_en.p df/
- Etzel, Ruth A. 1999. Handbook of Pediatric Environmental Health. <u>https://openlibrary.org/books/OL8781709M/Handbook\_of\_Pediatric\_Environmental</u> <u>tal\_Health</u>. American Academy of Pediatrics, Committee on Environmental Health.
- Frederiksen, Marie, Helle Vibeke Andersen, Sofie Lillelund Ovesen, Katrin Vorkamp, Stephanie C. Hammel, and Lisbeth E. Knudsen. 2022. "Silicone Wristbands as Personal Passive Samplers of Exposure to Polychlorinated Biphenyls in Contaminated Buildings." Environment International 167: 107397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2022.107397.
- Gao, Dawen, and Zhidan Wen. 2016. "Phthalate Esters in the Environment: A Critical Review of Their Occurrence, Biodegradation, and Removal During Wastewater Treatment Processes." Science of the Total Environment 541 (January): 986– 1001. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.09.148.
- Garcia-Jares, C, R Barro, and M Llompart. 2012. "1.08 Indoor Air Sampling." https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-381373-2.10008-0.
- Genisoglu, Mesut, Aysun Sofuoglu, Perihan B. Kurt-Karakus, Askin Birgul, and Sait C.Sofuoglu. 2019. "Brominated Flame Retardants in a Computer Technical Service: Indoor Air Gas Phase, Submicron (PM1) and Coarse (PM10) Particles,

Associated Inhalation Exposure, and Settled Dust." Chemosphere 231: 216–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.05.077.

- Gibson, Elizabeth A, Heather M Stapleton, Lehyla Calero, Darrell Holmes, Kimberly Burke, Rodney Martinez, Boris Cortes, et al. 2019. "Chemosphere Differential Exposure to Organophosphate Fl Ame Retardants in Mother- Child Pairs." Chemosphere 219: 567–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.12.008.
- Giulivo, Monica, Miren Lopez de Alda, Ettore Capri, and Damià Barceló. 2016.
  "Human Exposure to Endocrine Disrupting Compounds: Their Role in Reproductive Systems, Metabolic Syndrome and Breast Cancer. A Review."
  Environmental Research 151: 251–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2016.07.011.
- Godish, Thad. 2001. Indoor Environmental Quality. CRC Press eBooks. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781420056747.
- Górecki, Tadeusz, and Jacek Namieśnik. 2002. "Passive Sampling." TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry 21 (4): 276–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-9936(02)00407-7.
- Gustafson, Pernilla, Conny Östman, and Gerd Sällsten. 2008. "Indoor Levels of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Homes with or without Wood Burning for Heating." Environmental Science & Technology 42 (14): 5074–80. https://doi.org/10.1021/es800304y.
- Jurvelin, Jouni A. "Personal Exposures to Volatile Organic Compounds and Carbonyls: Relationships to Microenvironment Concentrations and Analysis of Sources." Personal Exposures to Volatile Organic Compounds and Carbonyls: Relationships to Microenvironment Concentrations and Analysis of Sources, Kuopion yliopisto, National Public Health Institute, Department of Environmental Health, 2003.US EPA. "Survey of New Findings in Scientific Literature Related to Atmospheric." US EPA, Dec. 2007, archive.epa.gov/airquality/gr8water/web/pdf/pcbsurveyreport.pdf.

- Hammel, S.C., Hoffman, K., Webster, T.F., Anderson, K.A., Stapleton, H.M. 2016.
  "Measuring Personal Exposure to Organophosphate Flame Retardants Using Silicone Wristbands and Hand Wipes", Environmental Science and Technology, 50, 4483–4491. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b00030
- Hammel, S.C., Phillips, A.L., Hoffman, K., Stapleton, H.M. 2018. "Evaluating the Use of Silicone Wristbands to Measure Personal Exposure to Brominated Flame Retardants", Environmental Science and Technology, 52, 11875–11885. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b03755
- Hammel, Stephanie C, Kate Ho, Allison L Phillips, Jessica L Levasseur, Amelia M Lorenzo, Thomas F Webster, and Heather M Stapleton. 2020. "Comparing the Use of Silicone Wristbands, Hand Wipes, And Dust to Evaluate Children's Exposure to Flame Retardants and Plasticizers." https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b07909.
- Hammel, Stephanie C., Kate Hoffman, Thomas F. Webster, Kim A. Anderson, and Heather M. Stapleton. 2016a. "Measuring Personal Exposure to Organophosphate Flame Retardants Using Silicone Wristbands and Hand Wipes." Environmental Science and Technology 50 (8): 4483–91. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b00030.
- Hauser, R., and A. M. Calafat. 2005. "Phthalates and Human Health." Occupational and Environmental Medicine. https://doi.org/10.1136/oem.2004.017590.
- Hayward, Mark D., William R. Forster, Saras D. Sarasvathy, and Barbara L. Fredrickson. 2010. "Beyond Hubris: How Highly Confident Entrepreneurs Rebound to Venture Again." Journal of Business Venturing 25 (6): 569–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2009.03.002.
- Hazrati, Sadegh, and Stuart Harrad. 2007. "Calibration of Polyurethane Foam (PUF)
  Disk Passive Air Samplers for Quantitative Measurement of Polychlorinated
  Biphenyls (PCBs) and Polybrominated Diphenyl Ethers (PBDEs): Factors
  Influencing Sampling Rates." Chemosphere 67 (3): 448–55.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.09.091.

- Hendryx, Michael, Shaorui Wang, Kevin A. Romanak, Amina Salamova, and Marta Venier. 2020. "Personal Exposure to Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Appalachian Mining Communities." Environmental Pollution 257: 113501. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.113501.
- Hou, Minmin, Yali Shi, Guangshui Na, and Yaqi Cai. 2021. "Review Article A Review of Organophosphate Esters in Indoor Dust, Air, Hand Wipes and Silicone Wristbands: Implications for Human Exposure." Environment International 146: 106261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106261.
- Huckins, J. N.; Petty, J. D.; Booij, K., Monitors of organic chemicals in the environment: semipermeable membrane devices. Springer Science & Business Media: 2006.
- Kabir, Eva Rahman, Monica Sharfin Harfin Rahman, and Imon Rahman. 2015. "A Review on Endocrine Disruptors and Their Possible Impacts on Human Health." Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology 40 (1): 241–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2015.06.009.
- Kameda, Yutaka, Junko Shirai, Takeshi Komai, Junko Nakanishi, and Shigeki Masunaga. 2005. "Atmospheric Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons: Size Distribution, Estimation of Their Risk and Their Depositions to the Human Respiratory Tract." Science of the Total Environment 340 (1–3): 71–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2004.08.009.
- Kassotis, Christopher D., Nicholas J. Herkert, Stephanie C. Hammel, Kate Hoffman, Qianyi Xia, Seth W. Kullman, Julie Ann Sosa, and Heather M. Stapleton. 2020.
  "Thyroid Receptor Antagonism of Chemicals Extracted from Personal Silicone Wristbands within a Papillary Thyroid Cancer Pilot Study." Environmental Science and Technology 54 (23): 15296–312. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c05972.
- Kavouras, Ilias G., Nikolaos Stratigakis, and Euripides G. Stephanou. 1998. "Iso- and Anteiso-Alkanes: Specific Tracers of Environmental Tobacco Smoke in Indoor
and Outdoor Particle-Size Distributed Urban Aerosols." Environmental Science & Technology 32 (10): 1369–77. https://doi.org/10.1021/es970634e.

- Keith, Lawrence H. 2015. "The Source of U.S. EPA's Sixteen PAH Priority Pollutants." Polycyclic Aromatic Compounds 35 (2–4): 147–60. https://doi.org/10.1080/10406638.2014.892886.
- Kile, Molly L., Richard P. Scott, Steven G. O'Connell, Shannon Lipscomb, Megan MacDonald, Megan McClelland, and Kim A. Anderson. 2016. "Using Silicone Wristbands to Evaluate Preschool Children's Exposure to Flame Retardants." Environmental Research 147: 365–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2016.02.034.
- Kumari, Madhu, and Mrudula Pulimi. 2023. "Phthalate Esters: Occurrence, Toxicity, Bioremediation, and Advanced Oxidation Processes." Water Science and Technology 87 (9): 2090–2115. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2023.119.
- Leung, Dennis Y. "Outdoor-indoor air pollution in urban environment: Challenges and opportunity." Frontiers in Environmental Science, vol. 2, 2015, https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2014.00069.
- Levasseur, Jessica L., Kate Hoffman, Nicholas J. Herkert, Ellen Cooper, Duncan Hay, and Heather M. Stapleton. 2022. "Characterizing Firefighter's Exposure to over 130 SVOCs Using Silicone Wristbands: A Pilot Study Comparing on-Duty and off-Duty Exposures." Science of the Total Environment 834 (February): 155237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.155237.
- Mantis, J., A. Chaloulakou, and Constantini Samara. 2005. "PM10-bound Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) in the Greater Area of Athens, Greece." Chemosphere 59 (5): 593–604. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2004.10.019.
- Mayeux, Richard. 2004. "Biomarkers: Potential Uses and Limitations." NeuroRx 1 (2): 182–88. https://doi.org/10.1602/neurorx.1.2.182.

- Melymuk, Lisa, Matthew Robson, Paul A. Helm, and Miriam L. Diamond. 2011.
  "Evaluation of Passive Air Sampler Calibrations: Selection of Sampling Rates and Implications for the Measurement of Persistent Organic Pollutants in Air." Atmospheric Environment 45 (10): 1867–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2011.01.011.
- Mendell, Mark J., and Garvin Heath. 2005. "Do Indoor Pollutants and Thermal Conditions in Schools Influence Student Performance? A Critical Review of the Literature." Indoor Air 15 (1): 27–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0668.2004.00320.x.
- Mitro, Susanna D., Robin E. Dodson, Veena Singla, Gary Adamkiewicz, Angelo Elmi, Monica K. Tilly, and Ami R. Zota. 2016. "Consumer Product Chemicals in Indoor Dust: A Quantitative Meta-analysis of U.S. Studies." *Environmental Science* & *Technology* 50 (19): 10661–72. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b02023.
- Li, Dongying, Linda Larsen, Yan Yang, Lan Wang, Yujia Zhai, and W. C. Sullivan. 2019. "Exposure to Nature for Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder: Benefits, Caveats, and Barriers." *Health & Place* 55 (January): 71–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2018.11.005.
- Liu, Shi Long, Hua Zhang, Xiao Hui Hu, Yan Ling Qiu, Zhi Liang Zhu, and Jian Fu Zhao. 2016. "Analysis of Organophosphate Esters in Sediment Samples Using Gas Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry." Chinese Journal of Analytical Chemistry 44 (2): 192–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1872-2040(16)60904-0.
- Lucattini, Luisa, Giulia Poma, Adrian Covaci, Jacob de Boer, Marja H. Lamoree, and Pim E.G. Leonards. 2018. "A Review of Semi-Volatile Organic Compounds (SVOCs) in the Indoor Environment: Occurrence in Consumer Products, Indoor Air and Dust." Chemosphere 201: 466–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.02.161.

- Marklund, A., Andersson, B., Haglund, P., 2005. Organophosphorus flame retardants and plasticizers in air from various indoor environments. J. Environ. Monit. 7, 814-819.
- Mayeux, R. 2004. "Biomarkers: Potential Uses and Limitations", NeuroRx, 1, 182–188. https://doi.org/10.1602/neurorx.1.2.182
- Melymuk, Lisa, Pernilla Bohlin, Ondřej Sáňka, Karla Pozo, and Jana Klánová. 2014.
  "Current Challenges in Air Sampling of Semivolatile Organic Contaminants: Sampling Artifacts and Their Influence on Data Comparability." Environmental Science and Technology 48 (24): 14077–91. https://doi.org/10.1021/es502164r.
- Melymuk, Lisa, Hale Demirtepe, and Simona Rozárka Jílková. 2020. "Indoor Dust and Associated Chemical Exposures." Current Opinion in Environmental Science and Health 15: 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coesh.2020.01.005.
- Melymuk, Lisa, Matthew Robson, Paul A. Helm, and Miriam L. Diamond. 2011.
  "Evaluation of Passive Air Sampler Calibrations: Selection of Sampling Rates and Implications for the Measurement of Persistent Organic Pollutants in Air." Atmospheric Environment 45 (10): 1867–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2011.01.011.
- Mendell, M. J., and G. A. Heath. 2005. "Erratum: Do Indoor Pollutants and Thermal Conditions in Schools Influence Student Performance? A Critical Review of the Literature (Indoor Air 15:1 (27-52))." Indoor Air 15 (1): 67. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0668.2005.00329.x.
- Dou, Mingshan, and Lijun Wang. 2023. "A Review on Organophosphate Esters: Physiochemical Properties, Applications, and Toxicities as Well as Occurrence and Human Exposure in Dust Environment." Journal of Environmental Management 325 (January): 116601. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2022.116601.
- Mohai, Paul, Byoung-Suk Kweon, Sangyun Lee, and Kerry Ard. 2011. "Air Pollution Around Schools Is Linked to Poorer Student Health and Academic Performance." Health Affairs 30 (5): 852–62. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2011.0077.

- Mukhopadhyay, Shritama, Ratna Dutta, and Papita Das. 2020. "A Critical Review on Plant Biomonitors for Determination of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) in Air through Solvent Extraction Techniques." Chemosphere 251: 126441. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.126441.
- Namieśnik, Jacek, Bożena Zabiegała, Ágata Kot-Wasik, Monika Partyka, and Andrzej Wasik. 2004. "Passive Sampling and/or Extraction Techniques in Environmental Analysis: A Review." Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 381 (2): 279–301. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-004-2830-8.
- Nethery, E., Wheeler, A., Fisher, M. et al. Urinary polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons as a biomarker of exposure to PAHs in air: A pilot study among pregnant women. J
  Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol 22, 70–81 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1038/jes.2011.32
- Neyzi, Olcay, Rüveyde Bundak, Gülbin Gökçay, Hülya Günöz, Andrzej Furman, Feyza Darendelıler, and Firdevs Baş. 2015. "Reference Values for Weight, Height, Head Circumference, and Body Mass Index in Turkish Children." Journal of Clinical Research in Pediatric Endocrinology 7 (4): 280–93. https://doi.org/10.4274/jcrpe.2183.
- Nguyen, L. V., Gravel, S., Labrèche, F., Bakhiyi, B., Verner, M.A., Zayed, J., Jantunen, L.M., Arrandale, V.H., Diamond, M.L. 2020. "Can Silicone Passive Samplers be Used for Measuring Exposure of e-Waste Workers to Flame Retardants?", Environmental Science and Technology, 54, 15277–15286. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c05240
- Nisbet, C. and LaGoy, P. (1992) Toxic Equivalency Factors (TEFs) for Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs). Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology, 16, 290-300.
- O'Connell, Steven G., Laurel D. Kincl, and Kim A. Anderson. 2014. "Silicone Wristbands as Personal Passive Samplers." Environmental Science and Technology 48 (6): 3327–35. https://doi.org/10.1021/es405022f.
- O'Connell, Steven G., Kim A. Anderson, and Marc I. Epstein. 2021. "Determining Chemical Air Equivalency Using Silicone Personal Monitors." Journal of

Exposure Science and Environmental Epidemiology 32 (2): 268–79. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41370-021-00332-6.

- Oluyomi, A. O.; Panthagani, K.; Sotelo, J.; Gu, X.; Armstrong, G.; Luo, D. N.; Hoffman, K. L.; Rohlman, D.; Tidwell, L.; Hamilton, W. J., Houston hurricane Harvey health (Houston-3H) study: assessment of allergic symptoms and stress after hurricane Harvey flooding. Environmental Health 2021, 20 (1), 1-15.
- Oliveira, Marta, Klara Slezakova, Cristina Delerue-Matos, Maria Carmo Pereira, and Simone Morais. 2019. "Children Environmental Exposure to Particulate Matter and Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons and Biomonitoring in School Environments: A Review on Indoor and Outdoor Exposure Levels, Major Sources and Health Impacts." Environment International 124 (October 2018): 180–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.12.052.
- Orecchio, Santino. 2011. "Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) in Indoor Emission From Decorative Candles." Atmospheric Environment 45 (10): 1888– 95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2010.12.024.
- Orgill, M.M., and G.A. Sehmel. 1976. "Frequency and Diurnal Variation of Dust Storms in the Contiguous U.S.A." Atmospheric Environment 10 (10): 813–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/0004-6981(76)90136-0.
- Ortiz, Yessica, Stuart Harrad. 2023. "Organophosphate esters in indoor and outdoor air in Birmingham, UK: implications for human exposure" Journal of Environmental Exposure Assessment. 2, no.3: 15. http://dx.doi.org/10.20517/jeea.2023.20
- Paulik, L. Blair, Kevin A. Hobbie, Diana Rohlman, Brian W. Smith, Richard P. Scott, Laurel Kincl, Erin N. Haynes, and Kim A. Anderson. 2018. "Environmental and Individual PAH Exposures near Rural Natural Gas Extraction." Environmental Pollution 241: 397–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.05.010.
- Pohl, Hana R., J.G.M. Van Engelen, J. Deanna Wilson, and A. J. a. M. Sips. 2005.
  "Risk Assessment of Chemicals and Pharmaceuticals in the Pediatric Population: A Workshop Report." Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology 42 (1): 83–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yrtph.2005.01.005.

- Pohl, Hana R., and Henry Abadin. 2008. "Chemical Mixtures: Evaluation of Risk for Child-specific Exposures in a Multi-stressor Environment." Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 233 (1): 116–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2008.01.015.
- Quintana, D.S., Rokicki, J., van der Meer, D. et al. Oxytocin pathway gene networks in the human brain. Nat Commun 10, 668 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-08503-8
- Romanak, Kevin A., Shaorui Wang, William A. Stubbings, Michael Hendryx, Marta Venier, and Amina Salamova. 2019. "Analysis of Brominated and Chlorinated Flame Retardants, Organophosphate Esters, and Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Silicone Wristbands Used as Personal Passive Samplers." Journal of Chromatography A 1588 (March): 41–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2018.12.041.
- Shaughnessy, Richard, Ulla Haverinen-Shaughnessy, Aino Nevalainen, and Demetrios J. Moschandreas. 2006. "A Preliminary Study on the Association Between Ventilation Rates in Classrooms and Student Performance." *Indoor Air* 16 (6): 465–68. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0668.2006.00440.x.
- Salvi, Sundeep. 2007. "Health Effects of Ambient Air Pollution in Children." Paediatric Respiratory Reviews 8 (4): 275–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prrv.2007.08.008.
- Samon, Samantha M., Stephanie C. Hammel, Heather M. Stapleton, and Kim A. Anderson. 2022. "Silicone Wristbands as Personal Passive Sampling Devices: Current Knowledge, Recommendations for Use, and Future Directions." Environment International 169: 107339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2022.107339.
- Sedlačková, Lenka, Lisa Melymuk, and Branislav Vrana. 2021. "Calibration of Silicone for Passive Sampling of Semivolatile Organic Contaminants in Indoor Air." Chemosphere 279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.130536.
- Seo, Sung Hee, Kuen Sik Jung, Min Kyu Park, Hye Ok Kwon, and Sung Deuk Choi. 2022. "Indoor Air Pollution of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons Emitted by

Computers." Building and Environment 218 (January): 109107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2022.109107.

- Seyoum, Asmerom, and Ajay Pradhan. 2019. "Effect of Phthalates on Development, Reproduction, Fat Metabolism and Lifespan in Daphnia Magna." Science of the Total Environment 654 (March): 969–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.158.
- Shea, K.M. 2003. "Pediatric exposure and potential toxicity of phthalate plasticizers." Pediatrics 111(6 Pt 1):1467-1474
- Shendell, Derek G., R.J. Prill, William J. Fisk, Michael G. Apte, David Blake, and David Faulkner. 2004. "Associations Between Classroom CO2 Concentrations and Student Attendance in Washington and Idaho." Indoor Air 14 (5): 333–41. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0668.2004.00251.x.
- Shoeib, Mahiba, and Tom Harner. 2002. "Characterization and Comparison of Three Passive Air Samplers for Persistent Organic Pollutants." Environmental Science and Technology 36 (19): 4142–51. https://doi.org/10.1021/es020635t.
- Sofuoglu, Sait C., Guler Aslan, Fikret Inal, and Aysun Sofuoglu. 2011. "An Assessment of Indoor Air Concentrations and Health Risks of Volatile Organic Compounds in Three Primary Schools." International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health 214 (1): 36–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2010.08.008.
- Stapleton, H.M., Sharma, S., Getzinger, G., Ferguson, P.L., Gabriel, M., Webster, T.F. and Blum, A. 2012. "Novel and high-volume use flame retardants in us couches reflective of the 2005 pentaBDE phase out" Environ. Sci. Technol., 46, 13432-13439.
- Steiner, I., et al. 1998. "Migration of di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate from PVC child articles into saliva and saliva simulant." Food Addit.Contam. 15(7):812-817.
- Stringer, R., et al. 2000. "Concentrations of Phthalate Esters and Identification of Other Additives in PVC Children's Toys." Environ.Sci.Pollut.Res.Int. 7(1):27-36.

- Stranger, Barbara Elaine, Alexandra C. Nica, Matthew S. Forrest, Antigone S. Dimas, Christine P. Bird, Claude Beazley, Catherine Ingle, et al. 2007. "Population Genomics of Human Gene Expression." Nature Genetics 39 (10): 1217–24. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng2142.
- Sun, Yulian, and Hongkai Zhu. 2020. "A Pilot Study of Organophosphate Esters in Surface Soils Collected From Jinan City, China: Implications for Risk Assessments." Environmental Science and Pollution Research International 28 (3): 3344–53. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-10730-2.
- Travis, Steven C., Diana S. Aga, Elena I. Queirolo, James R. Olson, Mónica Daleiro, and Katarzyna Kordas. 2020. "Catching Flame Retardants and Pesticides in Silicone Wristbands: Evidence of Exposure to Current and Legacy Pollutants in Uruguayan Children." Science of the Total Environment 740: 140136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140136.
- Tromp, Peter C., Henry Beeltje, Joseph O. Okeme, Roel Vermeulen, Anjoeka Pronk, and Miriam L. Diamond. 2019. "Calibration of Polydimethylsiloxane and Polyurethane Foam Passive Air Samplers for Measuring Semi Volatile Organic Compounds Using a Novel Exposure Chamber Design." Chemosphere 227: 435– 43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.04.043.
- Tsapakis, Manolis, and Euripides G. Stephanou. 2005. "Occurrence of Gaseous and Particulate Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in the Urban Atmosphere: Study of Sources and Ambient Temperature Effect on the Gas/Particle Concentration and Distribution." Environmental Pollution 133 (1): 147–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2004.05.012.
- US EPA, Indoor Environments Division. 1991. "Indoor Air Facts No. 4 Sick Building Syndrome."
- USEPA (2003) Integrated risk information system. USEPA, Washington, DC. Available: http://www.epa.gov/IRIS/subst/2003

- US EPA. 2005. "Guidelines for Carcinogen Risk Assessment and Supplemental Guidance for Assessing Susceptibility From Early-Life Exposure to Carcinogens." Federal Register 70 (66): 53.
- US EPA. "Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons US EPA." US EPA, Jan. 2008, archive.epa.gov/epawaste/hazard/wastemin/web/pdf/pahs.pdf.
- U.S. EPA. 2011a. Exposure Factors Handbook 2011 Edition (Final). EPA/600/R-09/052F. Washington, DC U.S. EPA https://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/risk/recordisplay.cfm?deid=236252
- US EPA. 2014a. "Introduction to Indoor Air Quality." Accessed March 1, 2024. https://www.epa.gov/indoor-air-quality-iaq/introduction-indoor-air-quality.
- US EPA. 2015. "Indoor Air Quality by Building Type." Accessed March 1, 2024. https://www.epa.gov/indoor-air-quality-iaq/indoor-air-quality-building-type.
- US EPA. 2023. "Technical Overview of Volatile Organic Compounds" March 1, 2024. https://www.epa.gov/indoor-air-quality-iaq/technical-overview-volatile-organiccompounds.
- US EPA. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH). Accessed March 1, 2024. https://archive.epa.gov/airquality/gr8water/web/pdf/pahsurveyreport.pdf.
- U.S. National Toxicology Program, Center for the Evaluation of Risks to Human Reproduction. 2007. "NTP-CERHR Reports and Monographs." http://cerhr.niehs.nih.gov/reports/index.html.
- Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) | EPA Archives. Accessed March 1, 2024. https://archive.epa.gov/epawaste/hazard/wastemin/web/pdf/pahs.pdf.
- van der Veen, I. and De Boer, J. 2012. "Phosphorus flame retardants: Properties, production, environmental occurrence, toxicity and analysis" Chemosphere, 88, 1119-1153.
- Vardoulakis, Sotiris, Evanthia Giagloglou, Susanne Steinle, Alice Davis, Anne Sleeuwenhoek, Karen S. Galea, Ken Dixon, and Joanne O. Crawford. 2020.

"Indoor Exposure to Selected Air Pollutants in the Home Environment: A Systematic Review" International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 17, no. 23: 8972. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17238972

- Vrana, Branislav, Ian Allan, R. C. Greenwood, Graham A. Mills, Ewa Dominiak, Katarina Svensson, Jesper Knutsson, and Gregory M. Morrison. 2005. "Passive Sampling Techniques for Monitoring Pollutants in Water." TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry 24 (10): 845–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2005.06.006.
- Wallace, Lance A., et al. Total Exposure Assessment Methodology (TEAM) Study: Personal exposures, indoor-outdoor relationships, and breath levels of volatile organic compounds in New Jersey. Environ. Int. 1986, 12, 369-387. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0160412086900516
- Wang, Sheng Wei, Kuo Hsien Hsu, Shou Chieh Huang, Su Hsiang Tseng, Der Yuan Wang, and Hwei Fang Cheng. 2019. "Determination of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) in Cosmetic Products by Gas Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry." Journal of Food and Drug Analysis 27 (3): 815–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfda.2019.01.003.
- Wang, Y.; Li, Z.; Tan, F.; Xu, Y.; Zhao, H.; Chen, J. Occurrence and air-soil exchange of organophosphate flame retardants in the air and soil of Dalian, China. Environ. Pollut. 2020, 265, 114850.
- Wania, Frank, Li Shen, Ying Duan Lei, Carlos Teixeira, and Derek C.G. Muir. 2003.
  "Development and Calibration of a Resin-Based Passive Sampling System for Monitoring Persistent Organic Pollutants in the Atmosphere." Environmental Science & Technology 37 (7): 1352–59. https://doi.org/10.1021/es026166c.
- Wei, Yifeng, Patrick J. McGrath, Jill A. Hayden, and Stan Kutcher. 2015. "Mental Health Literacy Measures Evaluating Knowledge, Attitudes and Help-seeking: A Scoping Review." *BMC Psychiatry* 15 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-015-0681-9.

- Weschler, Charles J, and William W Nazaroff. 2008. "Semivolatile Organic Compounds in Indoor Environments." Atmospheric Environment 42 (40): 9018– 40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.09.052.
- Wilkinson, C.F., and J.C. Lamb. 1999. "The potential health effects of phthalate esters in children's toys: a review and risk assessment." Regul.Toxicol.Pharmacol. 30(2 Pt 1):140-155.
- Wilson, Nancy K., Jane C. Chuang, Cancan Lyu, R. G. Menton, and Marsha K. Morgan. 2003. "Aggregate Exposures of Nine Preschool Children to Persistent Organic Pollutants at Day Care and at Home." Journal of Exposure Science and Environmental Epidemiology 13 (3): 187–202. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jea.7500270.
- Xie, Qitong, Qingxia Guan, Liangzhong Li, Xiongfei Pan, and Cheuk-lam Ho. 2021. "Exposure of Children and Mothers to Organophosphate Esters: Prediction by House Dust and Silicone Wristbands \*." Environmental Pollution 282: 117011. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.117011.
- Yılmaz, Atilla, Leyla Tolun, and Oğuz Okay. 2019. "Pollution and Toxicity of Sediment in Potential Dredging Sites of the Marmara Sea, Turkey." Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A 54 (12): 1206–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/10934529.2019.1631656.
- Young, Anna S., Nicholas Herkert, Heather M. Stapleton, Jose Guillermo Cedeño Laurent, Emily R. Jones, Piers MacNaughton, Brent A. Coull, et al. 2021.
  "Chemical Contaminant Exposures Assessed Using Silicone Wristbands among Occupants in Office Buildings in the USA, UK, China, and India." Environment International 156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106727.